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We remain steadfast in our commitment
to deliver better solutions to patients and
physicians, to build a solid foundation for
our shareholders, to continue to expand our
pipeline, and to advance novel therapeutics

through a clear and sustainable drug

development pathway.

Were building value.




HENRY E. BLAIR
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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building value

for our shareholders

To Our Shareholders:

During the year, we made significant progress
throughout all of Dyax’s programs. With considerable
clinical achievements in our lead program DX-88
{ecallantide), new opportunities from our discovery
pipeling, additional firancing and expanded drug
discovery and development expertise in-house, we
betieve that we are well positioned to advance our
goal of bringing forth novel therapies to patients
and physicians.

Clinical Program Progress

We are most excited about the advancements
made with DX-88 for the treatment of acute attacks
of hereditary angioedema (HAE), a rare but poten-
tially life-threatening disorder that causes pain and
rapid swelling of tissues throughout the body and
for which there is no approved therapy in the U.S.
At key scientific meetings in March and November
of 2006, we reported positive interim and final
results from our EDEMAZ2 study, a Phase 2 clinical
trial examining the safety and efficacy of various
doses and methods of administration of DX-88

in the HAE patient population. In addition to
demonstrating a favorable salety profile for
DX-88, the study also established efficacy for the
dose and route used in our Phase 3 (EDEMASJ,) trial.

The positive Phase 2 results marked cne of the two
major mitestones achieved in the HAE program in
2006. In late November, we treated our last patient in
the EDEMAS trial to support the regulatory fling of
DX-88 both in the U.S. and in Europe. The rapid
completion of the EDEMAS trial demonstrated the
unwavering focus of our team to defiver this treat-
ment to the HAE patient community. We look forward
to presenting results in the coming months, following
fult analysis of the data from this study.

We did experience a pause in the program early
in 2006 when, following a restructuring at the U.S.
Food & Drug Administration (FDA), the DX-88
program was reassigned to a new FDA review
group. We were notified by the new reviewers that
additional clinical work on DX-88 is required prior
to fiing a Biological License Application (BLA).



After very positive meetings, however, they con-
curred that the dose and endpoints used in our
completed studies are appropriate to establish safety
and eificacy of DX-88 and to support a BLA filing.

The additional clinical work is a confirmatory, placebo-
controlled trial, EDEMAA, designed to further support
the validity of the patient reported cutcome (PRQ)
methodology used in the EDEMAZ trial and to confirm
efficacy and safety of DX-88. This new trial design
has been agreed upon with the FDA under a Special
Protocol Assessmant (SPA). Having the SPA in place
gives us added assurance that this trial should fully
meet the requirements for BLA approval.

There is a silver lining to these events, in that,
through them we have strengthened our working
relationship with the FDA, gained invaluable regula-
tory experience for the product and achieved a
clear pathway to completing the regulatory filing for
DX-88. Provided the EDEMAS results are positive
and following successful completion of EDEMA4, we
anticipate regulatory approval in the U.S. in late 2008,

During this year we also made significant advance-
ments with the second indication for DX-88. In
the past, we have discussed the use of DX-88 for
preventing blood loss during on-pump coronary
artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery. Based on
meetings with experts and key opinion leaders in
the field, it has become apparent that there is a
larger than initially anticipated target patient
population for DX-88. To that end, a Phase 2 study
of DX-88 in patients undergoing what is more
broadly defined as on-pump cardiothoracic surgery,
or CTS, has been initiated, as we believe DX-88
could play a major role in this currently inadequately
served patient population,
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In February 2007, we announced that we reached
a mutual agreement with Genzyme Corporation to
terminate the joint venture for the commercializa-
tion of DX-88 for HAE. The termination agreement
stipulated that Dyax receive all the assets of the
joint venture, including a 100% ownership of DX-88
worldwide, as well as a $17 million cash payment.
Genzyme received 4.4 million shares of Dyax
common stock in exchange for its interest in the
joint venture. We believe this transaction opens
numerous commercialization and partnering
opportunities for Dyax to optimize the value of the
Dx-88 franchise for hoth HAE and CTS. Dyax
anticipates that this will not affect its 2007 operating
activities or the ongoing development and regulatory
timelines for DX-88 in HAE.

Growing Pipeline

in addition to our lead product candidate DX-88,
we have 14 active programs in our discovery and
development pipeling, two of which are currently
in preclinical development. The most advanced of
these is DX-2240, the first fully human monoclonal
antibody drug candidate to be developed by Dyax
using its proprietary phage display library. DX-2240
has, thus far, demonstrated unigue anti-cancer
activity across a broad range of tumor types in
preclinical studies. We are now concluding these
preclinical studies which will place us in a position
to file an Investigational New Drug Application (IND)
for DX-2240 to begin human clinical studies.

2006 again proved the value of our proprietary
phage display technology that generates novel
peptides, small proteins and antibodies. During
the year, as part of our Licensing and Funded
Research Program {LFRP), we entered into five
new agreements.




...we worked diligently
throughout 2006 to both broaden
our expertise and integrate our
capabilities across all stages of
drug development.

Leveraging LFRP

In tate summer, we received validation of the potential
of the LFRP when we entered into an agreement
with an affliate of Paul Capital Partners that monetized
a portion of the future revenues generated from this
program during a ierm of approximately ten years,
depending on financial milestones. Through this
agreement, we received approximately $30 milion
in cash with an option for an additional $5 milion by
the end of 2008, if certain LFRP revenue milestones
are met. In the LFRP, our licensing partners and
collaborators have more than 70 drug candidates in
preciinical development and 13 candidates in various
phases of clinical development.

Financial Position

As of December 31, 2006, Dyax had a total of
$60.5 million in cash, cash equivalents, and short-
term and long-term investments, which was a net
increase of $9.8 million from December 31, 2005.
This increase was a result of the LFRP transaction
and $30.2 million in net cash proceeds from our
underwritten common stock offering in March
20086. These amounts do not include the $17 mil-
lion cash payment from Genzyme made upon the
termination of the joint venture in early 2007.

Summary

In preparation for the expected regulatory filing
for DX-88 for the treatment of HAE, we worked
diligently throughout 2006 to both broaden our
expertise and integrate our capabilities across all
stages of drug development.

s During the year, we strengthened our Clinical,
Regulatory and Quality Affairs departments,
adding leadership and depth of experience. In
2006, these professionals helped significantly in
advancing the regulatory development of DX-88
and in raising the level of quality throughout the
organization.

e Qur increased interactions with the FDA have
enabled us to hone our strategy and efficiency in
navigating the advancing, changing regulatory
environment, yielding effective and highly
focused programs.

From research and discovery through clinical
development, commercial-grade manufacturing
and pre-launch marketing activities, the dedicated
employees at Dyax have worked diligently to create
a solid foundation from which we are buiding
significant value for our shareholders now and well
into the future. | thank them for their commitment
and | thank you for your continued support as we
embrace this exciting time!

Sincerely,

ey £ T e,

Henry E. Blair
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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building value

with our expertise

What does it take to bring a therapy to market?
Expertise and commitment at all levels of an
organization. From discovery, research and clinical
development, to regulatery, medical writing, quality
assurance, manufacturing and market strategy;
from intellectual property and finance, to communi-
cations, business development and human
resources; Dyax has assembled an experienced
and dedicated team to bring new therapies to

patients with unmet medical needs.

Over the years, Dyax has created an environment
that not only fosters innovation, but inspires dedica-
tion to its mission. And there is palpable excitement
throughout the hallways at Dyax as the company
approaches its first regulatory filing. Afthough the
path has been long and arduous, the lessons
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learned and the breadth and depth of experience
at the company should prove to be of great benefit
for the future, as Dyax builds value through the
creation of a successful and sustainable drug
discovery and drug development organization.

Dyax's business model is to independently develop
novel therapies while generating revenue from the
licensing of its proprietary technology platform.
Using its expertise, Dyax is building value for the
industry by making its technology widely available to
partners. With its nearterm product candidates
and growing pipeline, Dyax will also begin delivering
products for significant unmet medical needs,
ultimately building value for patients and physicians.




EXPERTISE IN-HOUSE. COMMITMENT AT ALL LEVELS.
A SOLID FOUNDATION IN PLACE TO BECOME A FULLY
INTEGRATED BIOPHARMACEUTICAL COMPANY.

— Dr. Rachel B. Kent, Ph.D., Director, Biochemistry, Dyax Corp.




HARVESTING NEW THERAPEUTIC LEADS.
ADVANCING CLINICAL STAGE PRODUCTS. BUILDING

AN INTERNAL PIPELINE THAT FUELS OUR FUTURE.
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building value

through our pipeline

The core of the Dyax drug discovery engine is its
proprietary phage display technology. This technology
enables efficient screening of tens of bilions of
peptides and proteins, including human antibodies,
to identify candidates that bind tightly and with high
specificity to certain targets of interest.

Expanding from known human scaffolds, sequences

and substrates, Dyax has amassed large, highly
diverse libraries for use in its integrated and auto-
mated platform. Not only have these libraries yielded
novel, proprietary development candidates, including
Dyax's lead candidate and growing internal product
pipeline, but the technology and libraries have also
attracted more than 70 partners to date who have
now advanced 13 product candidates into clinical
trials through the LFRP. These licensing deals
have allowed Dyax to build a drug development
organization that is anticipating its first regulatory
filings in the near future,

The most advanced internal candidate to emerge
from the Dyax technology is DX-88, an investigational
protein therapy that uses a unique mechanism of

action to specifically inhibit the activity of human
plasma kallikrein, & protein involved in the regutation
of inflammation and blood clotiing. Because of
kallkrein's multiple roles in the body, Dyax is
currently developing DX-88 for two different indica-
tions—for the treatment of hereditary angioedema
(HAE), a rare but potentially life-threatening disease
involving acute attacks of inflammation, and also
for use during on-pump cardicthoracic surgery
(CTS), a procedurs that triggers activation of
plasma kallikrein causing blood loss and systemic
inflammatory response.

In the U.S., there are currently no approved treat-
ments for HAE, which is an acute inflammatory
condition characterized by episodes of severe,
often painful swelling affecting the extremities, the
gastrointestinal tract, the genitalia, and in life-
threatening cases, the larynx. HAE affects between
1in 10,000 to 1 in 50,000 people around the world."
Despite the fact that 85% of sufferers experience
symptoms before age 20, 68% of patients are not
diagnosed until after age 20.° There are estimated
to be 10,000 immediately addressable HAE
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patients in the U.S. and Eurcpe;® Dyax believes
that with increased awareness and improved
diagnoses, this market could expand considerably.

Dyax is developing DX-88 for HAE as a 30 mg fixed
dose that is delivered subcutaneously (SC), ultimately
offering the potential for patients to self-administer
the drug as needed. DX-88 has demonstrated
a rapid onset of response in clinical trials to date
and, with over 800 doses administered to over 250
individuals, thus far, 0X-88 has been well tolerated,
with transient, reversible adverse events.

The final results from the EDEMAZ trial were
presented at the ACAAI Conference in November
2006 and reported on 240 HAE attacks in 77
patients using both intravenous and subcutaneous
routes of administration. The final resutts indicated
that DX-88 demonstrated substantial therapsutic
benefit with rapid onset of action and good tolera-
bility in patients with recurrent, acute HAE attacks.
Importantly, response rates were comparable across
all attack locations.

Dyax has now completed a Phase 3 clinical tria!
(EDEMAJ} investigating the safety and efficacy of
DX-88 in the treatment of acute attacks of HAE.
This study, completed in late November 2006, was
a multi-center, placebo-controlled trial involving 72
HAE patients. The safety and efficacy of the 30 mg
fixed SC dose were studied in naive and non-naive
patients. Dyax is currently collecting the final data
in preparation for analysis of the trial results, which
are expected to be released early in the second
quarter of 2007.

Following completion of a confirmatory trial
(EDEMAM,), Dyax is targeting U.S. regulatory approval
for DX-88 for the treatment of HAE in late 2008,

As mentioned earlier, Dyax is also developing
DX-88 for use during on-pump CTS procedures
that include on-pump coronary artery bypass
graft (CABG) and heart valve replacement and
repair surgeries. These on-pump procedures
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can trigger significant blood loss and systemic
inflammatory response.

To date, thought leaders have been encouraged
by the clinical data on DX-88 in CTS and believe
there to be a significant market opportunity for this
product. In late 2006, mestings with key opinion
leaders resulted in a completed study design and
then the initiation of a Phase 2 clinical trial studying
the use of DX-88 in on-pump CTS to prevent biood
loss. This trial is a 160-patient, placebo-controlled
study examining two doses of DX-88—a lower
dose to elicit plasma kallikrein inhibition and a higher
dose to ¢licit inhibition of both plasma kallikrein and
plasmin. A variety of endpeints are being collected
including measurement of chest tube drainage,
requirermnents for fransfusion, and phammacodynamic
measuraments. Results from this trial are expected
in the second half of 2008.

Following DX-88 in Dyax's internal pipeline is
DX-2240, a fully human monoclonal antibody
discovered at Dyax. The antibody activates the
Tie-1 receptor, which is known to play a critical
role in vascular development, by inhibiting the
maturation of blood vessels and stimulating tumor
necrosis (death). In animal models to date, DX-2240
has been shown to inhibit lung, colorectal, renal,
pancreatic and prostate tumor growth and has
shown significant inhibition activity in combination
with other cancer therapies, such as Genentech’s
Avastin® and Bayer’s Nexavar®. Dyax is on track 1o
file an IND for DX-2240 in the third quarter of 2007.

Deepening its focus on encology and inflammation,
Dyax has one additional fully human monoclonal
antibody in preclinical development and 12 discovery
research programs. Dyax intends to fully capitalize
on its experience with DX-88 to accelerate discovery
and development of these novel therapeutics.




Dyax internal pipeline

Indication and clinical stage of therapeutics in development

Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

HAE*

On-pump CTS*

Oncology )&Vl

Inflammation DX-2300

Oncology & [

Inflammation RLEEEERTS
Pragrams

*HAE = hereditary angioedema
**CTS = cardiothoracic surgery

LFRP* pipeline

Development area and clinical stage of product candidates in development

Drug Discovery Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

Separations [ 1 candidate

2 Therapeutics 3 didat
candidates
1 Imaging [

8 Therapeutics R
9 candidates

1 Imaging [

Undetermined 70+ candidates

*LFRP = Licensing and Funded Research Program
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“THE PROMISE OF IMPROVED QUTCOMES WITH THE
USE OF NOVEL KALLIKREIN INHIBITORS SUCH AS DX-88
MAY OFFER HOPE TO PATIENTS IN WHOM THERE ARE
VERY LIMITED OPTIONS.”

— Dr. Hilary Grocott, M.D., FRCPC, Duke University
Associate Professor, Department of Anesthesiclogy
Clinical Director, Cardiothoracic Anesthesia
INVESTIGATOR FOR PHASE 2 TRIAL OF DX-88 FOR ON-PUMP CTS




building value

for patients & physicians

As Dyax prepares for its first filing for regulatory
approval, it is coming close to realzing every
emerging life science company’s dream of delivering
a novel therapeutic to a patient population in need.

On average, untreated patients with hereditary
angioedemna {HAE) experience 21 attacks per year.
Attacks are unpredictable and can last from two to
five days. It is estimated that these patients lose
anywhere from 42 to 105 days of productivity
a year and often require hospitalization." While
anahalic steroids can be used as treatment to
reduce the frequency of attacks, they cannot
resolve an attack and are often associated with
long-term side effects.

Both the physicians and patients in the well
networked HAE community eagerly await a product
that can improve a patient's gquality of life; Dyax
remaing committed to delivering this product as
quickly as possible.

Another potential use for DX-88, during on-pump
cardiothoracic surgery (CTS), is gaining visibility, in
part because of limitations to the currently available
treatments. Existing treatments have been shown
1o be either of limited effectiveness in reducing
blood loss or to pose significant safety risks, namely
anaphylaxis and renal toxicity. Key opinion leaders
believe these limitations have created a major market
opportunity for an improved product. Given that
DX-88 is a recombinant small protein and a highly
specific inhibitor of plasma kallikrein, it may have a
more favorable profile since there is no issue of viral
contaminaticn and may be used at a dose that
would not inhibit other blood enzymes that might
cause adverse affects. With this profile, BDX-88
offers significant potential advantages for patients
undergoing these invasive surgeries.
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Year 1n review

3.09.06

Dyax Corp. Announces
$30,000.000 Million

Financing
1.10.06
Dyax Corp. Issued
Fifth U.S. Patent in
Its Phage Display
Patent Portfolio
3.06.06

Positive Topline

Results from Phase 2
Trial (EDEMA2) with
DX-88 for the Treatment
of HAE Presented at
AAAA] Meeting

5.22.06

Dyax Corp. and ICOS
Corporation Enter Into
License Agreement for
Discovery of Therapeutic
Antibodies

5.15.06

Dyax Provides Update
on Regulatory Pathway
for DX-88; Phase 3 Trial

on Track to Completion

8.24.06

Oyax Monetizes a
Portion of Its Revenues
from Phage Display
Licensing and Funded
Research Program for
$30 Million

8.31.06

Dyax Announces Updat
Regarding Regulatory
Pathway for DX-88
(ecallantide} in HAE;
FDA Confirms 30 mg
Subcutaneous Dose

as Appropriate Dose;
Dyax Plans Small
Confirmatory Study
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9.7.06

Dyax Corp. and Sercno
Enter Into Library License
and Funded Research
Agreements for Discovery
of Therapeutic Antibodies

10.11.06

Dyax Corp. Issued Sixth
U.S. Patent in Its Phage
Display Patent Portfolio

10.31.06

Dyax and ZymoGenetics
Enter Into Library License
Agreement for Discovery
of Therapeutic Antibodies

10.5.06

Dyax Corp. Announces
Funded Research
Agreement with Trubion
Pharmaceuticals Inc. for
Discovery of Therapeutic
Proteins

11.21.06

Dyax Announces Final
Patient Treated in Pivotal
Phase 3 Clinical Trial
(EDEMAZ) for DX-88

in HAE

11.14.06

Positive Final Results
from EDEMAZ2 Trial with
DX-88 for the Treatment
of HAE Presented at
ACAA| Meeting




building value

moving forward

2007 promises to be a landmark year for Dyax. With the announcement of clinical data from EDEMA3,
followed by the expected completion of EDEMA4, Dyax will be well on its way to achieving its greatest
milestone to date—its first regulatory fiing for its lead program, DX-88 for the treatment of hereditary
angioedema (HAE). Progress is also expected throughout 2007 with the development of DX-88 in its
second potential indication: for use during on-pump cardiothoracic surgery (CTS). We believe that the
clinical data presented, thus far, in HAE and preliminary data in CTS suggest that DX-88 could provide
significant value to the patients and the medical community.

2007 should also see another internally-discovered drug candidate ready to enter human clinical trials.
This promising anti-cancer agent, DX-2240, a fully human monoclenal antibody, may offer unique cancer-
fighting abilities across a broad range of tumor types.

Dyax also expects to continue to leverage its propristary phage display drug discovery technology
by expanding its Licensing and Funded Research Program {LFRP) through signing additional licensing and
collaboration agreements. The advancement of ¢linical candidates from Dyax's LFRP will continue to generate
revenue and should provide further validation of the value of this program well into the future.

Through all of these ongoing initiatives, Dyax continues to focus on its fundamental promise—delivering
therapies that meet significant unmet medical needs, while building value for patients, physicians and
shareholders in 2007 and beyond.

1. Frank, M. M. Urticaria and 2. Agostoni, A. and M. Cicardi. 3. Estimate based on existing 4, Dyax-Genzyme LLC primary
angioedema. 22 ed. Goldman: Hereditary and acquired C1- HAE patient databases. market research.
Cecil Textbook of Medicine. intibitor deficiency: biclogical
2004, Philadelphia; W.B. and clinical characteristics
Saunders Co. 1613, in 235 patients. Medicine,

1992, 71{4):206-215.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graphs show a five-year comparison of the cumulative total stockholder returns on our
Common Stock over the period from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2006 as compared with that of the
NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index based on the initial investment of $100 on
December 31, 2001 in Dyax’s Common Stock and in each such index. Total stockholder return is measured by

dividing share price change plus dividends, if any, for ¢cach period by the share prices at the beginning of the

respective period, assuming reinvestment of any dividends. In the past, the Company has used the NASDAQ US
Index and the NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Index for comparative purposes. The Company has determined that
the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index are more appropriate comparisons and,
accordingly, for this year and future years, the Company expects to utilize these indices. The rules of the SEC
require that if the Company switches to a new index, it also must show the results for the index used in the prior

year’s proxy statement. For this reason we have included the two graphs below.
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1934
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Company was required
to file such reports}, and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes & No ]

Indicate by checkmark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by
reference in Part 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer.
See definition of “accelerated files and large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes OO No

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s common stock held by nonaffiliates of the registrant as of the last
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As used in this Form 10-K, “Dyax,” “the Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to Dyax Corp., except
where the context otherwise requires or as otherwise indicated.

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, including statements
regarding our results of operations, financial resources, research and development programs, pre-clinical
studies, clinical trials and collaborations. Statements that are not historical facts are based on our current
expectations, beliefs, assumptions, estimates, forecasts and projections for our business and the industry
and markets in which we compete. The statements contained in this report are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which are difficult to predict.
Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed in such
forward-looking statements. Important factors which may affect future operating results, research and
development programs, pre-clinical studies, clinical trials, and collaborations include, without limitation,
those set forth in Item 1A of this report entitled “Risk Factors”. You should carefully review the risks
described herein and in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed in 2007,
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization
of novel biotherapeutics for unmet medical needs, with an emphasis on oncology and inflammatory
indications. We use our proprietary drug discovery technology, known as phage display, to identify
antibody, small protein and peptide compounds for clinical development.

Our lead product candidate, DX-88 (ecallantide), is a recombinant form of a small protein that is
currently in clinical trials for its therapeutic potential in two separate indications. The first such indication
involves the use of DX-88 in the treatment of hereditary angioedema (HAE). In this indication, we have
successfully completed three Phase I trials and, in November 2006, we treated our last patient in a Phase
[1I trial, known as EDEMA3. Additionally, we plan to initiate a confirmatory trial, known as EDEMAA,
starting in the first quarter of 2007. DX-88 has orphan drug designation in the U.S. and E.U., as well as
Fast Track designation in the U.S. for the treatment of acute attacks of HAE.

In the second indication for DX-88, we have successfully completed a Phase /11 trial for the
prevention of blood loss during on-pump coronary artery bypass graft, or CABG surgery. Dyax has also
initiated a Phase LI trial for further development of DX-88 in patients undergoing what is more broadly
defined as on-pump cardiothoracic surgery, or on-pump CTS, which includes on-pump CABG surgery and
heart valve replacement and repair procedures.

In addition to our clinical stage programs, we have 14 other product candidates in our discovery and
development pipeline, two of which are currently in preclinical development. The most advanced of these
product candidates is DX-2240, a fully human monoclonal antibody that targets the Tie-1 receptor, a
protein receptor that we believe is important in the process of blood vessel formation known as
angiogenesis. DX-2240 offers a novel mechanism of action for inhibiting tumor growth, which we believe
may have potential application in the treatment of various types of cancer.

All of the compounds in our pipeline were discovered using our proprietary phage display technology
which rapidly generates product candidates that bind with high affinity and specificity to therapeutic
targets. Although we use this technology primarily to advance our own internal development activities, we
also leverage it broadly through licenses and collaborations so that other biopharmaceutical and
pharmaceutical companies can use the technology to discover and develop biopharmaceutical leads.
Through this program, which we refer to as our Licensing and Funded Research Program (LFRP), we
maintain more than 70 revenue generating licenses and collaborations. Under the LFRP, our licensees and
collaborators have 13 product candidates in clinical trials that were generated from our technology and we
estimate that over 70 additional product candidates are in various stages of discovery research. We are
entitled to receive milestones and/or royalties from our licensees and collaborators to the extent that any of
these product candidates advance in development and are ultimately commercialized. During 2006, we
monetized and sold a portion of the future revenues generated through the LFRP to an affiliate of Paul
Capital Partners for $30 million in upfront cash with an option for an additional $5 million if the LFRP
achieves specified revenue levels by the end of 2008.

Our business strategy is to build a broad portfolio of biotherapeutic products developed using our
proprietary phage display technology. In the near term, we expect to focus our efforts on completing the
clinical development of DX-88 for the treatment of HAE. In addition, we are moving forward on the
clinical development of DX-88 as a treatment for patients undergoing on-pump CTS, and will be in a
position to advance one other product candidate into the clinic in 2007. In the long term, we expect that
we, together with our licensees and collaborators, will continue to use our technology and expertise to
develop and commetcialize new therapeutic product candidates.



We continued to incur losses in 2006 and expect to incur significant operating losses over at least the
next several years. We do not expect to generate profits unless and until the therapeutic products from our
development portfolio reach the market, which can only occur after being subjected to the uncertainties of
the regulatory approval process.

We incorporated in Delaware in 1989 and merged with Protein Engineering Corporation in
August 1995, Our principal executive offices are located at 300 Technology Square, Cambridge,
Massachusetts, 02139,

Our Clinical Development Programs

Qur clinical development program consists of ongoing programs to develop DX-88, our lead product
candidate, in two separate indications.

What is DX-88? DX-88, also known generically as ecallantide, is a compound that we developed
using phage display and that we have shown in vitro to be a high affinity, high specificity inhibitor of human
plasma kallikrein. Plasma kallikrein, an enzyme found in the liquid portion of blood, is believed to be a key
component responsible for the regulation of the inflammation and coagulation pathways. Excess plasma -
kallikrein activity is thought to play a role in a number of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. We
believe that DX-88 may altow for fewer side effects and/or be more effective than other marketed
inhibitors of kallikrein, which lack DX-88’s specificity and affinity for plasma kallikrein.

DX-88 for the Treatment of HAE. Hereditary angioedema, or HAE, is a genetic disease that can cause
swelling of the larynx, gastrointestinal tract and extremities. In severe cases of HAE involving swelling of
the larynx, HAE is life threatening and may require insertion of a breathing tube to prevent asphyxiation.
There is no approved therapy in the US for acute attacks of HAE. The frequency of attacks may be
reduced with the chronic use of anabolic steroids. While this can reduce the frequency of attacks in some
people, steroids are ineffective in treating an acute attack and are associated with many serious side
effects. Published research indicates that plasma kallikrein is a primary mediator of both the pain and
swelling in HAE. We believe that DX-88 has the potential to decrease both the severity and duration of
symptoms during acute HAE attacks and, therefore, may provide an effective treatment for this disease.

HAE affects between 1 in 10,000 to 1 in 50,000 people around the world, Despite the fact that 85% of
sufferers experience symptoms before age 20, 68% of patients are not diagnosed until after age 20. There
are estimated to be approximately 10,000 immediately addressable HAE patients in the U.S. and Europe.

In February, 2007, we reached a mutual agreement with Genzyme Corporation to terminate our
collaboration to develop DX-88 as a treatment for HAE. As a result, we now own all of the rights to DX-88
worldwide, including the rights to develop and commercialize DX-88 in HAE. In May 2004, we successfully
completed a Phase II, 48 patient, dose escalating, placebo-controlled study, known as EDEMAL. In
January 2006, we treated the last patient in a large, open label, repeat dose Phase 11 trial, known as
EDEMAZ, and in November 2006, we treated the last patient in a placebo-controlled, worldwide, multi-
center Phase I1I trial, known as EDEMAS3. All of the clinical trials that we conducted in HAE during 2006
utilized a 30 mg subcutaneous dose, which was a change from an earlier intravenous method. We expect to
seek marketing approval using this dosing level and route of administration.

As a result of recent discussions with the FDA, we now plan to complete a confirmatory placebo-
controlled trial, known as EDEMA4, which we expect to start in the first quarter of 2007, This trial is
intended to further support the validity of the patient reported outcome {PRO) methodology used in the
EDEMAZ3 trial and confirm the efficacy and safety of DX-88. In addition, an open label continuation study
will be conducted to augment our clinical data with respect to DX-88. In light of these trials and based
upon our recent discussions with the FDA, we are now estimating regulatory approval in the U.S. in late
2008, followed closely by approval in the European Union.




To date, our study results in patients exposed to multiple doses suggest that DX-88 can provide
repeated therapeutic benefit to HAE patients for all types of HAE attacks, including potentially fatal
laryngeal attacks. Furthermore, there is no apparent decrease in DX-88’s therapeutic effects on HAE
attacks in these patients. To date, DX-88 has been well tolerated in clinical trials.

DX-88 for On-Pump CTS. Worldwide, it is estimated that there are over one million procedures
performed involving on-pump cardiothoracic surgery (on-pump CTS) performed each year. CTS
procedures are performed for patients who have narrowings or blockages of the coronary arteries and
often involve use of a heart-lung machine, which is commonly referred to as the “pump”. In these
procedures, the heart is stopped with medications and the pump does the work of the heart and lungs
during surgery. This allows the surgeon to position the heart as needed, to accurately identify the arteries
and perform the bypass while the heart is stationary.

The use of the pump during on-pump CTS procedures elicits an adverse systemic inflammatory
response. Many patients undergoing on-pump CTS procedures experience significant intraoperative blood
loss that requires transfusion. Kallikrein has been implicated in the body’s response 10 on-pump, heart
surgery as a major contributor to the significant blood loss seen in on-pump CTS patients and to the
pathologic inflammation that ptays a role in the complications of on-pump CTS procedures. The only
currently approved and available inhibitor of plasma kallikrein is aprotinin, currently marketed by Bayer
AG under the name of Trasylol®.

We are currently developing DX-88 as an alternative treatment for patients undergoing on-pump CTS
procedures. In December 2003, we completed the evaluation of DX-88 in a Phase I/II trial in the United
States for the prevention of blood loss in patients undergoing on-pump CABG surgeries, Furthermore, we
have initiated a Phase 11 study for further development of DX-88 in this on-pump CTS indication,
including CABG and heart valve replacement and repair procedures. We believe that DX-88 may have
benefits over aprotinin, as it is a recombinant human protein while aprotinin is animal-derived, which may
make it appear less foreign to the patient’s immune system. DX-88 has also been shown in vitro to be 1,000
times more potent than aprotinin as an inhibitor of plasma kallikrein.

Other Biopharmaceutical Discovery and Development Programs

In addition to our lead product candidate, DX-88, we are also actively pursuing other
biopharmaceutical discovery and development programs, with an emphasis on oncology and inflammatory
indications. Through the use of our proprietary phage display technology, we have been able to establish a
broad discovery platform to identify compounds that interact with a wide array of targets that are
membrane proteins or circulating proteins, all of which have been shown to be involved in pathologic
processes. Our discovery capabilities have been further enhanced through automation and as a result, we
are now able to evaluate a large number of molecules binding to each target. In this way we can rapidly
identify and select a specific antibody, peptide or small protein with the desired biochemical and bioclogical
characteristics. While our discovery research efforts are focused primarily on monoclonal antibodies, we
are also testing the in vitro and in vivo efficacy of several of our peptide and small protein compounds.

In addition to our clinical stage programs, we currently have 14 other product candidates in our
discovery and development pipeline, two of which are currently in preclinical development. Our most
advanced is DX-2240, the first fully human monoclonal antibody product candidate that we developed
using our phage libraries. It targets the Tie-1 receptor on tumor blood vessels. This antibody inhibits tumor
vascular development by a mechanism distinct from the ones targeting other pathways such as the vascular
endothelial growth factor, or VEGF, pathway. In animal models to date, DX-2240 has been shown to
inhibit lung, colorectal, renal, pancreatic and prostate tumor growth and has shown significant inhibition
activity in combination with other cancer therapies, such as Genentech’s Avastin® and Bayer’s Nexavar®.,




Currently, we are concluding preclinical studies on DX-2240 and will be in a position to file an IND in the
second half of 2007.

In December, 2005, we restructured our long-standing collaboration with Debiopharm S.A. with respect
to Dyax’s proprietary neutrophil elastase inhibitor, known as DX-890 (depelestat). Under the new
agreement, Debiopharm was granted exclusive worldwide rights for the development, manufacture and
commercialization of a native form of DX-890 in cystic fibrosis (CF) and acute respiratory distress
syndrome (ARDS). We will receive milestone payments and royalties from Debiopharm to the extent that
DX-8%0) advances in development and is ultimately commercialized in these indications.

In addition, we retain all rights to develop DX-890 in other indications, as well as all rights to develop
other internally discovered neutrophil elastase inhibitors in all indications, including CF and ARDS. We
are currently exploring the therapeutic potential of an extended half-life version of DX-890 in chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Leveraging Phage Display

Scientists can use phage display to improve the speed and cost effectiveness of drug discovery and
optimization, Phage display offers important advantages over, and can be used to improve, other drug
discovery technologies that are currently employed to identify biopharmaceutical leads.

Over the past several years, we have brought on-line high-throughput automated capacity, developed
state-of-the-art antibody phage display libraries, and successfully implemented a strategy under which, as
of today, we believe we have obtained freedom to operate in the antibody phage display area through
cross-licenses with Affimed Therapeutics AG, Affitech AS, Biosite Incorporated, Cambridge Antibody
Technology Limited, Domantis Limited, Genentech, Inc. and XOMA Ireland Limited. As a result of these
activities, we now have an industry-leading technology that allows us to identify fully human antibodies
with high specificity and high affinity and to move product candidates rapidly into both in vitro testing and
optimization.

Although we use this technology primarily to advance our own internal development activities, we also
leverage it broadly through licenses and collaborations so that other biopharmaceutical and
pharmaceutical companies can use it to discover and develop biopharmaceutical leads.

Licensing and Funded Research Program. Under our Licensing and Funded Rescarch Program
{LFRP), we maintain more than 70 revenue generating licenses and collaborations with other
biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical companies. Currently, the types of licenses and collaborations that
we enter into fall into one of three distinct structures:

o Putent Licenses. Under our patent license program, we grant other biopharmaceutical and
pharmaceutical companies non-exclusive licenses to use our core phage display patents (known as
the Ladner patents), to discover and develop biologic compounds for use in specified fields, We
generally grant licenses on a non-exclusive basis so that we may retain broad rights to practice our
phage display technology in multiple fields. Our license agreements generally provide for up-front
license fees, annual maintenance fees, milestone payments based on successful product
development, and royalties based on any future product sales. In addition, under the terms of our
license agreements, most licensees have agreed not to sue us for using phage display improvement
patents which they developed and some have granted us specific access to certain phage-display
technologies which they have developed or which they control. We believe that these provisions
altow us to practice enhancements to phage display developed by our licensees. We currently have
more than 45 patent licensees worldwide.

o Library Licenses. Under our library license program, we grant our licensees rights (o use our
proprietary phage display libraries in connection with their internal therapeutic development




programs. We also provide these licensees with related materials and training so that they may
rapidly identify compounds that bind with high affinity to therapeutic targets. In addition, with
respect to our antibody library license agreements, we include sublicenses to technology that we
have cross licensed from Affimed Therapeutics, Affitech, Biosite, Cambridge Antibody Technology,
Domantis, Genentech and XOMA. The period during which our licensees may use our libraries is
typically limited to a 4 to 5 year term. Library license agreements contain significant up-front license
fees, annual maintenance fees, milestone payments based on successful product development, and
royalties based on any future product sales. Our library licensees currently include Amgen, Biogen
Idec, Genzyme, ICOS, ImClone Systems, Human Genome Sciences, Merck Serono, MedImmune,
Tanox, Trubion, Zenyth Therapeutics and Zymogenetics.

e Funded Research. Under our funded research program, we perform funded research for various
collaborators using our phage display technology to identify, characterize and optimize antibodies
that bind to disease targets provided by the collaborators. Our funded research collaborators
include AstraZeneca, Baxter Healthcare, Biogen Idec, Merck Serono, Merrimack Pharmaceuticals
and Trubion.

While our licenses and collaborations primarily focus on therapeutic programs, the LFRF also
encompasses the use of phage display technology in a number of other ways. For example, often the
binding compounds that we discover for biopharmaceutical targets can be used in diagnostic or imaging
formats to assess therapeutic effectiveness and monitor disease progression. In addition, other binding
compounds we discover, known as ligands, have a high affinity and high specificity, and can be used for the
purification of biopharmaceuticals. Binding compounds are also active components of many research
products used for drug discovery and development, specifically to detect and analyze proteins.

In the diagnostic imaging and research product fields, we have formed collaborations, and we also
license others to practice our phage display technology in those fields. For example, we have granted a
non-exclusive license to our phage display technology for the development of diagnostic imaging products
to Bracco, a leader in the imaging products market. We previously used our phage display technology to
identify peptides for Epix Medical (now Epix Pharmaceuticals) to use in blood clot imaging applications in
the magnetic resonance imaging field.

In the area of affinity separations, we have granted licenses to Wyeth and Human Genome Sciences to
use ligands that we developed for them. Wyeth is using a Dyax ligand for purification of its recombinant
blood factor product, ReFacto AF, for treating hemophilia and Human Genome Sciences is using a Dyax
ligand to purify its B-Lymphocyte Stimulator Protein.

Currently, 13 product candidates generated by our licensees or collaborators under the LFRP are in
clinical trials. Furthermore, we estimate that our licensees and collaborators have over 70 additional
product candidates in various stages of research and preclinical development. We anticipate that we will
receive milestones and royalties from our licensees and collaborators to the extent that these product
candidates advance in development and are ultimately commercialized.

Paul Royalty Financing. In August 2006, we entered into a Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement
with Paul Royalty Fund Holdings IT, LP, an affiliate of Paul Capital Partners, under which we received an
upfront payment of $30 million. In exchange for this payment, we assigned Paul Royalty a portion of
milestones, royalties and other license fees to be received by us under the LFRP through 2017, with Paul
Royalty retaining the right to extend the term of this agreement for an additional two years if certain
conditions are not met. We also have an option to receive an additional $5 million payment from Paul
Royalty in the event that the LFRP receipts achieve specified levels by the end of 2008, which would result
in a pro rata increase in our payments to them.



Under the terms of the agreement, Paul Royalty was assigned a portion of the annual net LFRP
receipts. The portion assigned to Paul Royalty is tiered as follows: 709 of the first $15 million in annual
receipts, 20% of the next $5 million, and 1% of any receipts above $20 million. These percentages will
increase on a pro rata basis if we are eligible to and elect to exercise our option for the additional $5
million payment. The agreement also provides for annual guaranteed minimum payments to Paul Royalty,
which start at $1.75 million through 2007 and increase to $3.5 million in 2008 and 2009, $6 million for years
2010 through 2013 and $7 million for years 2014 through 2017. Upon termination of the agreement, all
rights to LFRP receipts will revert to us.

In the event of (i) a change of control of Dyax, (ii) a bankruptcy of Dyax, (iii) a transfer of a majority
of our assets that has a material effect on either the net present value of the projected LFRP receipts or
our ability to pay the guaranteed minimum payments, (iv) a transfer by us of any part of our assets
supporting the LFRP program other than in the ordinary course of business, or (v) any breach of certain
material covenants and representations in the agreement, Paul Royalty has the right to require us to
repurchase their royalty interest. Under such circumstances, the repurchase price would equal the greater
of (a) two hundred percent of the amount paid by Paul Royalty to us less the cumulative payments
previously received by Paul Royalty from the LFRP or (b) the amount which will provide Paul Royalty,
when taken together with the payments that they previously received from the LFRP, a specified rate of
return of 25%.

In the event of breaches of certain other representations or covenants or the occurrence of certain
other events that have a material adverse effect on projected revenues under the LFRP, Paul Royalty has
the right to require us to repurchase their royalty interest at lower prices. If such an event occurs before
the end of 2010, the price will be the greater of (a) 110% of the cumulative payments made by Paul
Royalty under the agreement less the cumulative payments previously received by Paul Royalty from the
LFRF or {b) the amount which will provide Paul Royalty, when taken together with the receipts previously
paid over to Paul Royalty, a 10% rate of return. If such an event occurs after 2010, the price will be the
greater of (a) 150% of the cumulative payments made by Paul Royalty under the agreement less the
cumulative payments previously received by Paul Royalty from the LFRP or (b} the amount which will
provide Paul Royalty, when taken together with the receipts previously paid to Paul Royalty, a 15% rate of
return. Alternatively, with respect to certain events, we can avoid the requirement to repurchase Paul
Royalty’s entire interest in the LFRP by making annual payments to Paul Royalty equal to the difference
between actual receipts and projected LFRP receipts. Our right to make these alternative payments
expires if (a) in any two consecutive calendar years {excluding 2007), the total alternative payments equal
or exceed 50% of Paul Royalty’s percentage of the projected LFRP receipts in each of those years, (b) in
any three consecutive calendar years (excluding 2007}, the total alternative payments equal or exceed 33%
of Paul Royalty’s percentage of the proijected LFRP receipts in €ach of those years or (c) if there are
certain other material failures in the LFRP,

In addition, we have the right, but not the obligation, to repurchase Paul Royalty’s royalty interest at a
price in cash which will provide them, when taken together with the royalties previously paid, with the
greater of (i) 175% of the payments made by Paul Royalty under the agreement until August 23, 2008 or
200% of the payments made by Paul Royalty under the agreement thereafter or (ii) an amount sufficient
to provide a specified rate of return of 25%.

Pursuant to the terms of the Paul Royalty agreement, Dyax has entered into security and lock-box
agreernents granting Paul Royalty a security interest in and to substantially all assets related to the LFRP
in order to secure performance under the agreement and receipt of its agreed share of LFRP receipts.

The scope of our agreement with Paul Royalty is limited to its specified portion of receipts generated
under the LFRP. Paul Royalty has no rights with respect to our internal or co-development programs and
we will retain all rights and revenues relating to such programs.




Co-Development Program. In addition to the LFRP, we also leverage our phage display technology
through our co-development program. Under this program, we collaborate with other biopharmaceutical
companies to discover and jointly develop therapeutic leads. Under the typical co-development
collaboration, we use our phage display libraries to identify antibody, peptide and small protein
compounds that bind to disease targets provided by our co-development collaborator. With our
collaborator, we evaluate the lcads that we generate during the research phase of our collaboration to
determine if we wish to jointly develop and commercialize such leads as therapeutics. Our co-development
collaborators currently include CSIRO, Inhibitex and Syntonix Pharmaceuticals, now a wholly owned
subsidiary of Biogen Idec.

Our Phage Display Technology and How it Works

Molecular binding is the key to the function of most biopharmaceutical products. The binding of a
molecule to a target is the mechanism nature uses to modulate biochemical and physiological processes
such as cellular growth, differentiation, metabolism and death. Naturally occurring binding molecules
typically distinguish between the correct target and other closely related molecules (specificity), and bind
more tightly to the target than non-target molecules (affinity), under appropriate physiological conditions.
Biopharmaceutical products bind to targets, including cellular receptors and enzymes, to achieve a desired
effect, and those with higher affinity and specificity are thought to be preferable. Binding also plays a
significant role in diagnostics, research reagents and separations products.

Living organisms, such as viruses, have the ability to display a foreign gene product, or protein, on
their surfaces. Based on this ability of organisms to display proteins, our scientists in the late 1980s
invented protein phage display, a novel method to individually display up to tens of billions of human
antibodies, peptides or small proteins on the surface of a small bacterial virus called a bacteriophage, or
phage. Using phage display, we are able to produce and search through large collections, or libraries, of
antibodies, small proteins or peptides to rapidly identify those compounds that bind with high affinity and
high specificity to targets of interest.

Our phage display process generally consists of the following steps:

»  Generating a phage display library

e Screening the phage display library against a target of interest

e  Evaluating the selected compounds that bind to the target of interest

Generating a Phage Display Library. The generation of a phage display library is based upon a single
protein framework and contains tens of billions of variations of this protein. The first step in generating a
library is the selection of the protein framework upon which the library will be created. This selection is
based on the desired product properties, such as structure, size, stability, or lack of immunogenicity. We
then determine which amino acids in the framework will be varied, but do not vary amino acids that
contribute to the framework structure. We also control the exact numbers and types of different amino
acids that are varied, so that the resulting phage display library consists of a diverse set of chemical entities,
each of which retains the desired physical and chemical properties of the original framework.

The next step is the creation of a collection of genes that encode the designed variations of the
framework protein. We can easily generate diverse collections of up to hundreds of millions of different
synthetic DNA sequences. Each new DNA sequence, or gene, encodes a single protein sequence that will
be displayed on the surface of the individual phage that contains this gene. The scientists combine the new
DNA sequences with phage genome DNA and certain enzymes so that the new DNA is inserted into a
specific location of the phage genome. The result is that the new protein is displayed on the phage surface
fused to one of the naturally occurring phage proteins. The phage acts as a physical link between the
displayed protein and its gene.



In addition to fused synthetic DNA sequences, we can also use naturally occurring genes, such as
cDNA, which are sequences that represent all of the expressed genes in a cell or organism, to create a
library. We have also inserted genes from antibody expressing human cells into the phage genome. Using
these genes, we have constructed phage display libraries that express tens of billions of different human
antibodies on the phage surface. From one of these libraries, individual antibody fragments can be selected
and used to build highly specific human monoclonal antibodies.

The new phage genome is then transferred into laboratory bacteria, where the phage genome directs
the bacterial cells to produce thousands of copies of each new phage. The collection of phage displaying
multiple antibodies, peptides or small proteins is referred to as a phage display library. Because we can
reproduce the phage display library by infecting a new culture of laboratory bacteria to produce millions of
additional copties of each phage, we can use each library for a potentially unlimited number of screenings.

Screening the Phage Display Library Against a Target of Interest.  'We can then select binding
compounds with high affinity and high specificity by exposing the library to a specified target of interest
and isolating the various phage that display compounds that bind to the target. Each individual phage
contains the gene encoding one potential binding compound, and when its displayed protein is selected in
the screening procedure, it can be retrieved and amplified by growth in laboratory bacteria.

To screen a phage display library, we expose the library to the target under desired binding conditions.
The target is normally attached to a fixed surface, such as the bottom of a tube, or a bead, allowing
removal of phage that do not express binding compounds that recognize the target. Once these unbound
phage are washed away, the phage containing the selected binding compounds can be released from the
target. Since the phage are still viable, they can be amplified rapidly by again infecting bacteria. The
capacity of the phage to replicate itself is an important feature that makes it particularly well suited for
rapid discovery of specific binding compounds. We can amplify a single phage by injecting it into bacteria
and producing millions of identical phage in one day.

If the binding affinity of the compounds identified in an initial screening for a target is not considered
sufficiently high, information derived from the binding compounds identified in the initial screening can be
used to design a new focused library. The design, construction and screening of a second generation
library, known as affinity maturation, can lead to increases of 10- to 100-fold in the affinity of the binding
compounds for the target.

Evaluating the Selected Compounds That Bind to the Target of Interest. Screening phage display libraries
generally results in the identification of one or more groups of related binding compounds such as
antibodies, peptides or small proteins. These groups of compounds are valuable in providing information
about which chemical features are necessary for binding to the target with affinity and specificity, as well as
which features can be altered without affecting binding. Using DNA sequencing, we can determine the
amino acid sequences of the binding compounds and identify the essential components of desired binding
properties by comparing similarities and differences in such sequences. If desired, scientists can further
optimize the binding compounds by building additional phage display libraries based on these key
components and repeating this process. We can complete the entire selection process in several weeks. We
can produce small amounts of the binding compound by growing and purifying the phage. For production
of larger amounts, we can remove the gene from the phage DNA and place it into a standard recombinant
protein expression system. Alternatively, if the identified binding compound is sufficiently small, it can be
chemically synthesized. These binding compounds can be evaluated for desired properties including
affinity, specificity and stability under conditions that will be encountered during its intended use. From
each group of compounds, scientists can identify, develop and test a compound with the desired properties
for utility as a biopharmaceutical, diagnostic, research reagent or affinity separations product.

The entire phage display process for identifying compounds that bind to targets of interest is nearly
identical whether the ultimate product is to be used for biopharmaceuticals, diagnostics, research reagents




or separations, which allows for an efficient use of scientific resources across a broad array of commercial
applications.

Advantages of Phage Display Technology in Therapeutic Drug Discovery. We believe our phage display
technology has the following advantages over other drug discovery technologies:

e  Diversity and abundance. Many of our phage display libraries contain billions of potential
binding compounds that are rationally-designed variations of a particular antibody, peptide or
small protein framework. The size and diversity of our libraries significantly increase the
likelihood of identifying binding compounds with high affinity and high specificity for the target.
Once we generate libraries, we can reproduce them rapidly in phage and use them for an
unlimited number of screenings.

»  Speed and cost effectiveness. 'We can construct phage display libraries in a few months and
rapidly select binding compounds for characterization in screening assays. Conventional or
combinatorial chemistry approaches require between several months and several years to
complete this process. Similarly, mouse and human-mouse technologies generally require four to
six months to identify an antibody. As a result, our phage display technology can significantly
reduce the time and expense required to identify an antibody, peptide or small protein with
desired binding characteristics.

e  Automated parallel screening. In an automated format, we can apply our phage display
technology to many targets simultaneously to discover specific, high-affinity proteins, including
human monoclonal antibodies, for each target. In contrast, human-mouse antibody technology
identifies antibodies that bind to a single target per test group of mice and is difficult to
automate. Among antibody technologies, phage display is particularly well suited for functional
genomic applications, due to the large number of genetic targets that need to be screened for
specific antibodies.

¢ Rapid optimization. We screen phage display libraries to identify binding compounds with high
affinity and high specificity for the desired target and can design and produce successive
generations of phage display libraries to further optimize the leads. We have demonstrated
between 10- and 1000-fold improvement in binding affinity with second-generation phage display
libraries. Optimization of humanized mouse or human-mouse antibodies can be more difficult
and may not progress as rapidly.

Competition

We compete in industries characterized by intense competition and rapid technological change. New
developments occur and are expected to continue to occur at a rapid pace. Discoveries or commercial
developments by our competitors may render some or all of our technologies, products or potential
products obsolete or non-competitive.

Our principal focus is on the development of therapeutic products. We will conduct research and
development programs to develop and test product candidates and demonstrate to appropriate regulatory
agencies that these products are safe and effective for therapeutic use in particular indications. Therefore
our principal competition going forward, as further described below, will be companies who either are
already marketing products in those indications or are developing new products for those indications.
Many of our competitors have greater financial resources and experience than we do.

For DX-88 as a treatment for HAE, our principal competitors include Jerini AG, Pharming Group
N.V., Lev Pharmaceuticals, Inc and CSL Behring. CSL Behring currently markets Berinert®, a plasma-
derived C1 esterase inhibitor that is approved for the treatment of HAE in several European countries.
CSL Behring received an orphan drug designation from the FDA for its plasma-derived Cl1 esterase
inhibitor and has initiated a Phase I1I clinical trial in the United States. Jerini has received orphan drug



designations from both the FDA and EMEA for its bradykinin receptor antagonist, known as Icatibant,
which is delivered by subcutaneous injection. Jerini has completed Phase 111 clinical trials with Icatibant in
the United States and Europe. Pharming has received orphan drug designations from both the FDA and
EMEA, as well as a fast track designation from the FDA for its recombinant C1 esterase inhibitor.
Pharming has initiated Phase 111 clinical trials in both the US and Europe and in July 2006 announced the
submission of a Marketing Authorization Application to the EMEA. Lev Pharmaceuticals has received
both fast track and orphan drug designations from the FDA for its plasma-derived C1 esterase inhibitor
and has completed a Phase 111 clinical trial in the United States. Other competitors include companies that
market or are developing corticosteroid drugs or other anti-inflammatory compounds.

For DX-88 as a treatment for reducing blood loss in cardiothoracic surgery procedures, our principal
competitors are Bayer AG and Xanodyne Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Bayer currently markets Trasylol®
(aprotinin) and Xanodyne currently markets Amicar® (aminocaproic acid), both of which are used for the
reduction of blood loss during on-pump CTS procedures. A number of other organizations, including
Novo Nordisk A/S and Vanderbilt University, are developing other products for this indication.

For our potential oncology product candidates, including DX-2240, our potential competitors include
numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, most of which have substantially greater financial
resources and experience than we do.

In addition, most Jarge pharmaceutical companies seek to develop orally available small molecule
compounds against many of the targets for which others and we are seeking to develop antibody, peptide
and/or small protein products.

Our phage display technology is one of several technologies available to generate libraries of
compounds that can be used to discover and develop new antibody, peptide and/or small protein products.
The primary competing technology platforms that pharmaceutical, diagnostics and biotechnology
companies use to identify antibodies that bind to a desired target are transgenic mouse technology and the
humanization of murine antibodtes derived from hybridomas. Amgen Inc. {(as a result of its acquisition of
Abgenix Inc.}, Medarex Inc., Genmab A/S, and Protein Design Labs, Inc, are leaders in these technologies.
Further, we license our phage display patents and libraries to other parties in the fields of therapeutics and
diagnostic products on a non-exclusive basis. Our licensees may compete with us in the development of
specific therapeutic and diagnostic products. In particular, BioInvent International AB, Cambridge
Antibody Technology Group plc (CAT), Domantis Limited, Morphosys AG, and XOMA Ireland Limited,
ail of which have licenses to our base technotogy, compete with us, both to develop therapeutics and to
offer research services to larger pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. Biosite Incorporated, which
is also a patent licensee of ours, has partnered with Medarex, Inc. to combine phage display technology
with transgenic mouse technology to create antibody libraries derived from the RNA of immunized mice.
In addition, companies are also attempting to develop new antibody engineering technology. These include
CAT, now a wholly owned subsidiary of AstraZeneca, which is developing ribosomal display technology
and antibody mimics, Diversa Corp., which is developing combinatorial arrays for large-scale screening of
antibodies, Domantis, which makes single domain antibody libraries, and Novagen, Inc., which is
developing cDNA display technology.

In addition, we may experience competition from companies that have acquired or may acquire
technology from universities and other research institutions. As these companies develop their
technologies, they may develop proprietary positions that may prevent us from successfully
commercializing our products.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success is significantly dependent upon our ability to obtain patent protection for our products
and technologies, to defend and enforce our issued patents, including patents related to phage display, and
to avoid the infringement of patents issued to others. Our policy generally is to file for patent protection on
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methods and technology useful for the display of binding molecules and on biopharmaceutical, diagnostic
and separation product candidates.

Our proprietary position in the field of phage display is based upon patent rights, technology,
proprietary information, trade secrets and know-how. Our patents and patent applications for phage
display, known as the Ladner patents, include U.S. Patent Nos. 5,837,500, which expires June 29, 2010,
5,571,698, which expires June 29, 2010, 5,403,484, which expires Aprit 4, 2012, 5,223,409, which expires
June 29, 2010, 6,979,538, which expires June 29, 2010, 7,118,759, which expires July 27, 2009, and issued
patents in Canada, Israel, and Japan, as well as pending patent applications in the United States and other
countries. These phage display patent rights contain claims covering inventions in the field of the surface
display of proteins and certain other peptides, including surface display on bacteriophage.

For our therapeutic product candidates, we file for patent protection on groups of antibodies,
peptides and small proteins that we identify using phage display. These patent rights now include U.S.
Patent Nos. 5,994,125, which expires January 11, 2014, 5,795,865, which expires August 18, 2015, 6,057,287,
which expires August 18, 2015, and 6,333,402, which expires January 11, 2014, and European Patent
No. 739355 which expires January 11, 2015, as well as issued patents in Canada and Japan, claiming
sequences of peptides that have human kallikrein inhibitory activity, including the sequence for DX-88,
and polynucleotide sequences encoding these peptides.

There are no legal challenges to our phage display patent rights or our other patent rights now
pending in the United States. However, we cannot assure that a challenge will not be brought in the future.
We plan to protect our patent rights in a manner consistent with our product development and business
strategies. If we bring legal action against an alleged infringer of any of our patents, we expect the alleged
infringer to claim that our patent is invalid, not infringed, or not enforceable for one or more reasons, thus
subjecting that patent to a judicial determination of infringement, validity and enforceability. In addition,
in certain situations, an alleged infringer could seek a declaratory judgment of non-infringement, invalidity
or unenforceability of one or more of our patents. We cannot be sure that we will have sufficient resources
to enforce or defend our patents against any such challenges or that a challenge will not result in an
adverse judgment against us or the loss of one or more of our patents. Uncertainties resulting from the
initiation and continuation of any patent or related litigation, including those involving our patent rights,
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to maintain and expand our licensing program and
collaborations, and to compete in the marketplace.

Our first phage display patent in Europe, European Patent No. 436,597, known as the 597 Patent was
ultimately revoked in 2002 in a proceeding in the European Patent Office. We have one divisional patent
application of the 597 Patent pending in the European Patent Office. We will not be able to prevent other
parties from using our phage display technology in Europe if the European Patent Office does not grant us
another patent. We cannot be assured that we will prevail in the prosecution of either of these patent
applications.

Our phage display patent rights are central to our non-exclusive patent licensing program and our
performance under our related agreement with Paul Royalty. We offer non-exclusive licenses under our
phage display patent rights to companies and non-profit institutions in the fields of therapeutics,
diagnostics and other select fields. In jurisdictions where we have not applied for, obtained, or maintained
patent rights, we will be unable to prevent others from developing or selling products or technologies
derived using phage display. In addition, in jurisdictions where we have phage display patent rights, we
cannot assure that we will be able to prevent others from selling or importing products or technologies
derived using phage display.

We are aware that other parties have patents and pending applications to various products and
processes relating to phage display technology. Through licensing our phage display patent rights, we have
secured a limited ability to practice under some of the third party patent rights relating to phage display
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technology. These rights are a result of our standard license agreement, which contains a covenant by the
licensee that it will not sue us under the licensee’s phage display improvement patents. In addition, we
have sought and obtained affirmative rights of license or ownership under certain patent rights relating to
phage display technology owned by other parties. For example, in addition to our amended license
agreement with CAT, we have entered into licensing agreements with Affimed Therapeutics AG, Affitech
AS, Biosite Incorporated, Domantis and Genentech, Inc. under which we granted each of those companies
rights to practice our phage display patents and in return received rights to practice under their phage
display related patents. These types of agreements in which each party licenses technology to the other are
referred to as cross-licensing agreements. We have also entered into a cross-licensing agreement with
XOMA Ireland Limited under which we received a license to use XOMA's antibody expression technology
to develop antibody products for ourselves and our collaborators. We also received a license from XOMA
to produce antibodies. In exchange we agreed to pay XOMA a license fee and a royalty in connection with
the sale of any of our antibody products. We also granted XOMA a license to our phage display patents
and agreed to provide them with limited quantities of our antibody phage display libraries.

Government Regulation

The production and marketing of any of our future biopharmaceutical or diagnostic products will be
subject to numerous governmental laws and regulations on safety, effectiveness and quality, both in the
United States and in other countries where we intend to sell the products. In addition, our research and
development activities in the United States are subject to various health and safety, employment and other
laws and regulations.

United States FD4 Approval. In the United States, the U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA)
rigorously regulates products intended for diagnostic or therapeutic use in humans.

The steps required before a new pharmaceutical can be sold in the United States include:
e  preclinical tests;

* submission of an Investigational New Drug Application to the FDA, which must become effective
before initial human clinical testing can begin;

e  human clinical trials, which are frequently time consuming and costly to establish safety and
effectiveness of the product that normally occur in three phases each monitored by the FDA;

»  submission to FDA of a New Drug or Biologics License Application containing the safety and
effectiveness data developed by the company, followed by FDA review and, if warranted,
approval of the application; and

¢ compliance with the FDA’s Good Manufacturing Practices regulations in the manufacture,
processing and packing of regulated products and facility and equipment validations and
inspection.

The requirements for testing and approval for in vitro diagnostic products, which are usually regulated
as medical devices, can be somewhat less onerous than for pharmaceutical products, but similar steps are
usually required. All our internal product candidates, including our plasma kallikrein inhibitor, DX-88, and
the pharmaceutical and diagnostic products of our collaborators and licensees, will need to complete
successfully the FDA-required testing and approvals before they can be marketed. There is no assurance
that we or our collaborators can gain the necessary approvals. Failure to do so would have a material
adverse effect on our ability to achieve our business goals and implement our business strategy. In
addition, following approval, manufacturers must continue to report all adverse events of which they
become aware to the FDA. On occasion such events may be sufficiently serious to warrant changes in the
approved uses of products, or in especially serious cases, removal from the market. This, should it occur,
could also produce material adverse effects on our business.
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Foreign Regulatory Approval. In many countries outside the United States, especially within the
European Union (EU), governmental regulatory authorities similar to the FDA must approve the
investigational program and/or marketing application for pharmaceutical and diagnostic products. New
legislation for investigative medicinal products was implemented by all EU member states on May 1, 2004.
Despite attempts to harmonize regulations in all member states, differences continue to exist which may
result in delays in the initiation of clinical trials. Following the conclusion of the clinical evaluation of a
medicinal product, a marketing authorization is prepared and submitted. The format of the required
documentation has been harmonized to some extent in the United States, the European Union, and Japan.
In addition, the national laws governing manufacturing requirements, advertising and promotion, and
pricing and reimbursement may vary widely. Therefore, the time to market can vary widely among !
different regions and countries. In addition, the export to foreign countries for investigation and /or
marketing of medicinal products that have been manufactured in the US but not approved for marketing
by the FDA is subject to US law as well as the laws of the importing country and may require one or more
regulatory authorizations. There is no assurance that we will be able to gain the necessary authorizations in
a timely fashion or at all. Failure to do so would have a material adverse effect on our ability to achieve our
business goals and implement our business strategy.

Environmental, Health, Safety and Other Regulations. In addition to the laws and regulations that
apply to the development, manufacture and sale of our products, our operations are subject to numerous
foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations. Our research and development activities involve the
use, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous materials and chemicals and, as a result, we are required
to comply with regulations and standards of the Occupational Safety and Health Act and other safety and
environmental laws. Although we believe that our activities currently comply with all applicable laws and
regulations, the risk of accidental contamination or injury cannot be completely eliminated. In the event of
such an accident, we could be held liable for any damages that result, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Manufacturing

We currently rely on contract manufacturers for the production of DX-88 for preclinical and clinical
studies, including the manufacture of both the bulk drug substance and the final pharmaceutical product.
The testing of the resultant products is our responsibility or the responsibility of the contract manufacturer
and for an independent testing laboratory. These materials must be manufactured and tested according to
strict regulatory standards established for pharmaceutical products. Despite our close oversight of these
activities, there is no assurance that the technology can be readily transferred from our facility to those of
the contractors, that the process can be scaled up adequately to support clinical trials, or that the required
quality standards can be achieved. To date, we have identified only a few facilities that are capable of
performing these activities and willing to contract their services. There is no assurance that contractors will
have the capacity to manufacture or test our products at the required scale and within the required time
frame. There is no assurance that the supply of clinical materials can be maintained during the clinical
development of our product candidates.

It is our current intent to rely on contract manufacturers and / or development or commercialization
partners for the production and testing of marketed pharmaceuticals following the approval of one or
more of our products. The quality standards for marketed pharmaceuticals are even greater than for
investigational products. The inability of these contractors and / or development or commercialization
partners to meet the required standards and/or to provide an adequate and constant supply of the
pharmaceutical product would have a material adverse effect on our business.

13



Sales and Marketing

Therapeutic Products. 'We do not currently have any therapeutic products approved for sale. For any
products that are approved in the future for diseases where patients are treated primarily by limited
numbers of physicians, we intend in some cases to conduct sales and marketing activities ourselves in
North America and, possibly, in Europe. For any product that we intend to market and sell ourselves, we
do not expect to establish direct sales capability until shortly before the products are approved for
commercial sale, but we will begin product management and market education activities earlier during
clinical trials. For markets outside of North America, including possibly European markets, we will seek to
establish arrangements where our products are sold by pharmaceutical companies that are already well
established in these regions. For products that are indicated for conditions where patients may be treated
by large numbers of internists, general surgeons, or family practitioners, we will seek to establish
arrangements under which our products will be sold and marketed by large pharmaceutical organizations
with established sales forces, We expect that these arrangements will generally be worldwide on a product-
by-product basis.

Other Product Areas, For areas other than therapeutic products, we will generally seek to establish
arrangements with leading companies in particular business areas under which those companies develop
the products based on our technology and conduct sales and marketing activities through their established
channels.

Segment Information

We provide financial information by geographical area in Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this report. We are incotporating that information into this section by this
reference.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 161 employees worldwide, including 36 with Ph.D.s and/or M.D.s.
Approximately 115 of our employees are in research and development, 3 in business development and
43 in administration. Our workforce is non-unionized, and we believe that our relations with employees are
good.

Additional Information

We make our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 available without charge through our website, www.dyax.com, as soon as reasonably
practicable after filing them with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Information contained on the
website is not part of this report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, including statements about
our growth and future operating results, discovery and development of products, strategic alliances and
intellectual property. Any statement that is not a statement of historical fact should be considered a
forward-looking statement. We often use the words or phrases of expectation or uncertainty like “believe,”
“anticipate,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “project,” “future,” “may,” “will,” “could,” “would” and similar

words to help identify forward-looking statements.

LI 11

Statements that are not historical facts are based on our current expectations and beliefs including our
assumptions, estimates, forecasts and projections for our business and the industry and markets in which
we compete. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks,
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uncertainties and assumptions, which are difficult to predict. We cannot assure investors that our
expectations and beliefs will prove to have been correct. Important factors could cause our actual results to
differ materially from those indicated or implied by forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause
or contribute to such differences include the factors discussed below. We caution you not to place undue
reliance on these forward looking statements, which speak only as of the date on which they are made. We
undertake no intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise.

We have a history of operating losses and expect to incur significant additional operating losses.

We have incurred operating losses since our inception in 1989. As of December 31, 2006, we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $232.6 million. We expect to incur substantial additional operating
losses over the next several years as our research, development, pre-clinical testing and clinical trial
activitics increase, particularly with respect to our current lead product candidate, DX-88. We have not
generated any revenue from product sales to date, and it is possible that we will never have significant, if
any, product sales revenue.

Currently, we generate revenue from collaborators through research and development funding and
through license and maintenance fees that we receive in connection with the licensing of our phage display
technology. In August 2006, we sold a portion of the receipts from these fees to Paul Royalty for an
upfront payment of $30 million.

To become profitable, we, either alone or with our collaborators, must successfully develop,
manufacture and market our current product candidates, including DX-88, and other products and
continue to leverage our phage display technology to generate research funding and licensing revenue. It is
possible that we will never have significant product sales revenue or receive significant royalties on our
licensed product candidates or licensed technology.

We may be unable o raise the capital that we will need to sustain our operations.

We expect that existing cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments plus anticipated cash flow
from product development, collaborations and license fees (as reduced by payments under our agreement
with Paul Royalty) will be sufficient to support our current operating plans into 2008. We may, however,
need or choose to raise additional funds before then. We will need additional funds if our cash
requirements exceed our current expectations or if we generate less revenue than we expect.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
e the progress of our drug discovery and development programs;
e«  our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates;

e  maintaining or expanding our existing collaborative and license arrangements and entering into
additional ones;

e the progress of the development and commetcialization of milestone and royalty-bearing
compounds by our collaborators and licensees;

e our decision to manufacture materials used in our product candidates;

e competing technological and market developments;

e costs of defending our patents and other intellectual property rights; and
e the amount and timing of additional capital equipment purchases.

We also may seek additional funding through collaborative arrangements and public or private
financings. We may not be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms or at all or we may not be able to
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enter into additional collaborative arrangements. In addition, the terms of any financing may adversely
affect the holdings or the rights of our stockholders. If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis,
we may be required to curtail significantly one or more of our research or development programs. We also
could be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborators or others that may require us to
relinquish rights to some of our technologies, product candidates or products that we would otherwise
pursue oOn Our Own.

Our biopharmaceutical or diagnostic product candidates must undergo rigorous clinical trials and regulatory
approvals, which could substantially delay or prevent their development or marketing.

Any biopharmaceutical or diagnostic product that we develop will be subject to rigorous clinical trials
and an extensive regulatory approval process implemented by the FDA and analogous foreign regulatory
agencies. This approval process is typically lengthy and expensive, and approval is never certain. Positive
results from pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials do not ensure positive results in late stage clinical
trials designed to permit application for regulatory approval. We do not know when, or if, our ongoing
clinical trials will be completed. We also cannot accurately predict when other planned clinical trials will
begin or be completed. Many factors affect patient enrollment, including the size of the patient population,
the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial, alternative therapies,
competing clinical trials and new drugs approved for the conditions that we are investigating. For example,
four other companies are conducting clinicat trials of treatments for HAE and have announced plans for
trials that are seeking or likely to seek patients with HAE. In addition, competition for patients in
cardiovascular disease trials is particularly intense because of the limited number of leading cardiologists
and the geographic conceatration of major clinical centers. As a result of all of these factors, our trials may
take longer to enroll patients than we anticipate. Such delays may increase our costs and slow down our
product development and the regulatory approval process. Our product development costs will also
increase if we need to perform more or larger clinical trials than planned. The cccurrence of any of these
events will delay our ability to generate revenue from product sales and impair our ability to become
profitable, which may cause us to have insufficient capital resources to support our operations.

Because of the risks and uncertainties in biopharmaceutical development, products that we or our
collaborators develop could take a significantly longer time to gain regulatory approval than we expect or
may never gain approval. If we or our collaborators do not receive these necessary approvals, we will not
be able to generate substantial product or royalty revenues and may not become profitable. We and our
collaborators may encounter significant delays or excessive costs in our efforts to secure regulatory
approvals. Factors that raise uncertainty in obtaining these regulatory approvals include the fotlowing:

¢  we must demonstrate through clinical trials that the proposed product is safe and effective for its
intended use;

o we have limited experience in conducting the clinical trials necessary to obtain regulatory
approval; and

e data obtained from pre-clinical and clinical activitics are susceptible to varying interpretations,
which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approvals.

Regulatory authorities may delay, suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time if they believe that
the patients participating in trials are being exposed to unacceptable health risks or if they find deficiencies
in the clinical trial procedures. Our Investigational New Drug Applications for our recombinant protein
DX-88, for example, were placed on clinical hold by the FDA in May 2004, following the FDA’s evaluation
of certain animal test data submitted by us. Although that study was allowed to continue, we were required
by the FDA to conduct additional testing at additional expense. There is no guarantee that we will be able
to resolve similar issues in the future, either as quickly, or at all. In addition, our or our coliaborators’
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failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements may result in criminal prosecution, civil penalties
and other actions that could impair our ability to conduct our business.

In November, 2006, we treated our last patient in a Phase III clinical trial of DX-88 for the treatment
of HAE and we plan to initiate a confirmatory trial starting in the first quarter of 2007. Before filing a
Biologic License Application (BLA) for marketing approval of this product in this indication, we will need
to complete this confirmatory trial. HAE is an indication with a particularly small patient population, and
this trial may, for this ot any of the other reasons described above, take longer than anticipated to initiate
and/or to complete.

We lack experience in conducting clinical trials, handling regulatory processes, and conducting sales and
marketing activities, any or all of which may adversely affect our ability to commercialize any biopharmaceuticals
that we may develop.

We have hired experienced clinical development, regulatory, and marketing staff to develop and
supervise our clinical trials, regulatory processes, and sales and marketing activities. However, we will
remain dependent upon third party contract research organizations to carry out some of our clinical and
pre-clinical research studies for the foreseeable future. As a result, we have had and will continue to have
less control over the conduct of the clinical trials, the timing and completion of the trials, the required
reporting of adverse events and the management of data developed through the trials than would be the
case if we were relying entirely upon our own staff. Communicating with outside parties can also be
challenging, potentially leading to mistakes as well as difficulties in coordinating activities. Qutside parties
may have staffing difficulties, may undergo changes in priorities or may become financially distressed,
adversely affecting their willingness or ability to conduct our trials. We may also experience unexpected
cost increases that are beyond our control. Problems with the timeliness or quality of the work of a contract
research organization may lead us to seek to terminate the relationship and use an alternative service
provider. However, changing our service provider may be costly and may delay our trials, and contractual
restrictions may make such a change difficult or impossible. Additionally, it may be impossible to find a
replacement organization that can conduct our trials in an acceptable manner and at an acceptable cost.

Similarly, we may be unable to enter into third party arrangements for the marketing and sale of
biopharmaceuticals on acceptable terms. For certain products, we may incur substantial expenses to
develop our own marketing and sales force in order to commercialize our biopharmaceuticals and our
efforts may not be successful or the product may not be approved.

As a result we may experience delays in the commercialization of our biopharmaceuticals and we may
be unable to compete effectively.

Because we currently lack the resources, capability and experience necessary to manufacture biopharmaceuticals,
we will depend on third parties to perform this function, which may adversely affect our ability to commercialize
any biopharmaceuticals we may develop,

We do not currently operate manufacturing facilities for the clinical or commercial production of
biopharmaceuticals. We also lack the resources, capability and experience necessary to manufacture
biopharmaceuticals. As a result, we will depend on collaborators, partners, licensees and other third parties
to manufacture clinical and commercial scale quantities of our biopharmaceutical candidates. If we enter
into these types of third party arrangements, then we will be dependent on the efforts of others, which if
not successful could result in decreased revenue to us.

To date we have identified only a few facilities that are capable of producing material for pre-clinical
and clinical studies and we cannot assure you that they will be able to supply sufficient clinical materials
during the clinical development of our biopharmaceutical candidates. There is no assurance that
contractors will have the capacity to manufacture or test our products at the required scale and within the
required time frame. There is no assurance that the supply of clinical materials can be maintained during
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the clinical development of our biopharmaceutical candidates. We will also be dependent on contract
manufacturers to produce and test any biopharmaceuticals that are approved for market.

Paul Royalty is entitled to a significant portion of our LFRP revenues, which may limit our ability to fund some of
our operations.

Under the terms of our Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement with Paul Royalty, Paul Royalty is
entitled to receive a percentage of net revenues, including all royalties, milestones, and license fees
receivable by Dyax under its phage display Licensing and Funded Research Program (LFRP).

The exact amount of net revenues due to Paul Royalty is based on a specified percentage of net
revenues and is subject to a guaranteed minimum. These percentages range from 70% to 1% on different
tiers of the annual net LFRP receipts. These percentages will increase on a pro rata basis if Dyax is eligible
for and exercises its option to require an additional $5 million investment by Paul Royalty. Annual
guaranieed minimum payments to Paul Royalty start at $1.75 million through 2007 and increase to
$3.5 miltion in 2008 and 2009, $6.0 million for years 2010 through 2013 and $7.0 million for years 2014
through 2017. Paul Royalty’s rights to receive these payments continues for the 10-year term of the
agreement, which includes an option under which Paul Royalty can extend this term for two additional
years depending upon the financial performance of the LFRP. Upon termination of the agreement, all
rights to LFRP receipts will revert to Dyax.

The revenues from the LFRP have historically been used to fund our ongoing operations. We cannot
guarantee that the upfront payment that we received for these revenues will be sufficient to replace these
revenues over the term of the agreement with Paul Royalty. In addition, if the LFRP fails to generate
sufficient revenue to fund the annual guaranieced minimum payments to Paul Royalty, we will be required
to fund such obligations out of operating cash, further decreasing the funds available to operate its
business. These and other obligations to Paul Royalty may hinder or prevent our ability to achieve our
financial or operating objectives.

Under certain circumstances, Paul Royalty can require us to repurchase its royalty interest at substantial prices,
the payment of which may significantly deplete our cash resources, limit our ability to enter into significant
business transactions or may make us a less attractive acquisition candidate.

Under the terms of our Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement with Paul Royalty, Paul Royalty is
entitled to require us to repurchase its royalty interest under the following circumstances: (i) a change in
control of Dyax, (ii) a bankruptcy event, (iii) a transfer by us of a majority of our assets that has a material
effect on either the net present value of the projected LFRP receipts or our ability to pay the minimum
guaranteed payments, (iv) a transfer by us of any part of the assets supporting the LFRP program other
than in the ordinary course of business, or {v) any breach of certain material covenants and representations
in the agreement.

Under these circumstances Paul Royalty can require us to repurchase its royalty interest, at a
repurchase price equal to the greater of (a) 200% of the cumulative payments made by Paul Royalty under
the agreement less the cumulative payments previously received by Paul Royalty from the LFRP or (b) the
amount which will provide Paul Royalty, when taken together with the royalties previously paid, a specified
rate of return of 25%.

In addition, in the event of breaches of certain other representations or covenants or the happening of
certain other events that have a material adverse effect on projected revenues under the LFRP, Paul
Royalty has the right to require us to repurchase from Paul Royaity its royalty interest at lower but still
significant prices. If Paul Royalty requires us to repurchase its royalty interest, it is likely to have a material
adverse effect on our ability to fund our operations and could cause us to become insolvent. Since certain
events related to but prior to a formal bankruptcy filing could trigger a repurchase event, the exercise of
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the repurchase option by Paul Royalty in such circumstances may increase the likelihood that we will need
to file for bankruptcy protection.

Additionally, because Paul Royalty is entitled to exercise its repurchase right upon a change of
control, or upon the sale of the LFRP program or its assets, we may not be able to effect an otherwise
attractive business transaction that would have one of these results and it will make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if the acquisition attempt was at a premium over the market value of our
common stock at that time.

Product liability and other claims against us may reduce demand for our product candidates or result in
substantial damages.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to testing our product candidates in
human clinical trials and will face even greater risks if we sell our product candidates commercially. An
individual may bring a product liability claim against us if one of our product candidates causes, or merely
appears to have caused, an injury. Moreover, in some of our clinical trials, we test our product candidates
in indications where the onset of certain symptoms or “attacks” could be fatal. Although the protocols for
these trials include emergency treatments in the event a patient appears to be suffering a potentially fatal
incident, patient deaths may nonetheless occur. As a result, we may face additional liability if are found or
alleged to be responsible for any such deaths.

These types of product liability claims may result in:
e decreased demand for our product candidates;
* injury to our reputation;

o  withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers;

+ related litigation costs; and

e  substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs.

If we fail to establish and maintain strategic license, research and collaborative relationships, or if our
collaborators are not able to successfully develop and commercialize product candidates, our ability to generate
revenues could be adversely affected.

Our business strategy includes leveraging some of our product candidates, as well as our proprietary
phage display technology, through collaborations and licenses that are structured to generate revenues
through license fees, technical and clinical milestone payments, and royalties. For us to continue to receive
any significant payments from our licenses and collaborations and generate sufficient revenues to meet the
minimum required payments under our agreement with Paul Royalty, the relevant product candidates
must advance through clinical trials, establish safety and efficacy, and achieve regulatory approvals and
market acceptance. In general, however, under our existing license and collaboration agreements, our
licensees and collaborators:

e are not obligated to develop or market product candidates discovered using our phage display
technology;

e may pursue alternative technologies or develop competing products;

o control many of the decisions with respect to research, clinical trials and commercialization of
product candidates we discover or develop with them;

« may terminate their collaborative arrangements with us under specified circumstances, including,
for example, a change of control, with short notice; and

e may disagree with us as to whether a milestone or royalty payment is due or as to the amount that
is due under the terms of our collaborative arrangements.
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We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our current licensing and collaborative efforts
nor can we assure the success of any current or future licensing and collaborative relationships. If any
significant portion of our licensing and collaborative efforts fail, our business and financial condition would
be materially harmed.

We and our collaborators may not be able to gain market acceptance of our biopharmaceuticals, which could
adversely affect our revenues,

We cannot be certain that any of our biopharmaceutical candidates, even if successfully approved, will
gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors, pharmaceutical manufacturers or
others. We may not achieve market acceptance even if clinical trials demonstrate safety and efficacy of our
biopharmaceutical candidates and the necessary regulatory and reimbursement approvals are obtained.
The degree of market acceptance of our biopharmaceutical candidates wilt depend on a number of factors,
including:

o their clinical efficacy and safety;

»  their cost-effectiveness;

» their potential advantage over alternative treatment methods;

e their marketing and distribution support;

¢ reimbursement policies of government and third-party payors; and

»  market penetration and pricing strategies of competing and future products.

If our products do not achieve significant market acceptance, our revenues could be adversely
affected.

We have pledged our assets related to the LFRP to Paul Rayalty; therefore, we may not be free to utilize those
assets at our discretion.

Paul Royalty has been granted a security interest in the intellectual property and other assets related
to the LFRP. As a result of the security interest granted to Paul Royalty, we may not sell our rights to part
or all of those assets, or take certain other actions, without first obtaining the permission of Paul Royalty.
This requirement could delay, hinder or condition our ability to enter into corporate partnerships or
strategic alliances with respect to these assets.

Competition and technological change may make our potential products and technologies less attractive or
obsolete.

We compete in industries characterized by intense competition and rapid technological change. New
developments occur and are expected to continue to occur at a rapid pace. Discoveries or commercial
developments by our competitors may render some or all of our technologies, products or potential
products obsolete or non-competitive.

Our principal focus is on the development of therapeutic products. We will conduct research and
development programs to develop and test product candidates and demonstrate to appropriate regulatory
agencies that these products are safe and effective for therapeutic use in particular indications. Therefore
our principal competition going forward, as further described below, will be companies who either are
already marketing products in those indications or are developing new products for those indications.
Many of our competitors have greater financial resources and experience than we do.

For DX-88 as a treatment for HAE, our principal competitors include Jerini AG, Pharming Group
N.V,, Lev Pharmaceuticals, Inc and CSL Behring. CSL Behring currently markets Berinert®, a plasma-
derived C1 esterase inhibitor that is approved for the treatment of HAE in several European countries.
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CSL Behring received an orphan drug designation from the FDA for its ptasma-derived Cl esterase
inhibitor and has initiated a Phase III clinical trial in the United States. Jerini has received orphan drug
designations from both the FDA and EMEA for its bradykinin receptor antagonist, known as icatibant,
which is delivered by subcutaneous injection. Jerini has completed Phase 111 clinical trials with icatibant in
the United States and Europe. Pharming has received orphan drug designations from both the FDA and
EMEA, as well as a fast track designation from the FDA for its recombinant C1 esterase inhibitor.
Pharming has initiated Phase 11 clinical trials in both the US and Europe and in July 2006 announced the
submission of a Marketing Authorization Application to the EMEA. Lev Pharmaceuticals has received
both fast track and orphan drug designations from the FDA for its plasma-derived Cl1 esterase inhibitor
and has completed a Phase III clinical trial in the United States. Other competitors include companies that
market or are developing corticosteroid drugs or other anti-inflammatory compounds.

For DX-88 as a treatment for reducing blood loss in cardiothoracic surgery procedures, our principal
competitors are Bayer AG and Xanodyne Pharmaecuticals, Inc. Bayer currently markets Trasylol®
(aprotinin) and Xanodyne currently markets Amicar® (aminocaproic acid), both of which are used for the
reduction of blood loss during on-pump CTS procedures. A number of other organizations, including
Novo Nordisk A/S and Vanderbilt University, are developing other products for this indication.

For our potential oncology product candidates, including DX-2240, our potential competitors include
numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, most of which have substantially greater financial
resources and experience than we do.

In addition, most large pharmaceutical companies seek to develop orally available small molecule
compounds against many of the targets for which others and we are seeking to develop antibody, peptide
and/or small protein products.

Our phage display technology is one of several technologies available to generate libraries of
compounds that can be used to discover and develop new antibody, peptide and/or small protein products.
The primary competing technology platforms that pharmaceutical, diagnostics and biotechnology
companies use to identify antibodies that bind to a desired target are transgenic mouse technology and the
humanization of murine antibodies derived from hybridomas. Amgen Inc. (as a result of its acquisition of
Abgenix Inc.), Medarex Inc., Genmab A/S, and Protein Design Labs, Inc. are leaders in these technologies.
Further, we license our phage display patents and libraries to other parties in the fields of therapeutics and
diagnostic products on a non-exclusive basis. Our licensees may compete with us in the development of
specific therapeutic and diagnostic products. In particular, Biolnvent International AB, Cambridge
Antibody Technology Group plc (CAT), Morphosys AG and XOMA Ireland Limited, all of which have
licenses to our base technology, compete with us, both to develop therapeutics and to offer research
services to larger pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. Biosite Incorporated, which is also a
patent licensee of ours, has partnered with Medarex, Inc. to combine phage display technology with
transgenic mouse technology to create antibody libraries derived from the RNA of immunized mice. Other
companies are attempting to develop new antibody engineering technology. These include CAT, a wholly
owned subsidiary of AstraZeneca, which is developing ribosomal display technology and antibody mimics,
Diversa Corp., which is developing combinatorial arrays for large-scale screening of antibodies, Domantis
Limited, which makes single domain antibody libraries, and Novagen, Inc., which is developing ¢cDNA
display technology.

In addition, we may experience competition from companies that have acquired or may acquire
technology from universities and other research institutions. As these companies develop their
technologies, they may develop proprietary positions that may prevent us from successfully
commercializing our products.
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Our success depends significantly upon our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our
products and technologies and third parties not obtaining patents that would prevent us from commercializing any
of our products.

We face risks and uncertainties related to our intellectual property rights. For exampte:

* we may be unable to obtain or maintain patent or other intellectual property protection for any
products or processes that we may develop;

» third parties may obtain patents covering the manufacture, use or sale of these products, which
may prevent us from commercializing any of our products under development globally or in
certain regions; or

e our patents or any future patents that we may obtain may not prevent other companies from
competing with us by designing their products or conducting their activities so as to avoid the
coverage of our patents.

Our phage display patent rights are central to our non-exclusive patent licensing program. As part of
that licensing program, we generally seek to negotiate a phage display license agreement with parties
practicing technology covered by our patents. In countries where we do not have and/or have not applied
for phage display patent rights, we will be unable to prevent others from using phage display or developing
or selling products or technologies derived using phage display. In addition, in jurisdictions where we have
phage display patent rights, we may be unable to prevent others from selling or importing products or
technologies derived elsewhere using phage display. Any inability to protect and enforce our phage display
patent rights, whether by licensing or any invalidity of our patents or otherwise, would negatively affect our
research and revenues.

In all of our activities, we also rely substantially upon proprietary materials, information, trade secrets
and know-how to conduct our research and development activities and to attract and retain collaborators,
licensees and customers. Although we take steps to protect our proprietary rights and information,
including the use of confidentiality and other agreements with our employees and consultants and in our
academic and commercial relationships, these steps may be inadequate, these agreements may be violated,
or there may be no adequate remedy available for a violation. Also, our trade secrets or similar technology
may otherwise become known to, or be independently developed or duplicated by, our competitors.

Before we and our collaborators can market some of our processes or products, we and our
collaborators may need to obtain licenses from other parties who have patent or other intellectual property
rights covering those processes or products. Third parties have patent rights related to phage display,
particularly in the area of antibodies. While we have gained access to key patents in the antibody area
through the cross licenses with Affimed Therapeutics AG, Affitech AS, Biosite Incorporated, Cambridge
Antibody Technology Limited, Domantis Limited, Genentech, Inc. and XOMA Ireland Limited, other
third party patent owners may contend that we need a license or other rights under their patents in order
for us to commercialize a process or product. In addition, we may choose to license patent rights from
other third parties. In order for us to commercialize a process or product, we may need to license the
patent rights of other parties. If a third party does not offer us a needed license or offers us a license only
on terms that are unacceptable, we may be unable to commercialize one or more of our products. If a third
party does not offer a needed license to our collaborators and as a result our collaborators stop work under
their agreement with us, we might lose future milestone payments and royalties, which would adversely
affect us and our ability to meet our obligation to Paul Royalty. If we decide not to seek a license, or if
licenses are not available on reasonable terms, we may become subject to infringement claims or other
legal proceedings, which could result in substantial legal expenses. If we are unsuccessful in these actions,
adverse decisions may prevent us from commercializing the affected process or products.
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We seek affirmative rights of license or ownership under existing patent rights relating to phage
display technology of others. For example, through our patent licensing program, we have secured a
limited freedom to practice some of these patent rights pursuant to our standard license agreement, which
contains a covenant by the licensee that it will not sue us under certain of the licensee’s phage display
improvement patents. We cannot guarantee, however, that we will be successful in enforcing any
agreements from our licensees, including agreements not to sue under their phage display improvement
patents, or in acquiring similar agreements in the future, or that we will be able to obtain commercially
satisfactory licenses to the technology and patents of others. If we cannot obtain and maintain these
licenses and enforce these agreements, this could have a negative effect on our business.

Proceedings to obtain, enforce or defend patents and to defend against charges of infringement are time
consuming and expensive activities. Unfavorable outcomes in these proceedings could limit our patent rights and
our activities, which could materially affect our business.

Obtaining, protecting and defending against patent and proprictary rights can be expensive. For
example, if a competitor files a patent application claiming technology also invented by us, we may have to
participate in an expensive and time-consuming interference proceeding before the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office to address who was first to invent the subject matter of the claim and whether that
subject matter was patentable. Moreover, an unfavorable outcome in an interference proceeding could
require us to cease using the technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our
business would be harmed if a prevailing third party does not offer us a license on terms that are
acceptable to us.

In patent offices outside the United States, we may be forced to respond to third party challenges to
our patents. For example, our first phage display patent in Europe, European Patent No. 436,597, known
as the 597 Patent, was ultimately revoked in 2002 in proceedings in the European Patent Office. We have
two divisional patent applications of the 597 Patent pending in the European Patent Office. We will not be
able to prevent other parties from using our phage display technology in Europe if the European Patent
Office does not grant us another patent. We cannot be assured that we will prevail in the prosecution of
cither of these patent applications.

The issues relating to the validity, enforceability and possible infringement of our patents present
complex factual and legal issues that we periodically reevaluate. Third parties have patent rights related to
phage display, particularly in the area of antibodies. While we have gained access to key patents in the
antibody area through our cross-licensing agreement with Affimed, Affitech, Biosite, Domantis,
Genentech, XOMA and CAT, other third party patent owners may contend that we need a license or other
rights under their patents in order for us to commercialize a process or product. In addition, we may
choose to license patent rights from third parties. While we believe that we will be able to obtain any
needed licenses, we cannot assure that these licenses, or licenses to other patent rights that we identify as
necessary in the future, will be available on reasonable terms, if at all. If we decide not to seek a license, or
if licenses are not available on reasonable terms, we may become subject to infringement claims or other
legal proceedings, which could result in substantial legal expenses. If we are unsuccessful in these actions,
adverse decisions may prevent us from commercializing the affected process or products. Moreover, if we
are unable to maintain the covenants with regard to phage display improvements that we obtain from our
licensees through our patent licensing program and the licenses that we have obtained to third party phage
display patent rights it could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We would expect to incur substantial costs in connection with any other litigation or patent
proceeding. In addition, our management’s efforts would be diverted, regardless of the results of the
litigation. An unfavorable result could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties, require us to cease
manufacturing or selling the affected products or using the affected processes, require us to license the
disputed rights from third parties or result in awards of substantial damages against us. Our business will
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be harmed if we cannot obtain a license, can obtain a license only on terms we consider to be unacceptable
or if we are unable to redesign our products or processes to avoid infringement.

In all of our activities, we substantially rely on proprietary materials and information, trade secrets .
and know-how to conduct research and development activities and to attract and retain collaborative
partners, licensees and customers. Although we take steps to protect these materials and information,
including the use of confidentiality and other agreements with our employees and consultants in both
academic and commercial relationships, we cannot assure you that these steps will be adequate, that these
agreements will not be violated, or that there will be an available or sufficient remedy for any such
violation, or that others wili not also develop similar proprietary information.

Our revenues and operating results have fluctuated significantly in the past, and we expect this to confinue in the
Juture.

Our revenues and operating results have fluctuated significantly on a quarter to quarter basis. We
expect these fluctuations to continue in the future. Fluctuations in revenues and operating results will
depend on:

¢ the timing of our increased research and development expenses;
¢ the establishment of new collaborative and licensing arrangements;

e the effect of the reduction in receipts that we will receive from our licensing and funded research
program as a result of our agreement with Paul Royalty;

¢ the timing and results of clinical trials;
* the development and marketing programs of current and prospective collaborators; and
¢ the completion of certain milestones.

If the revenues we receive are less than the revenues we expect for a given fiscal period, then we may
be unable to reduce our expenses quickly enough to compensate for the shortfall. Our revenues in any
period are not a reliable indicator of our future performance. In addition, our fluctuating revenues and
operating results may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors. Our failure to meet
these expectations may cause the price of our common stock to decline.

If we lose or are unable to hire and retain qualified personnel, then we may not be able to develop our products or
processes.

We are highly dependent on qualified scientific and management personnel, and we face intense
competition from other companies and research and academic institutions for qualified personnel. If we
lose an executive officer, a manager of one of our principal business units or research programs, or a
significant number of any of our staff or are unable to hire and retain qualified personnel, then our ability
to develop and commercialize our products and processes may be delayed or prevented.

We use and generate hazardous materials in our business, and any claims relating to the improper handling,
storage, release or disposal of these materials could be time-consuming and expensive.

Our phage display research and development involves the controlled storage, use and disposal of
chemicals and solvents, as well as biological and radioactive materials. We are subject to foreign, federal,
state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture and storage and the handling and
disposal of materials and waste products. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling and
disposing of these hazardous materials comply with the standards prescribed by laws and regulations, we
cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from hazardous materials. If an accident
occurs, an injured party could seek to hold us liable for any damages that result and any liability could
exceed the limits or fall outside the coverage of our insurance. We may not be able to maintain insurance
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on acceptable terms, or at all. We may incur significant costs to comply with current or future
environmental laws and regulations.

We may have significant product liability exposure.

We face exposure to product liability and other claims if products or processes are alleged to have
caused harm. These risks are inherent in the testing, manufacturing and marketing of human therapeutic
products. Although we currently maintain product liability insurance, we may not have sufficient insurance
coverage, and we may not be able to obtain sufficient coverage at a reasonable cost. Qur inability to obtain
product liability insurance at an acceptable cost or to otherwise protect against potential product liability
claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of any products that we or our collaborators develop.
If we are sued for any injury caused by our products or processes, then our liability could exceed our
product liability insurance coverage and our total assets.

Our business is subject to risks associated with international operations and collaborations.

We receive product development and license fees from international collaborations. For the year
ended December 31, 2006, we earned revenue of approximately $6.9 million from non-US based
companies. All of our revenue contracts are paid in US dollars. We expect that international product
development and license fees will continue to account for a significant percentage of our revenues for the
foreseeable future. In addition, we have direct investments in subsidiaries located in the European Union.
Our operations could be limited or disrupted, and the value of our direct investments may be diminished,
by any of the following:

¢ fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

« the imposition of governmental controls;

» less favorable intellectual property or other applicable laws;

o the inability to obtain any necessary foreign regulatory approvals of products in a timely manner;
« import and export license requirements;

s  political instability;

e terrorist activities; and

« difficulties in staffing and managing international operations.

A portion of our business is conducted in currencies other than our reporting currency, the
U.S. dollar. We recognize foreign currency gains or losses arising from our operations in the period in
which we incur those gains or losses. As a result, currency fluctuations among the U.S. dollar and the
currencies in which we do business have caused foreign currency transaction gains and losses in the past
and will likely do so in the future. Because of the variability of currency exposures and the potential
volatility of currency exchange rates, we may suffer significant foreign currency transaction losses in the
future due to the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on our future operating results.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional
expenses.

Keeping abreast of, and in compliance with, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to
corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of 2002, new SEC
regulations, and NASDAQ Global Market rules, have required an increased amount of management
attention and external resources. We intend to invest all reasonably necessary resources to comply with
evolving corporate governance and public disclosure standards, and this investment may result in increased
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general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from revenue-
generating activities to compliance activities.

We may not succeed in acquiring technology and integrating complementary businesses.

We may acquire additional technology and complementary businesses in the future. Acquisitions
involve many risks, any one of which could materially harm our business, including:

¢ the diversion of management’s attention from core business concerns;

» the failure to exploit effectively acquired technologies or integrate successfully the acquired
businesses;

o the loss of key employees from either our current business or any acquired businesses; and
¢ the assumption of significant liabilities of acquired businesses.

We may be unable to make any future acquisitions in an effective manner. In addition, the ownership
represented by the shares of our common stock held by our existing stockholders will be diluted if we issue
equity securities in connection with any acquisition. If we make any significant acquisitions using cash
consideration, we may be required to use a substantial portion of our available cash. If we issue debt
securities to finance acquisitions, then the debt holders would have rights senior to the holders of shares of
our common stock to make claims on our assets and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations,
including out ability to pay dividends on our shares of common stock. Acquisition financing may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we may be required to amortize significant amounts of
intangible assets in connection with future acquisitions. We might also have to recognize significant
amounts of goodwill that will have to be tested periodically for impairment. These amounts could be
significant, which could harm our operating resuits.

Our common stock may continue to have a volatile public trading price and low trading volume.

The market price of our common stock has been highly volatile. Since our initial public offering in
August 2000 through February 28, 2007, the price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market
has ranged between $54.12 and $1.05. The market has experienced significant price and volume
fluctuations for many reasons, some of which may be unrelated to our operating performance.

Many factors may have a negative effect on the market price of our common stock, including:
¢ public announcements by us, our competitors or others;
» developments concerning proprietary rights, including patents and litigation matters;

s  publicity regarding actual or potential results with respect to products or compounds we or our
collaborators are developing;

¢ regulatory developments in both the United States and abroad,;
+  public concern about the safety or efficacy of new technologies;

»  general market conditions and comments by securities analysts; and

quarterly fluctuations in our revenues and financial results.

26




Anti-takeover provisions in our governing documents and under Delaware law and our shareholder rights plan
may make an acquisition of us more difficult.

We are incorporated in Delaware. We are subject to various legal and contractual provisions that may
make a change in control of us more difficult. Our board of directors has the flexibility to adopt additional
anti-takeover measures.

Our charter authorizes our board of directors to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to
determine the terms of those shares of stock without any further action by our stockholders. If the board of
directors exercises this power to issue preferred stock, it could be more difficult for a third party to acquire
a majority of our outstanding voting stock. Our charter also provides staggered terms for the members of
our board of directors. This may prevent stockholders from replacing the entire board in a single proxy
contest, making it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us without the consent of our board
of directors. Our equity incentive plans generally permit our board of directors to provide for acceleration
of vesting of options granted under these plans in the event of certain transactions that result in a change
of control. If our board of directors used its authority to accelerate vesting of options, then this action
could make an acquisition more costly, and it could prevent an acquisition from going forward. Our
shareholder rights plan could result in the significant dilution of the proportionate ownership of any
person that engages in an unsolicited attempt to take over our company and, accordingly, could discourage
potential acquirers.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits a corporation from engaging in a
business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock until the holder has held the
stock for three years unless, among other possibilities, the board of directors approves the transaction. Our
board of directors could use this provision to prevent changes in management.

The provisions described above, as well as other provisions in our charter and bylaws and under the
Delaware General Corporation Law, may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire our company,
even if the acquisition attempt was at a premium over the market value of our common stock at that time.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In June of 2001, we signed a ten-year lease with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) for
office space in the building known as 300 Technology Square in Cambridge, Massachusetts. This building,
which was sold by MIT to ARE-Tech Square, LLC in June of 2006, serves as our corporate headquarters
and main research facility. Currently, we lease approximately 67,000 square feet. We are obligated to lease
approximately 24,000 square feet of additional space on November 1, 2007, which we expect to sublease to
the two tenants currently occupying such space. Under the terms being finalized with these tenants, both
subleases will expire on October 31, 2009. We have the option to extend our lease for two additional five-
year terms. We have provided the lessor with a Letter of Credit in the amount of $4.3 million, which may
be reduced after the fifth year of the lease term. Through our subsidiary, Dyax S.A., we maintain
10,000 square feet of leased laboratory and office space in Liege, Belgium to support our research efforts.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
During the quarter ended December 31, 2006, no matters were submitted to a vote of security holders
through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise. -
PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SECURITY HOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol DYAX. As of
March 7, 2007, there were 48,159,287 shares of our common stock outstanding, which were held by
approximately 218 common stockholders of record.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low selling prices for our
common stock as reported on NASDAQ Global Market:

High Low

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2006:
F T e A 1T o (= A P N $638 $4.82
Second QUarter ... ...t et $5.87 $2.63
Third QUarter . .ottt e e et $£3.63 3263
Fourth QuUarter. . ..ottt e e et e $3.65 §$285
_High _Low

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2005:
First QUamter. « . it i et e et $7.53 $3.15
Second QUarter . ..ot e i e i et $5.600 $3.04
Thitd QUarEr . ...ttt ettt e a i e $6.82 $4.57
Fourth Quartet. . ...ttt e i i aeee, $5.79 $3.98

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain our
future earnings, if any, for use in our business and therefore do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Payment of future dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors
after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition, operating results, current and
anticipated cash needs and plans for expansion.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL'DATA B ' o

The following table summarizes certain selected consolidated financial data, which should be read in
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
Form 10-K. The selected consolidated financial data at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 have been prepared from our audited financial statements and
the selected consolidated financial data at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and for the vears ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been prepared from our audited financial statements not included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated financial data at December 31, 2002 has
been prepared from our accounting records. On October 29, 2003, we completed the sale of our wholly
owned separations product subsidiary known as Biotage. The following data includes all activities of
Biotage presented as discontinued operations.

" December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Product development and license fee revenues. . . .. $ 12,776 § 19,858 § 16,590 $ 16,853 §% 17,750
Research and development:
Research and development expenses .. ... .. 53,637 47,376 39,432 29,990 28,713

Less research and development expenses
reimbursed by joint venture (Dyax-

Genzyme LLC) ................ ... {16,100) (20,688) {10,408) (5.203) —_
Net research and development _............ 37,537 26,688 29.024 24,787 28,713
Equity loss in joint venture {Dyax-
Genzyme LLC) . ........... ... .. 0 0L 10,352 11,952 5,988 2,243 —
General and administrative expenses .......... 14,658 12,784 14,451 13,205 14,882
Total operaling €Xpenses. .. ....oocvvvnirvnens 62,547 51,424 49,463 40,235 43,595
Loss fromoperations. . . ............c.cooeenna.. (49,771) (31,565) (32,873) (23,382) (25,845)
Other (expense) income, net. .................. (552) 621 {241) (1,112) {795}
Loss from continuing operations. . . ............. (50,323) (30,944) (33,114) (24,494) (26,640}
Gain on sale of Biotage, netoftax .............. — —_ _ 18,959 —
Loss from discontinued operations of Biotage, net of
B - ittt s — — — (1,880) (178)
NEELOSS « v e eveseee et e e eeeae s $ (50323) $ (30944) § (33,114) § (7415} $ (26,818)
Basic and diluted loss per share:
Loss from continuing operations. . ............ $ (1.18) § 08N § (1.06) § (1.04) 3 (1.35)
Gainonsaleof Biotage . . ................... — — — 0.81 —
Loss from discontinued operations of Biotage . . . — — — {0.08) (0.01)
Netloss ....oooviiiiiini e, $ (118} § (0.87y § (1.06) $ {0.31) § {1.36)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss
pershare. ... ... i 42,532,466 35,455,782 31,207,218 23,546,524 19,652,474
December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
{In thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents. . ................. .. $ 11,295 § 8640 % 6978 §$ 36508 §$§ 28,199
Short-term investments. . .. ....veveeeneerenens 47,169 42,024 50,163 — —
Long-term investments . . .....covven e 1,992 — — — —
Workingeapital. . ........oii i 46,369 41,756 46,832 27,219 14,095
Total aSSet8 . . .. vvvveiinnnnnn i 88,173 75,917 82,760 74,187 76,042
Long-term obligations, less current portion . ...... 40,210 9,819 10,645 10,648 13,809
Accumulated deficit ............. ... ... (232,623) (182,300) (151,356) (118,242) (110,827)
Total stockholders" equity. .. .................. 23,461 40,938 47,831 33,945 30,843
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization
of novel biotherapeutics for unmet medical needs, with an emphasis on oncology and inflammatory
indications. We use our proprietary drug discovery technology, known as phage display, to identify
antibody, small protein and peptide compounds for clinical development.

Our lead product candidate, DX-88 (ecallantide), is a recombinant form of a small protein that is
currently in clinical trials for its therapeutic potential in two separate indications. The first such indication
involves the use of DX-88 in the treatment of hereditary angioedema (HAE). In this indication, we have
successfully completed three Phase I trials and, in November 2006, we treated our last patient in a Phase
III trial, known as EDEMAS3. Additionally, we plan to initiate a confirmatory trial, known as EDEMA4,
starting in the first quarter of 2007. DX-88 has orphan drug designation in the U.S. and E.U., as well as
Fast Track designation in the U.S. for the treatment of acute attacks of HAE.

In the second indication for DX-88, we have successfully completed a Phase I/11 trial for the
prevention of blood loss during on-pump coronary artery bypass graft, or CABG surgery. Dyax has also
initiated a Phase II trial for further development of DX-88 in patients undergoing what is more broadly
defined as on-pump cardiothoracic surgery, or on-pump CTS, which includes on-pump CABG surgery and
heart valve replacement and repair procedures.

In addition to cur clinical stage programs, we have 14 other product candidates in our discovery and
development pipeline, two of which are currently in preclinical development. The most advanced of these
product candidates is DX-2240), a fully human monoclonal antibody that targets the Tie-1 receptor, a
protein receptor that we believe is important in the process of blood vessel formation known as
angiogenesis. DX-2240 offers a novel mechanism of action for inhibiting tumor growth, which we believe
may have potential application in the treatment of various types of cancer.

All of the compounds in our pipeline were discovered using our proprietary phage display technology
which rapidly generates product candidates that bind with high affinity and specificity to therapeutic
targets. Although we use this technology primarily to advance our own internal development activities, we
also leverage it broadly through licenses and collaborations so that other bicpharmaceutical and
pharmaceutical companies can use the technology to discover and develop biopharmaceutical leads.
Through this program, which we refer to as our Licensing and Funded Research Program (LFRP), we
maintain more than 70 revenue generating licenses and collaborations. Under the LFRP, our licensees and
collaborators have 13 product candidates in clinical trials that were generated from our technology and we
estimate that over 70 additional product candidates are in various stages of discovery research. We are
entitled to receive milestones and/or royalties from our licensees and collaborators to the extent that any of
these product candidates advance in development and are ultimately commercialized. During 2006, we
monetized and sold a portion of the future revenues generated through the LFRP to an affiliate of Paul
Capital Partners for $30 million in upfront cash with an option for an additional $5 million if the LFRP
achieves specified revenue levels by the end of 2008.

Our business strategy is to build a broad portfolio of biotherapeutic products developed using our
proprietary phage display technology. In the near term, we expect to focus our efforts on completing the
clinical development of DX-88 for the treatment of HAE. In addition, we are moving forward on the
clinical development of DX-88 as a treatment for patients undergoing on-pump CTS, and will be in a
position to advance one other product candidate into the clinic in 2007. In the long term, we expect that
we, together with our licensees and collaborators, will continue to use our technology and expertise to
develop and commercialize new therapeutic product candidates.
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We continued to incur losses in 2006 and expect to incur significant operating losses over at least the
next several years. We do not expect to generate profits unless and until the therapeutic products from our
development portfolio reach the market, which can only occur after being subjected to the uncertainties of
the regulatory approval process.

Clinical Development Programs

DX-88 for HAE. We are developing DX-88 as a treatment for HAE. Through February 20, 2007, all
development activities were conducted in collaboration with Genzyme Corporation and managed through
Dyax-Genzyme LLC, a jointly owned limited liability company. On February 20, 2007, we reached a
mutual agreement with Genzyme to terminate our collaboration. See Footnote 12 “Investment in Joint
Venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) and Other Related Party Transactions” for additional information
regarding this agreement. As a result, we now own all of the rights to DX-88 worldwide, and will be solely
responsible for the future development of DX-88 for HAE.

In May 2004, we successfully completed a Phase 11, 48 patient, dose-escalating placebo-controlled
study, known as EDEMAL. In January 2006, we treated our last patient in a third Phase I trial, known as
EDEMAZ2, and we commenced a placebo-controlled, worldwide, multi-center Phase III trial, known as
EDEMAZ3, at the end of 2005. In November 2006 we treated the last patient in the EDEMAS trial. In
connection with the commencement of this trial in December 2005, we received a $3.0 million milestone
payment from Genzyme. All of the clinical trials that we conducted in HAE during 2006 utilized a 30 mg
subcutaneous dose, which was changed from an earlier intravenous method. We expect to seek marketing
approval using this dosing level and route of administration.

As a result of recent discussions with the FDA, we plan to complete a confirmatory placebo-controlled
trial, known as EDEMAAJ, which we expect to start in the first quarter of 2007. This trial is intended to
further support the validity of the patient reported outcome (PRQ) methodology used in the EDEMA3
trial and confirm the efficacy and safety of DX-88. In addition, an open label continuation study will be
conducted to augment our clinical data with respect to DX-88. In light of these trials and based upon our
recent discussions with the FDA, we are now estimating regulatory approval in the U.S. in late 2008,
followed by approval in the European Union. We estimate the total remaining costs to commercialization
to be in the range of $70 million to $80 million. As a result of the termination of our collaboration with
Genzyme, we will be responsible for funding all of these costs. Under the terms of the termination
agreement, we received all of the assets of Dyax-Genzyme LLC, including $17.0 million of cash from a
payment made by Genzyme to the LLC in connection with the termination, which will be used to partially
offset these costs.

The following table illustrates the activity associated with DX-88 for HAE included in our
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
{In thousands)

DX-88 for HAE costs included within research and development expenses in the

consolidated statements of operations and comprehensiveloss. . ........... $ 15,808 § 20,537 § 10,440
Less research and development expenses reimbursed by joint venture (Dyax-

Genzyme LLC) per the consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive loss . ... ... (16,100  (20,688) (10,408)
Net research and development expenses for DX-88forHAE. . ............... (292) (151) 32
Equity loss in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) separately classified within the

consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss . ............ 10,352 11,952 5,988
Net loss on DX-88 for HAE Program . .. .......oiviinrenneeannninananrns $ 10,060 § 11,801 §$ 6,020
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Pursuant to an agreement reached with Genzyme in August 2006, we assumed responsibility for the
first $14.5 million of manufacturing costs for a series of consecutive manufacturing batches, known as the
validation campaign, which will validate the manufacturing process of DX-88 for regulatory purposes and
provide material for further clinical studies. This arrangement was designed to ensure us an adequate
supply of DX-88 drug substance for programs outside of the Dyax-Genzyme LLC, specifically for our
independently conducted program to develop DX-88 for on-pump CTS procedures. Since these costs were
not solely related to the use of DX-88 for HAE, they were not captured in research and development
expenses for the DX-88 for HAE program, nor were they reimbursable by the joint venture when they
occurred. Instead, under the terms of this arrangement, we agreed to supply the DX-88 drug substance to
the Dyax-Genzyme LLC upon request, at which point the cost of such product would become a research
and development expense on the DX-88 for HAE program and reimbursable by the joint venture, This
arrangement ended in connection with the termination of the collaboration on February 20, 2007,

During 2006, our research and development expenses on the DX-88 for HAE program totaled
$15.8 million compared with $20.5 million in 2005 and $10.4 million in 2004. These expenses decreased
$4.7 million in 2006 over 2005 because expenses related to the manufacture of DX-88 were not included
as DX-88 for HAE costs in 2006. In 2005, approximately $8.0 million of expenses were incurred to
manufacture DX-88 specifically for the HAE program. The decrease related to manufacturing was offset
by an aggregate increase of $3.3 million in clinical trial and internal costs over the same period.

Research and development expenses increased in 2005 over 2004 principally due to increased activity
in the areas of manufacturing and clinical trial costs.

Dyax-Genzyme LLC became responsible for the reimbursement of all development expenses related
to the HAE program incurred after the 2003 completion of the first Phase II clinical trial for HAE. During
2006, Dyax-Genzyme LLC reimbursed us for $16.1 million of our research and development expenses. This
reimbursement is recorded as research and development expenses reimbursed by joint venture (Dyax-
Genzyme LLC) in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. During 2007 we will
be reimbursed by Genzyme for its share of expenses for the HAFE program that were incurred before the
termination of the joint venture on February 20, 2007. This reimbursement will be in addition to the
$17.0 million for future costs that Genzyme paid to the Dyax-Genzyme L1.C in connection with the
termination of the joint venture.

Dyax-Genzyme LLC had net losses of approximately $20.7 million, $23.9 million and $12.2 miilion for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. These losses represent the total research
and development expenses incurred by Dyax and Genzyme on DX-88 for HAE. Qur portion of the losses,
accounted for under the equity method, were $10.4 million, $12.0 million and $6.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively and were proportional to our 50.01% financial
interest in the program before the termination of the joint venture. Our portions of the losses, referred to
as our equity loss in joint venture, is separately classified within our consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss,

See Footnote 12 “Investment in Joint Venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) and Other Related Party
Transactions” of Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for summary financial
information and other disclosures regarding Dyax-Genzyme LLC, and for a detailed explanation of the
termination of our collaboration with Genzyme. Separate Financial Information for Dyax-Genzyme L1.C
is also included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 10-K.

DX-88 for On-Pump CTS. We are developing DX-88 as a treatment for patients undergoing on-pump
cardiothoracic surgery (on-pump CTS), specifically coronary and valve procedures.

Expenses on this program totaled $1.4 million, $858,000 and $3.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in spending from 2005 to 2006 is attributable
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1o increased internal and clinical trial costs related to our initiation of a Phase 11 study to continue
development for this indication. We estimate the total cost of this Phase I1 trial to be approximately

$7 million to $9 million. The proceeds from our March 2006 underwritten public offering provided us the
resources necessary to continue development for this indication.

Goals for Clinical Development Programs. Our goal for both of our ongoing clinical development
programs is to obtain marketing approval from the FDA and analogous international regulatory agencies.
Because of the risks and uncertainties associated with these programs we are unable to accurately predict
the costs to complete the development of DX-88 in the on-pump CTS indication, or whether this program
will be successfully completed at all. These uncertainties include our ongoing clinical trials, our need to
locate a development partner or obtain the additional funding needed to complete clinical trials in the on-
pump CTS program, the preparation and filing of a BLA, the regulatory review process and the risk that
we may have to repeat, revise or expand the scope of trials or conduct additional clinical trials not
presently planned to secure marketing approvals. Material cash inflows for either of these programs other
than milestone payments will not commence until after marketing approvals are obtained, and then only if
the product candidate finds acceptance in the marketplace as a treatment for its disease indication.
Because of the many risks and uncertainties related to the completion of clinical trials, receipt of
marketing approvals and acceptance in the marketplace, we cannot predict when material cash inflows
from these programs will commence, if ever.

Discovery Programs

Through internal discovery activities and business relationships with academic institutions and
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, we use our proprietary phage display technology in our
research programs to identify compounds with therapeutic and diagnostic potential. In addition to our
clinical stage programs, we have 14 other product candidates in our discovery and development pipeline,
two of which are currently in preclinical development. These programs represented approximately
$36.4 million of our research and development expenses in 2006. We have a total of seven discovery and
development programs underway in oncology, one of which is in collaboration with another organization.
These programs are focused on the discovery and development of therapies that fight cancer primarily in
three ways: inhibiting angiogenesis (the growth of blood vessels), inhibiting proteases believed to be
associated with tumor growth and proliferation, and targeting cell surface and soluble proteins believed to
be over expressed by certain tumors. We also have six discovery and development programs focused on
targets that are believed to be important mediators of inflammation, one of which we are developing in
collaboration with another company. In addition, in collaboration with another company, we have one
discovery and development program focused on an infectious disease target.

Licensing and Funded Research Program

Although our proprietary phage display technology is used primarily to advance our own internal
development activities, we also leverage this technology broadly through our licensing and funded research
program, with more than 70 revenue generating licenses and collaborations. These licenses and
collaborations allow others to gain access to our technology in therapeutic discovery and in non-core areas.
such as diagnostic imaging, research reagents and separations. Currently, our licensees have 13 product
candidates in clinical trials that were generated from our technology and we estimate that over
70 additional product candidates are in various stages of discovery research. These licenses and
collaborations generate revenues for us in the form of license fees, milestones and/or royalties, which we
receive from our licensees and collaborators to the extent that product candidates advance in development
and are ultimately commercialized. During 2006, we sold a portion of the revenues generated through the
LFRP through at least 2017 to an affiliate of Paul Capital Partners for an upfront cash payment of

33




$30 million with an option for an additional $5 million if the LFRP achieves specified revenue levels by the
end of 2008.

Results of Operations

Revenues. Substantially all our revenues have come from licensing, funded research and development
activities, including milestone payments from our licensees and collaborators. These revenues fluctuate
from year to year due to the nature of our agreements. Total revenues for 2006 were $12.8 million,
compared with $19.9 million in 2005 and $16.6 million in 2004,

The decrease of $7.1 million from 2003 to 2006 was related to a $4.7 million decrease in revenues
associated with our former product collaboration with Debiopharm, the recognition of a $3.0 million
milestone received in December 2005 from Genzyme for initiating the EDEMA3 trial of DX-88 for HAE
and a $1.8 million decrease in licensing activities due to the fact that our 2005 license fees included the
recognition of a fully paid $1.5 million patent license option fee. Under our amended agreement with
Debiopharm, signed in December 2005, we are no longer responsible for manufacturing DX-890 for
Debiopharm. However, during 2006, we were reimbursed for the completion of our activities and the
transfer of technology to Debiopharm. The decreases from 2005 to 2006 were partially offset by a
$1.5 million milestone payment received from Debiopharm in December 2005 which was recognized as
revenue in June 2006, and an additional $1.5 million milestone payment received from Debiopharm and
recognized as revenue in July 2006. On July 9, 2006, Debiopharm reached a clinical development milestone
by treating its first patient in a Phase II trial of DX-890 for the treatment of acute respiratory distress
syndrome. The receipt and recognition of clinical milestones received from our collaborators and licensees
may vary substantially from quarter-to-quarter due to the timing of their clinical activities.

The increase in revenues from 2004 to 2005 was due to the recognition of a $3.0 million milestone
received in December 2005 from Genzyme for dosing the first patient in the EDEMAS3 trial of DX-88 for
HAE and a $1.2 million increase in licensing activities. These increases were partially offset by a $908,000
decrease in other funded research and development activities. The net increase in licensing activities in
2005 was due to the receipt of $1.5 million under the fully paid patent license which was partially offset by
a decrease of $293,000 in other licensing activities, The fully paid license fee was immediately recognized
as revenue because we have no future obligations to the licensee. The $908,000 decrease in other funded
research and development activities was due to a $718,000 decrease in revenue arising from our DX-890
product collaboration with Debiopharm and a $190,000 decrease in funded research revenue under
existing and continuing relationships.

Research and Development. Our research and development expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, are summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
{In thousands)

Research and development per consolidated statements of

operations and comprehensive 108s. .. .......oooeveiiiiiil e $ 53,637 $ 47376 §$ 39432
Less research and development expenses reimbursed by joint venture

(Dyax-Genzyme LLC) per consolidated statements of operations

and comprehensive Ioss. .......... o i i e (16,100) (20,688) (10,408)
Net research and development expenses per consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive 1oss ...t 37,537 26,688 29,024

Equity loss in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) separately classified
within the consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive 10ss. .. ... . i i e 10,352 11,952 5,988
Research and development expenses adjusted to include equity loss
INJOINEVenture ... ...ttt e eaaranas $ 47889 §$ 38640 §$ 35012
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Our research and development expenses arise primarily from compensation and other related costs,
including personnel dedicated to research and development activities and from the fees paid and costs
reimbursed to outside professionals to conduct research and clinical trials and to manufacture drug
compounds prior to FDA apprbval. The expenses we incurred during 2004, 2005 and 2006 on the DX-88
program for HAE are included in our overall research and development expenses, but then were
reimbursed by the Dyax-Genzyme LLC joint venture and excluded from net research and development
expenses. However, under the terms of the collaboration agreement with Genzyme, we jointly funded the
losses of that program with Genzyme, so our line item for equity loss in joint venture represents our share
of all expenses for the development of DX-88 for HAE, including any incurred by Genzyme. In addition,
pursuant to an agreement entered into with Genzyme in 2006, we incurred $9.8 million of DX-88
manufacturing expenses that are included in our research and development expenses but were not
reimbursable by the joint venture. Instead we agreed to supply the DX-88 compound to the Dyax-
Genzyme LLC upon request for use in the HAE program prior to the termination of our collaboration on
February 20, 2007,

Combining our net research and development expenses and our equity loss in joint venture to show
our total expenses for research and development, our adjusted net research and development expenses
increased $9.2 million from 2005 to 2006 primarily due to a $10.9 million increases in net research and
development expenses, offset by a $1.6 million decrease in our equity loss in joint venture. The $1.6 million
decrease in our equity loss in joint venture is primarily driven by the timing of manufacturing activities.
The $10.9 million increase in our net research and development expenses is primarily attributable to the
DX-88 manufacturing validation campaign and increased preclinical and small scale manufacturing costs
associated with advancing the formal development of DX-2240. Additionally during the first quarter of
2006 we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” and recorded stock-based compensation expense for 2006 of $2.3 million of
which $1.3 million is included in research and development expenses.

Compared to 2004, the $6.0 million increase in 2005 in our equity loss in joint venture was a result of
increase in manufacturing expenses, preclinical and clinical costs for the development of DX-88 for HAE.
The $2.3 million decrease in net research and development expenses is a result of reduced program costs
associated with the deferral of DX-88 for on-pump CTS$ activities and an $862,000 decrease in program
costs associated with DX-890 product collaboration with Debiopharm, consisting primarily of decreases in
internal resource costs, partially offset by increased manufacturing costs.

Our management believes that the above presentation of adjusted net research and development
expenses, although a non-GAAP measure, provides investors a better understanding of how total research
and development efforts affect our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Our
presentation of this measure, however, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other
companies.

General and Administrative. Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of the costs of
our management and administrative staff, as well as expenses related to business development, protecting
our intellectual property, administrative occupancy, professional fees, market research activities and the
reporting requirements of a public company. Total general and administrative expenses were $14.7 million
in 2006 compared to $12.8 million in 2005 and $14.5 miilion for 2004. The increase of $1.9 million from
2005 to 2006 was due to increases in personnel costs, including $1.0 million of stock-based compensation
expense following the adoption of SFAS 123 (Revised 2004) “Share-Based Payments” {SFAS 123R),
which we adopted effective January 1, 2006.

The decrease of $1.7 miilion from 2004 to 2005 was due to reductions in other professional fees and
marketing expenses. The reductions in other professional fees is attributable to reduced auditing and
consulting fees as a result of gaining efficiencies from year three of our Sarbanes-Oxley 404 compliance
efforts. The decrease in marketing expenses is related to our decision to defer further market research
activities with respect to our DX-88 CABG program at that time.
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Interest Expense. Interest expense increased $2.7 million, from $1.1 million in 2005 to $3.8 million in
2006. This increase is primarily due to interest from our agreement with Paul Royalty. Interest on this
agreement is calculated using the effective interest method based on our expected future payments to Paul
Royalty. See Footnote 6 “Long-term Obligations” of Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” for additional information regarding this agreement.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows {in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
{In thousands)

Netl08S . o e e $(50,323) $(30,944) $(33,114)
Depreciation and amortization ...........ocoi i, 3,455 3,579 3,976
Interest expense on Paul Royalty agreement. ...................... 2,682 — —
Compensation expenses associated with stock-based compensation

DlANS .. e 2,282 24 311
Equity loss in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) ................. 10,352 11,952 5,988
Change in accountsreceivable . ................ .ol (418) 1,382 1,594
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses ................. 2,222 (2,356)  (3,014)
Prepaid research and development, and other assets ............... 2,099 (781) 296
Due from joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LY.C). ... ... ... .. ..., 1,029 (2,202) (255)
Due to joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) ....................... (1,703) 950 —
Deferredrevenuie ... ...t it i {970) 1,110 2,092
QOther changes in operating activities .................coieiee.. (1,847  (1,007) 866
Net cash used in operating activities. . .............covviviinnn..., (31,140) (18,293} (21,260)
Net cash used in investing activities. ................c.coiinon... (23,401) (3,062) (53,157)
Net cash provided by financing activities . ......................... 57,238 23,084 44,907
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances ............. (42) {67) (20)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............... $ 2655 § 1,662 $(29,530)

We require cash to fund our operating expensces, to make capital expenditures, acquisitions and
investments, and to pay debt service. Through December 31, 2006, we have funded our operations
principally through the sale of equity securities, which have provided aggregate net cash proceeds since
inception of approximately $243 million, including net proceeds of $30.2 million from our March 2006
underwritten offering, $23.5 million from our May 2005 registered direct offering, $44.7 million from our
January 2004 underwritten offering, $8.3 million from our March 2003 registered directed offering and
$62.4 million from our August 2000 initial public offering. We also generate funds from biopharmaceutical
product development and license fee revenues, long-term obligations and other sources, such as the
transaction with Paul Royalty that provided us with a $29.5 million net cash payment in exchange for
granting Paul Rovyalty the right to receive a specific percentage of the net royalties, including milestone
fees and other payments, receivable by us under our Licensing and Funded Research Program (LFRP).
As of December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments
aggregating $60.5 miilion. Our excess funds are currently invested in short and long-term investments
primarily consisting of U.S. Treasury notes and bills and money market funds backed by U.S. Treasury
obligations.

Operating activities used cash of approximately $31.1 million in 2006, $18.3 million in 2005 and
$21.3 million in 2004. The increase of $12.8 million from 2005 to 2006 is driven by an increase in our Net
Loss caused by a decrease in revenue from non-recurring milestone payments and an increase in
development expenses. Development expenses increased principally because Dyax assumed $9.8 million
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of DX-88 manufacturing costs outside of Dyax-Genzyme LLC and also increased our investment in
preclinical development of DX-2240 and.other discovery and development programs. The decrease of
$3 million from 2004 to 2005 is primarily due to the receipt of non-recurring milestone payments.

Our cash used in operating activities for 2006 consisted primarily of our net loss of $50.3 million,
partially offset by adjustments for non-cash items, including equity loss in joint venture {Dyax-Genzyme
LLC) of $10.4 million, depreciation and amortization of fixed assets and intangibles totaling $3.5 million,
interest expense related to the Paul Royalty agreement of $2.7 million, compensation expense associated
with stock-based compensation plans totaling $2.3 million, and a net $2.3 million change in operating
assets and liabilities. Our compensation expense associated with stock-based compensation plans is due to
the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” in the first quarter of 2006. The change in operating assets and liabilities
includes an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.2 million, a $2.1 million decrease in
prepaid research and development and other assets, an amount due to (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) totaling
$1.7 million, which is our contribution payable to the LLC to fund a portion of its costs incurred in the
2006, a $1.0 million decrease in deferred revenue, a reimbursement due from the joint venture (Dyax-
Genzyme LLC) totaling $1.0 million, which is our costs incurred on the DX-88 for HAE program during
2006 that have not been reimbursed as of December 31, 2006, and an increase in accounts receivable of
$418,000. '

Our cash used in operating activities for 2005 consisted primarily of our net loss of $30.9 million and a
$2.0 million change in operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by adjustments for non-cash items,
including depreciation and amortization of fixed assets and intangibles totaling $3.6 million and equity loss
in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) of $12.0 million. The change in operating assets and liabilities
includes a reimbursement due from joint venture {Dyax-Genzyme LLC) totaling $2.2 million which
represents costs that we incurred in the DX-88 for HAE program during 2005 that have not been
reimbursed as of December 31, 2005, an amount due to joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) totaling
$950,000, which is our contribution payable to the joint venture to fund a portion of its costs incurred in
2005, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.4 million due primarily to a decrease in
accounts payable of $1.9 million from timing of payments and a decrease in accruals. Additionally, there
was a decrease in accounts receivable of $1.4 million primarily due to a decrease in accounts receivable
from Debiopharm of $1.2 million due to the timing of manufacturing activitics, and an increase in deferred
revenue of $1.1 million.

Our cash used in operating activities for 2004 consisted primarily of our net loss of $33.1 million,
partially offset by adjustments for non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization of fixed assets
and intangibles totaling $4.0 million and equity loss in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC} of $6.0 million,
and a $1.0 million change in operating assets and liabilities. The change in operating asscts and liabilities
includes a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $3.0 million, a decrease in accounts
receivable of $1.6 million and an increase in deferred revenue of $2.1 million.

Investing activities used cash totaling approximately $23.4 million in 2006, $3.1 million in 2005, and
$53.2 million in 2004, Our changes in investing activity from year to year are primarily due to the timing of
the purchase and maturity of our investments. While these changes are reflected in our statement of cash
flows, we do not consider changes between cash and our investments to be material to our business or
financial position. Our investing activities for 2006 also consisted of an increase in restricted cash of
$7.1 million, primarily due to the posting of a $7.2 million letter of credit to securitize our amended and
restated senior secured promissory note with Genzyme. Additionally in 2006, there was a $9.8 million
investment in joint venture, and fixed asset purchases of $1.1 million. In 2005 we contributed $10.8 million
to Dyax-Genzyme LLC and purchased $1.4 million in fixed assets. In 2004 we made our initial purchase of
short-term investments of $51.0 million, we contributed $5.4 million to Dyax-Genzyme LLC and purchased
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$2.3 million in fixed assets. Also'in 2004 we received $5.0 million of cash released from escrow relating to
the sale of Biotage in 2003.

Financing activities provided cash of approximately $57.2 million in 2006, $23.1 million in 2005 and
$44.9 million in 2004. In 2006 we received net proceeds of $30.2 million from an underwritten public
offering, and $29.5 million from Paul Royalty under our Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement, partially
offset by the repayment of long-term obligations of $3.5 million. These funds have allowed us to proceed
with a Phase 1l trial in on-pump CTS surgery as well as move forward our other clinical leads. In 2005 we
received net proceeds of $23.5 million from a registered offering of common stock. We also made
repayments totaling $1.9 million on long-term obligations. In 2004 we received net proceeds of
$44.7 million from a registered offering of common stock. Proceeds from the issuance of common stock
under the employee stock option plan and exercise of stock options totaled $2.1 million. We also collected
proceeds from long-term obligations of $1.4 million and made repayments of long-term obligations of
$3.3 million.

We have financed fixed asset purchases through capital leases and debt. Capital lease obligations are
collateralized by the assets under lease.

In conjunction with our collaboration agreement with Genzyme for the development of DX-88,
Genzyme loaned us $7.0 million pursuant to a senior secured promissory note and security agreement. On
August 22, 2006, the senior secured promissory note was amended and restated to extend the term of the
note from May 2007 to May 2010. In connection with this amendment, the financial covenants under the
senior secured promissory note were eliminated and all of the existing collateral for the senior secured
promissory note was reieased and replaced with a $7.2 million letter of credit.

On August 23, 2006, we entered into a Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement with Paul Royalty
Fund Holdings II, LP (Paul Royalty), an affiliate of Paul Capital Partners, pursuant to which we received a
$30.0 million upfront cash payment in exchange for granting Paul Royalty the right to receive a specified
percentage of the net royalties, including all milestones fees and other payments, receivable by us under
our phage display LFRP. We also have an option to receive an additional $5.0 million payment from Paul
Royalty in the event that the LFRP receipts achieve specified levels by the end of 2008. In conjunction with
this transaction, we reimbursed Paul Royalty $500,000 for its costs.

We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments plus anticipated cash
flow from product development, license fees and collaborations will be sufficient to support our current
operating plans into 2008. Currently, we expect to use approximately $45 million in cash during 2007. This
includes the additional costs of funding 100% of the DX-88 HAE program from the February 20, 2007
termination of our collaboration agreement with Genzyme, offset by the $17 million payment from
Genzyme to the Dyax-Genzyme LLC pursuant to the termination agreement. For the foreseeable future,
we expect to continue to fund any deficit from our operations through the sale of additional equity or debt
securities. The sale of any equity or debt securities may result in additional dilution to our stockholders,
and we cannot be certain that additional financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to
us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain any required additional financing, we may be required to reduce the
scope of our planned research, development and commercialization activities, which could harm our
financial condition and operating results.

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements with the exception of operating leases.

Contractual Obligations

Contractual obligations represent future cash commitments and liabilities under agreements with
third parties, and exclude contingent liabilities which we cannot reasonably predict future payment. The
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following chart represents our total contractual obligations, including principal and interest, at
December 31, 2006, aggregated by type (in thousands):

L Payments due by period

. More than

Contractual obligations Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years  3-5 years § years
Obligation under royalty interest assignment ' i

agreement(1)........ooiiiiiiiiiiiis $111,413 $ 5260 $12,470 $21,991 $71,692
Obligation to related party ..............oovtn. 9,388 77 1,435 7,236 —
Capital leases..........coovvriiiiiniaeinen 2,735 1,521 1,214 — —
Leasehold improvement arrangements ......... 2,166 447 825 825 69
Operating lease obligations(2)................. 29,438 4,244 8,874 10,932 5,388
Patent and product license obligations(3) ....... 4,223 327 1,650 605 1,641
Obligations for research, development and ‘

manufacturing(4) .........ooiiiii 13,439 13,325 54 44 16
Total contractual obligations .................. $172,802  $25,841  $26,522 $41,633 §$78,806

(1) These amounts represent projected future payments to Paul Royalty based on our current LFRP
projections, with interest calculated using the effective interest method. See Footnote 6 “Long-term
Obligations” of Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”.

(2) These amounts are net of contractually committed sublease income.

(3) These amounts exclude any royalties and milestones that we may owe in connection with the
development or commercialization of any of our product candidates. Since the prospect of
development and commercialization of any particular product candidate is uncertain, we believe the
timing and amounts of any potential royalties and other milestones are not currently calculable in any
manner that would fairly present purchase obligations.

(4) These amounts represent the cash commitment due on research, development and manufacturing
contracts. We will not owe any royalties or milestones in connection with these contracts.

In addition, we have received a grant from the Walloon region of Belgium. This grant includes specific
criteria regarding employment and investment levels that need to be met through 2006. In the first half of
2007 these criteria will be reviewed by the grantor to determine if they have been successfully met. If we
have not met the criteria, we will be required to refund all or a portion of amounts received under this
grant. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had received the entire grant amount of €825,000. This
amount translates to $1.1 million and $977,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources are based
on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including
those related to revenue recognition, receivable collectibles, royalty interest obligations, useful lives with
respect to long-lived and intangible assets and valuation of common stock, related stock options, and
deferred tax assets. We base our estimates on historical and anticipated results and trends and on various
other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as 10
future events. These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. By their nature, estimates are subject to an
inherent degree of uncertainty. Actual results may differ from our estimates. We believe that our judgment
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and assumptions with respect to the following significant accounting policies are most critical to the
accounting estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Royalty Interest Obligation.  Under our Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement with Paul Royalty, we
recorded the upfront cash payment of $30.0 million, less the $500,000 in cost reimbursements paid to Paul
Royalty as a debt instrument. Based upon our best estimate of future royalty interest obligation payments,
interest expense was calculated using the effective interest method. Our best estimate of future royalty
interest obligation payments was based upon returning to Paul Royalty an internal rate of return of 25%
through future net LFRP receipts.

Share-Based Compensation. Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123R which required us to recognize the expense related to the
fair value of stock-based compensation awards in our consolidated statement of operations. We elected to
follow the modified prospective transition method allowed by SFAS 123R, and therefore, only applied the
provisions of SFAS 123R to awards modified or granted after January 1, 2006. In addition, for awards that
were unvested as of January 1, 2006 we will recognize compensation expense in our consolidated statement
of operations over the remaining vesting period. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based
compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.”

SFAS 123R requires companies to estimate the fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant
using an option-pricing model. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model. A number of assumptions
are used by the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to compute the grant date fair value, including
expected price volatility, option term, risk-free interest rate, and dividend yield. Expected volatilities are
based on historical volatilities of our stock. The expected option term is derived from historical data on
exercise behavior, The dividend yield is based on historical dividend payments. The risk-free rate for
periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. treasury vield curve in effect at the
time of grant. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as
expense over the requisite service periods in our consolidated statement of operations. Our stock options
primarily have a graded-vesting schedule. We recognize expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period for each separately vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in-substance, multiple
awards. The equity-based compensation expense recorded in future income statements could fluctuate
based on the terms of the awards, the assumptions used in the valuation model, or the status of those
employees receiving awards.

Revenue Recognition. We make significant assumptions and estimates relating to revenue recognition,
which include the expected term of the agreement and total expected cost. Our assumptions and estimates
may prove to be inaccurate. Therefore, although we make every effort to ensure the accuracy of our
estimates, any significant unanticipated changes in our estimates could have a material impact on revenues
and our results of operations.

Our revenue recognition policies are in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
(SEC) Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, as amended by SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21,
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.
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We enter into biopharmaceutical product development agreements with collaborators for the research
and development of therapeutic, diagnostic and other products. The terms of the agreements may include
non-refundable signing and licensing fees, funding for research and development, milestone payments and
royalties on any product sates derived from the collaborations. Non-refundable signing and licensing fees
are recognized as services are performed over the expected term of the collaboration. Funding for research
and development, where the amounts recorded are non-refundable, is recognized as the related expenses
are incurred. Milestones that are based on designated achievement points and that are considered at risk
and substantive at the inception of the collaboration are recognized as earned when the corresponding
payment is considered reasonably assured. We evaluate whether milestones are at risk and substantive
based on the contingent nature of the milestone, specifically reviewing factors such as the technological
and commercial risk that must be overcome and the level of the investment required. Milestones that are
not considered at risk and substantive are recognized, when achieved, in proportion to the percentage of
the coilaboration completed through the date of achievement. The remainder is recognized as services are
performed over the remaining term of the collaboration. Royalties are recognized when earned. We
evaluate all collaboration agreements on a quarterly basis to determine the appropriate revenue
recognition for that period. The evaluation includes all of the potential revenue components from each
specific collaboration agreement.

We generally license our patent rights covering phage display as well as our proprietary phage display
libraries on a non-exclusive basis to third parties for use in connection with the research and development
of therapeutic, diagnostic, and other products. Standard terms of the license patent rights agreements, for
which we have no future obligations, generally include non-refundable signing fees, non-refundable license
maintenance fees, development milestone payments and royalties on product sales. Signing fees and
maintenance fees are recognized ratably over the period to which the payment applies. Perpetual patent
licenses are recognized immediately if we have no future obligations. Standard terms of the proprietary
phage display libraries agreements generally include non-refundable signing fees, non-refundable license
maintenance fees, development milestone payments and royalties on product sales. Signing fees and
maintenance fees are recognized ratably over the period to which the payment applies, which is normally
between 3 and 5 years, but specific contract terms may extend this period up to 14 years. Upon the
achievement of milestones under non-exclusive phage display patent licenses and phage display libraries a
portion of the milestone equal payment to the percentage of the license agreement that has elapsed is
recognized as revenue. Milestone payments under these license arrangements are recognized when the
milestone is achieved if the Company has no future obligations under the license, and royalties are
recognized when they are earned.

Payments received that have not met the appropriate criteria for revenue recognition are recorded as
deferred revenue. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, our deferred revenue related to product development
agreements was $9.9 million and $10.9 million, respectively. Of the $9.9 million deferred at December 31,
2006, $4.4 million, $1.6 million and $602,000 is expected to be recognized as revenue in 2007, 2008 and
2009, respectively, and the remaining is expected to be recognized over the next 12 years.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. 'We estimate the uncollectibility of our accounts receivable. When
evaluating the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts, we analyze our accounts receivable aging,
historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness and current economic trends. If
the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional allowances may be required. Qur accounts receivable balance net of allowances
for doubtful accounts was $2.1 million and $1.7 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. At
December 31, 2006 and 2005 the provision for doubtful accounts was $80,000 and $105,000, respectively.

Valuation of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets. 'We review long-lived assets, including capitalized
license rights, for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the
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carrying amount of assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer
appropriate. Factors considered important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

»  Significant change relative to historical or projected future operating resuits;
»  Significant changes in the use of the assets or the strategy for the overall business;
»  Significant industry or economic trends and developments,

Each impairment test is based on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flow to the recorded value of
the asset. When it is determined that the carrying value of intangibles and long-lived assets may not be
recoverable based upen the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, the asset is
written down to its estimated fair value on a discounted cash flow basis. Qur intangible assets at the end of
2006 consisted of licenses for antibody technology from third parties. The balance of our other intangible
assets net of accumulated amortization was $1.4 million and $1.9 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. No impairment losses have been recognized in any of the periods presented in our
consolidated financiai statements.

Related Party Transactions

Our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer also serves as an outside director of Genzyme
Corporation and was a consultant to Genzyme until 2001. Two of our other directors are former directors
of Genzyme and another was a senior advisor to the Chief Executive Officer of Genzyme and a former
Genzyme executive officer.

Through February 20, 2007 we had a coltaboration agreement with Genzyme for the development and
commercialization of DX-88 for HAE. Under this collaboration, Dyax and Genzyme formed a joint
venture, known as Dyax-Genzyme LLC, through which we jointly owned the rights to DX-88 for the
treatment of HAE, Dyax and Genzyme were each responsible for approximately 50% of ongoing costs
incurred in connection with the development and commercialization of DX-88 for HAE and each would be
entitled to receive approximately 50% of any profits realized from it. In addition, we were entitled to
receive potential milestone payments from Genzyme in connection with the development of DX-88.

On February 20, 2007, we reached a mutual agreement with Genzyme to terminate this collaboration.
Pursuant to the termination agreement, Genzyme made a $17.0 million cash payment to the Dyax-
Genzyme LLC. Furthermore Genzyme assigned to Dyax all of its interests in the LLC thereby transferring
all the rights to the LLC’s assets to Dyax, including the $17.0 million cash payment. As a result Dyax now
owns all of the rights to DX-88 worldwide including the right to develop and commercialize DX-88 in
HAE. In exchange, Dyax issued to Genzyme 4.4 million shares of its common stock. Genzyme also agreed
to provide us with transition services for a period following the termination of our agreements.

Genzyme has previously loaned us $7.0 million under a senior promissory note which remains
outstanding after the termination of the collaboration. In August, 2006, this note was amended and
restated to extend the term of the note from May 2007 to May 20160. In connection with this amendment,
the financial covenants under the note were eliminated and all of the existing collateral for the note was
released and replaced with a $7.2 million letter of credit. The collateral released pursuant to this
amendment included a certain tangible and intangible personal property arising out of the DX-88 program
and the Company’s rights to revenues from licenses of its fundamental phage display patent portfolio. As
of December 31, 2006, the Company had posted the $7.2 million letter of credit, the cash collateral for
which is included in restricted cash on our consolidated balance sheet. We pay interest on the Genzyme
note at the prime rate, (8.25% at December 31, 2006) plus 2%. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, we owed
$61,000 and $54,000, respectively, of interest on this note. The termination of Dyax’s collaboration with
Genzyme did not constitute an event of default under the note, which remains outstanding in accordance
with its terms.
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All research and development expenses incurred by each party related to the HAE program are billed
{0 and reimbursed by Dyax-Genzyme LLC. Dyax and Genzyme are each required to fund 50% of the
forecasted monthly expenses of Dyax-Genzyme LLC, as nceded. We have accounted for our interest in
Dyax-Genzyme LLC using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the reimbursement of
expenses to us is recorded as a reduction to research and development expenses because it includes
funding that we provided to Dyax-Genzyme LLC. Our 50.01% share of Dyax-Genzyme LLC loss is
recorded as an equity loss in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) in the consclidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, our investment in the joint venture
was $258,000 and $782,000, respectively, which is recorded as an investment in joint venture
(Dyax-Genzyme LLC) in the consolidated balance sheets.

Before our collaboration agreement with Genzyme terminated on February 20, 2007, we had
evaluated the agreement to determine if the related joint venture qualifies as a variable interest entity
under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities (FIN 46R). Both we and Genzyme had funded the operations of Dyax-Genzyme LLC on a
monthly basis and therefore under Paragraph 5a of FIN 46R, the joint venture qualified as a variable
interest entity because its total equity investment at risk is not sufficient to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support. We have always had a financial interest in Dyax-Genzyme LLC.
However, based on our analysis of the agreement, we believe that our exposure to the expected losses of
Dyax-Genzyme LLC before termination were less than Genzyme’s and therefore we were not the primary
beneficiary of Dyax-Genzyme LLC under Paragraph 17 of FIN 46R. Accordingly, during 2006 we had not
consolidated Dyax-Genzyme LLC.

During 1996, we signed two patent license agreements with Genzyme consistent with our standard
license terms. During 2006, Genzyme terminated one of its patent license agreements with Dyax. We
recorded $4,000 of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006 and $25,000 for each of the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 in connection with the maintenance fees on the terminated agreement. We
recorded license revenues of $25,000, for each year ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, in
connection with the maintenance fee on the ongoing agreement. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there
were $25,000 and $0, respectively, of outstanding accounts receivable due from Genzyme related to the
patent license agreement,

During 2004, we signed a library license agreement with Genzyme consistent with our standard license
terms. We received $1.3 million from Genzyme in 2004 and recorded license revenues of $225,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and $275,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 in
connection with the technology access fees on this agreement. Of the $1.3 million received under this
agreement, approximately $525,000 has not been recognized as revenue and is included in deferred
revenue on the consolidated balance sheet. This amount will be recognized ratably over the next
28 months. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no outstanding accounts receivable due from
Genzyme related to the library license agreement.

Tax Loss Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2006, we had federal net operating loss (NOL) and research and experimentation
credit carryforwards of approximately $179.1 million and $23.3 million, respectively, which may be
available to offset future federal income tax liabilities and which begin to expire in 2007. We have recorded
a deferred tax asset of approximately $2.1 million reflecting the benefit of deductions from the exercise of
stock options. This deferred asset has been fully reserved until it is more likely than not that the benefit
from the exercise of stock options will be realized. The benefit from this $2.1 million deferred tax asset will
be recorded as a credit to additional paid-in capital when realized. As required by SFAS No. 109, our
management has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred
tax assets, which are comprised principally of NOL and research and experimentation credit carryforwards.
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Management has determined at this time that it is more likely than not that we will not recognize the
benefits of federal and state deferred tax assets and, as a result, a valuation allowance of approximately
$100.5 million has been established at December 31, 2006.

Recent Pronouncements

In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation
No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” which is an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” The interpretation requires that a
liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation be recognized if the fair value of the
liability can be reasonably estimated. The interpretation is effective for years ending after December 15,
2005. The interpretation did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial
position or cash flows.

In May 2005, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections”, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 “Accounting Changes” and FASB Statement No. 3,
“Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements” (FAS 154). FAS 154 provides guidance
on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. [t established, unless
impracticable, retrospective application as the required method for reporting a change in accounting
principle in the absence of explicit transition requirements specific to the newly adopted accounting
principle. FAS 154 also provides guidance for determining whether retrospective application of a change in
accounting principle is impracticable and for reporting a change when retrospective application is
impracticable. The provisions of this Statement are effective for accounting changes and corrections of
errors made in fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2005.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes”, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for
uncertainties in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. The Interpretation
requires that we determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon
examination by the appropriate taxing authority. If a tax position meets the more likely than not
recognition criteria, FIN 48 requires the tax position be measured at the largest amount of benefit greater
than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settiement. This accounting standard is effective for
the Company for the fiscal periods beginning January 1, 2007. The effect, if any, of adopting FIN 48 on the
Company’s financial position and results of operations has not been finalized, but it will not have a
material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108) “Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements”. SAB 108 addresses how the effects of prior year uncorrected misstatements should be
considered when quantifying misstatements in current year financial statements. SAB 108 requires
companies to quantify misstatements using a balance sheet and income statement approach and to
evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying an error that is material in light of relevant
quantitative and qualitative factors. When the effect of initial adoption is material, companies will record
the effect as a cumulative effect adjustment to beginning of year retained earnings. The provisions of SAB
108 are effective for annual statements covering the fiscal year after November 15, 2006. The adoption of
SAB 108 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Statement
No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. This statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that permit or require fair
value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 become effective for fiscal years beginning after
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November 15, 2007. The effect, if any, on the Company’s financial position and results of operations has
not been finalized.

Important Factors That May Affect Future Operations and Results

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements appear principally in the sections entitied “Business” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Forward-looking statements may appear in
other sections of this report as well. Generally, the forward-looking statements in this report use words like
“believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “project,” “future,” “may,” “will,” “could,” “would” and
similar expressions.

These risks and uncertainties are discussed in more detail in Item 1A—“Risk Factors” of this
Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our exposure to market risk consists primarily of our cash and cash equivalents, and short-term and
long-term investments. We place our investments in high-quality financial instruments, primarily U.S.
Treasury notes and bills, which we believe are subject to limited credit risk. We currently do not hedge
interest rate exposure. As of December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents, and short-term and long-
term investments of approximately $60.5 million. Our investments will decline by an immaterial amount if
market interest rates increase, and therefore, our exposure to interest rate changes is immaterial. Declines
of interest rates over time will, however, reduce our interest income from our investments.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $41.8 million outstanding under short-term and long-term
obligations. Interest rates on $4.1 million of these obligations are fixed and therefore are not subject to
interest rate fluctuations. The assumed interest rate on the $30.7 million outstanding to Paul Royalty under
our Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement is calculated using the effective interest method based upon
estimated future royalty interest obligation payments and therefore is not subject to interest rate
fluctuations. Interest on the $7.0 million Genzyme note is variable based on the prime interest rate and is
therefore subject to interest rate fluctuations. For example, a 2% increase in the prime rate would result in
an additional $140,000 in annual interest expense.

Most of our transactions are conducted in U.S. dollars. We have collaboration and technology license
agreements with parties located outside of the United States. We also have a research facility located in
Europe. Transactions under certain of the agreements between us and parties located outside of the
United States, as well as transactions conducted by our foreign facility, are conducted in local foreign
currencies. If exchange rates undergo a change of up to 10%, we do not believe that it would have a
material impact on our results of operations or cash flows.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Dyax Corp.:

We have completed integrated audits of Dyax Corp.’s consolidated financial statements and of its
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are
presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Dyax Corp. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the
related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of
these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial
statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in
which it accounts for share-based payment as of January 1, 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinions.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generaily accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 13, 2007
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Dyax Corp. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Bajance Sheets

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents. ........... e e
ShOrt-teTIm INVESHITIENTS . . . ot v v e e eaees e raensrnrnrasnesnsnsnn
Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $80 and
$105 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively .................
Prepaid research and development. ...
Due from joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC)...............ovn,
Other CUITENT ASSELS . . .. oot e icvetan e csnrrnnrrsastassnansasens
Total CUMTENE ASSELS . ..o v v v e eeesansereranarnasassnnnescnnnsns
Fixed assers, MBL. . oo eetr e e aasinncar i ssararaaniainaaenaeassns
Intangibles, net .. .....ooinii e
Restricted €ash ..ottt ittt iitasirana s tataaaaennas
Long-term inveStMENtS ... .. vyevnerarneressreeniannraaareaaans
(01T oy £ I AR
Investment in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) ................o0vh
TOtal ASSELS © v oo ettt et e ittt e e i e e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued €Xpenses ...

Current portion of deferredrevenue .......... ..o

Due to joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) ..................oci

Current portion of long-term obligations. . .............cooviniien.

Other current liabilities . . ... ..ot e
Total current habilities ...........o it

Deferred TEVERUE .\ vur it eee ettt eeaaainanaaann s
Obligation torelated party ...........ooiini it
Long-term obligations .. .. ....oouiiiriiirir i
Deferred rent. . ..ot e e s
Other long-term liabilities. .. .. ..o
Total Habilities. . . ..\t e it e ia e e i iananaasenasaaanns
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 6, 7, 8, 10, 15)
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2006 and 2005; 0 shares issued and outstanding at
December31,2006and 2005 . .. ... i e

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 125,000,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2006 and 2005; 43,700,101 and 38,028,363 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively .......

Additional paid-incapital ........ ..o i
Accumulated deficit ... .o oo i e
Accumulated other comprehensive income. ..., .o
Total stockholders’ equity. . ...t
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ... .........cooviviinnt

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2006

December 31,
2005

(In thousands, except share data)

$ 11,295 § 8,640
47,169 42,024
2,120 1,677

833 2,159
1,428 2,457
920 1,675
63,765 58,632
8,960 10,160
1,432 1,935
11,517 4,408
1,992 —
249 —
258 782

$ 88,173 § 75917

$ 9288 § 6986
4,432 5,450

967 2,670
1,618 1,770
1,091 —
17,396 16,876
5,474 5,425
7,000 7,000
33,210 2,819
1,632 1,847

— 1,012
64,712 34,979

437 380
255,242 222,437

(232,623) (182,300)

405 421
23,461 40,938

§ 88173  § 75917




Dyax Corp. and Subsidiarigs _
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

Product development and license fee revenues. ...........

Research and development:

Research and development expenses................
Less research and development expenses reimbursed

by joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC)............

Net research and development .....................

Equity loss in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LIC) .....,

General and administrative expenses..................

Total operating eXpenses.........c.ovuvvieerieiniinneinns

Lossfromoperations ...........cocvvvieiiinineernnnns.

Other income (expense):

Interestincome.............oooiiiiiiiiiiii i,
Interest eXpense ..., ..ooiini it en it
Total other income (expense), net.....................
Netloss ..ot et

Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency translation adjustments ..............
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments .................
Comprehensive Joss . ... it

Basic and diluted loss per share:

NEL L8 . ottt ittt i it i r et ietbeennenarranns

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per

Y {121 <

Years Ended December 31,

2006

2005

2004

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

12776 $ 19859 $ 16,590
53,637 47,376 39.432
(16,100) (20,688) (10,408)
37,537 26,688 29,024
10,352 11952 5,988
14,658 12,784 14,451
62,547 51.424 49,463
(29,771) (31,565) (32,873)
3,246 1,671 786
(3,798) (1,050) (1,027)
(552) 621 (241)
(50,323) (30,944) (33,114)
(66) (50) (27)
50 45 (87)
(50339) §  (30949) § (33,228)
(118) $  (087) $  (1.06)
42532466 35455782 31207218

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

50




"SJUSLIDIE]S [RIOURUL pajepIjosuod ay) Jo 11ed je1daul ue aie sajou Jupduedwoooe ayg,

199°¢Z § Sov$ — 3 (£29°2€T)S  TYT'ssTs LebS  1010OL'ER
(gze09) — - (€2£°09) — — -
(99) {99) - - — — —
0s 0 - — — — —
r4iravd — — - 8T — —
#o10t — — - 601°0¢ §S 000'008'S
T0€ - - — 00t 1 12986
SIT_ — - — P11 I LIT'EL
8C6:0F [ F42 - {00€Z81) LEY'TT 08¢ £9€'8Z0°8E
{++6:0¢) — — (¥re'0g) — — —
(08) (09) — - — - —
v T S — — - — —
¥z - — — vz - —
R 174 — — — 18b'€T £9 000°STE'9
ik — - —_ e 68L'9Y
992 — — - +927 T LP6811
I€8°LY 44 - (9s¢'151) 9861 SIE  LTILPSIE
(Fr1°cE) — — 1r'ee) — — —
(Lz) (L) — — - — —
e (L) — — — — —_—
¥9zT _ — - — 9z - -
Ly — Ly — — — —
6vLvP — — — 689°FY 09 0000009
AN - — — ¥zl — 95H'LT
0g6'1 — — — 761 9 FI+'CE9
SPE'EE § 0rs$ (Lr)$ (zvz'a11)$ SHHISTS 6rZ$  LSL'L88'YT

1#10] (ss077) smoduy uopesudmo)) FTEIIETT] ende) IN[BA saIens

asrsmyaaduo)) pouapg PA)EMINIY up-pieg Jed
P90 [BUOTIPPY ¥20)§ UoWINOD)
PAEMENIIY

(ejep a1eys 3daoxa ‘spussnol]) uf)

----------------------- §N a.ﬂm HUDESQQ Hﬁ Snﬁﬁﬁm
......................................... $S07T 19N
......................... volye[suer] AduaLing udo1o,]
........ SJUSUISIAUY WLIS}-HIOYS Uo ($50]) uted pozijeaun
..... suondo 1201 yum pajeposse asuadxa wonesuadwo)
........... 98¢ Jo sasuadxa Jo 100 }2018 ROWIWO? JO I[BS
........................................... —HW—Q

aseyaInd }o01s sokojdwa 103 Y2015 UCWIWOD JO FOUBTISS]

............................ mﬁo_.:_uo MUOHM .H.D UmmU..-UNm
rrr e uu --------------- mgﬂ n.ﬂm HQDESOQ .—N 8=m—mm
......................................... 0] 19N
P R ] —Ho_uﬂ.—w.—.—ﬁuu hnv—.—o.ﬁha —Hm—v.—ohm
........ SJUSLI]SIALT ULIZ)-JoYs uo (sso]) ued pazijeasun
..... suondo ¥201s Y1 pajeposse asuadxs wonesuadwo))
.......... 00Z4 Jo sssuadyd Jo 15U 203S HOWWOD JO Ieg
........................................... EN—Q

aseyoind }503s aa40[dwa 10] ¥2015 UCWIUIOD JO SOURNISS]

............................ suondo ¥20is Jo 2sI19XF
....................... .TSN -ﬁm hDDEUOOAH 18 8ﬁﬂ~.ﬁm
......................................... $S07 10N
......................... uonejsuen Auazind usiazog
............. SIUSW)SIAUI LUI)-1I0YS UO SSO[ PIZIEAIUN)
..... suondo ¥201s iIs paieDosse asuadxa uonesuadwo)
............................. ﬂOmﬂNWﬁUQES —UD:D.*QQ
.......... S17$ Jo sasuadxa JO 19U “o0)S UOWNUOD JO I[BS
........................................... —H&—Q

aseyorind }001s 2afo[duro 10§ 32015 UCWWIOD JO IIUELTISS]

............................ Wﬂ.—omuao MSHW .HO Uw.mo.uﬂunm
....................... MSN »ﬂ.m huDE”ouQ H.m gcw—mm

$00T PUE S007 ‘9007 ‘I€ J2qUIA( PIPU sIeaf 3Y) 104
Lfymby s3apjoy203§ ui saSuey?) Jo SJUIWIIL)S PIJBPIOSUO))
saueipisqng pue “dio) xedq

31




Dyax Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Ca§h Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
et oSS, . .o e
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Amortization of purchased premium/discount .. .....................
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets .......................
Amortization of intangibles . .......... ... ... oo
Interest expensé on Paul Royalty agreement ........................
Amortization of deferred rent ............. ... ..ol
Loss on disposal of fixed assets. ... it
Compensation expenses associated with stock-based compensation plans.
Equity loss in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC)....................
Provision for doubtful accounts . ......... ... il
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accountsreceivable. ... ... i e
Due from joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC). ......................
Prepaid research and development, and otherassets..................
Accounts payable and accruedexpenses. . ...,
Due to joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) . ... ...t
Deferred TeVENUE. . . ..ottt ittt e e
Other long-term liabilities. .. ............ ... ... . L.
Net cash used in operating activities . . ... ... ... ... ..c00viiaunnn
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments .. ...... ...ttt e
Proceeds from maturity of investments. ..................o0ivi e,
Purchase of fixed assets. . ...t
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets ......... ... ... ... ...l
Cashreceivedforsaleof Biotage . . . _..............................
Restrictedcash. ....... ..o e
Licensed patent technology ............ccviiiiiiiiiiinn...
Investment in joint venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) .. .................
Net cash used in investing activities. . ...............ooiiiii ...
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchase plan and exercise of stock options . ......................
Net proceeds from common stock offerings .. .......................
Proceeds from long-term obligations, netoffees.....................
Debt acquisition costs . ... ...uiin ittt e
Repayment of long-term obligations . .............. .. ... oot
Net cash provided by financing activities. . . .............. ..o inat,
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances. . ................
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of theperiod . ..................
Cash and cash equivalents atend of the period ... ... . ... ... ... ... ..

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interestpaid. .. ... e e

Supplemental disclosure of non cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment under long-term obligations. . .. ...

Cash paid for licensed patenttechnology .. ........................ e

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

$ (50,323) $ (30,944) $(33,114)
(1,670) (733) 754
2,944 3,077 3476
511 502 500
2,682 — —
(215) (235) (235)
— 19 24
2,282 24 in
10,352 11,952 5,988
(25) 30 —
(418) 1,382 1,594
1,029 (2,202) (255)
2,099 (781) 296
2222 (2,356)  (3,014)
(1,703) 950 —
(970) 1,110 2,092
63 (88) 323
(31,140) (18,293) (21,260)
(108,067)  (106,867)  (51,004)
102,650 115,784 —
(1,057) (1,440)  (2,305)
J— 22 —_

— — 5,000
(7,099) 199 597
— — (20}
(9,828)  (10,760)  (5425)
(23,401) (3,062) (53,157)
416 488 2,054
30,164 23,544 44,749
30,379 941 1,408
(257) — —
(3,464} (1,889)  (3,304)
57,238 23,084 44,907
(42) (67) (20
2,655 1,662 (29,530)
8,640 6,978 36,508

$ 11,295 § 8640 $ 6978
1,108 § 1077 § 1,432
584 % 204 § 212

$s — 8§ — 5 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Dyax Corp. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Business

Dyax Corp. (Dyax or the Company) is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery,
development and commercialization of novel biotherapeutics for unmet medical needs, with an emphasis
on cancer and inflammatory indications. To help achieve this goal, Dyax has developed a proprietary drug
discovery technology to identify antibody, small protein and peptide compounds for clinical development.
Dyax also leverages this technology through collaborations and licenses designed to generate revenues
through funded research, license fees, milestone payments and royalties.

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry including, but
not limited to, risks of preclinical and clinical trials, dependence on collaborative arrangements,
development by the Company or its competitors of new technological innovations, dependence on key
personnel, protection of proprietary technology, and compliance with FDA and other governmental
regulations and approval requirements.

2. Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its European research subsidiaries Dyax S.A. and Dyax BV (formerly known as
TargetQuest BV). All inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting periods. The significant estimates and assumptions in these financial statements
include revenue recognition, receivable collectibility, useful lives with respect to long lived assets, valuation
of stock options, accrued expenses and tax valuation reserves. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk:  Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, short-tem investments and trade
accounts receivable. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, approximately 93% and 83% of the Company’s cash,
cash equivalents and short-term-investments were invested in money market funds backed by U.S.
Treasury obligations, U.S. Treasury notes and bills, and obligations of U.S. government agencies held by
one financial institution. The Company maintains balances in various operating accounts in excess of
federally insured limits.

The Company provides most of its services and licenses its technology to pharmaceutical and
biomedica! companies worldwide. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivable balances
are limited due to the diverse number of customers comprising the Company’s customer base. Receivable
write offs in 2006, 2005 and 2004 were nominal. One customer accounted for approximately 15% and 18%
of the Company’s accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Three other
customers accounted for 34%, 11% and 11% of the accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2006.
Two other customers accounted for 24% and 22% of the accounts receivable balance as of December 31,
200s.
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Dyax Corp. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued) o Co

Cash and Cash Equivalents:  All highly liquid investments purchased with an dériginal maturity of
three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalenis consist principally of
cash and U.S. Treasury funds. The Company currently invests its excess cash in U.S, Treasury funds.

Investments:  Short-term investments consist of investments with original maturities greater than
ninety days and less than one year when purchased. Long-term investments comnsist of investments with
original maturities of greater than one year when purchased. The Company considers its investment
portfolio of investments available-for-sale as defined by SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments
in Debt and Equity Securities. Accordingly, these investments are recorded at fair value, which is based on
quoted market prices. As of December 31, 2006, the Company’s short-term investments consist of U.S.
Treasury notes and bills with an amortized cost and estimated fair value of $47.2 million and had an
unrealized gain of $11,000, which is recorded in other comprehensive income on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. All short-term investments mature in one year or less. As of December 31,
2006, the Company had a long-term investment with an amortized cost and estimated fair value of
$2.0 million. As of December 31, 2005, the Company’s short-term investments consist of U.S. Treasury
notes and bills with an amortized cost and estimated fair value of $42.0 million and had an unrealized loss
of $42,000, which is recorded in other comprehensive income on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets.

Fixed Assets: Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets using the straight-line method. Laboratory and preduction equipment, and
furniture and office equipment are depreciated over a three to seven year period. Leasehold improvements
are stated at cost and are amortized over the lesser of the non-cancelable term of the related lease or their
estimated useful lives. Leased equipment is amortized over the lesser of the life of the lease or their
estimated useful lives. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. When assets are
retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost of these assets and related accumulated depreciation and
amortization are eliminated from the balance sheet and any resulting gains or losses are included in
operations in the period of disposal.

Intangibles: Intangibles are recorded at cost and amortized over the estimated useful lives.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not
be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer appropriate. Each impairment test
is based on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flow to the recorded value of the asset. If an
impairment is indicated, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value on a discounted cash flow
basis.

Revenue Recognition: The Company’s revenue recognition policies are in accordance with the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEC) Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements, as amended by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.

The Company enters into biopharmaceutical product development agreements with collaborative
partners for the research and development of therapeutic, diagnostic and separations products. The terms
of the agreements may include non-refundable signing and licensing fees, funding for research and
development, milestone payments and royalties on any product sales derived from collaborations. Non-
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Dyax Corp. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

refundable signing and licensing fees are recognized as services ar¢ performed over the expected term of
the collaboration. Funding for research and development, where the amounts recorded are non-refundable
is recognized as revenue as the related expenses are incurred. Milestones that are based on designated
achievements points and that are considered at risk and substantive at the inception of the collaboration
are recognized as earned when the corresponding payment is considered reasonably assured. The
Company evaluates whether milestones are at risk and substantive based on the contingent nature of the
milestone, specifically reviewing factors such as the technological and commercial risk that must be
overcome and the level of the investment required. Milestones that are not considered at risk and
substantive are recognized, when achieved, in proportion to the percentage of the collaboration completed
through the date of achievement. The remainder is recognized as services are performed over the
remaining term of the collaboration. Royalties are recognized when earned. Costs of revenues related to
product development and license fees are classified as research and development in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company evaluates all collaborative agreements on
a quarterly basis to determine the appropriate revenue recognition for that period. The evaluation includes
all of the potential revenue components from each specific collaborative agreement.

Debiopharm S$.A. accounted for approximately 29%, 31% and 36% of product development and
license fee revenues in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Bracco Imaging S.p.A accounted for
approximately 13%, 11% and 11% of product development and license fee revenues in 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

The Company generally licenses its patent rights covering phage display as well as its proprietary
phage display libraries on a non-exclusive basis to third parties for use in connection with the research and
development of therapeutic, diagnostic, and other products. Standard terms of the license patent rights
agreements, for which the Company has no future obligations, generally include non-refundable signing
fees, non-refundable license maintenance fees, development milestone payments and royalties on product
sales. Signing fees and maintenance fees are recognized ratably over the period to which the payment
applies. Perpetual patent licenses are recognized immediately if the Company has no future obligations.
Standard terms of the proprietary phage display libraries agreements generally include non-refundable
signing fees, non-refundable license maintenance fees, development milestone payments and royalties on
product sales. Signing fees and maintenance fees are recognized ratably over the period to which the
payment applies. Upon the achievement of a milestone under non-exclusive phage display patent licenses
ot phage display libraries a portion of the milestone equal payment to the percentage of the license period
that has elapsed is recognized as revenue. The remainder is recognized over the remaining term of the
license agreement. Milestone payments under these license arrangements are recognized when the
milestone is achieved if the Company has no future obligations under the license. Royalties are recognized
when they are earned.

Payments received that have not met the appropriate criteria for revenue recognition are recorded as
deferred revenue.

The Company has received a grant from the Walloon region of Belgium, which is included in
short-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. This grant includes specific criteria regarding
employment and corporate investment that need to be met through 2006. In the first half of 2007 these
criteria will be reviewed by the grantor to determine if they have been successfully met. If the Company has
not met the criteria, it will be required to refund all or a portion of amounts received under this grant. As
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Dyax Corp. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

of December 31, 2004, the Company had received the entire grant amount of €825,000. This amount
translates to $1.1 million and $977,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Guarantees: In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued
FIN No. 45 Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. The following is a summary of our agreements that the Company
has determined are within the scope of FIN No. 45:

The Company generally does not provide indemnification to licensees of its phage display techndlogy.
The Company does generally provide indemnifications for claims of third parties that arise out of activities
that the Company performs under its collaboration, product development and cross-licensing agreements.
The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under the
indemnification provisions in some instances may be unlimited. The Company has not incurred any costs
to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to any indemnification obligations under its license agreements.
As a result, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these obligations is minimal. The Company
has no Habilities recorded for any of its indemnification obligations recorded as of December 31 2006
and 2005.

Investment in Joint Venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC): In September 2003, Genzyme and Dyax formed a
joint venture, Dyax-Genzyme LLC (the LLC), to manage the DX-88 program for HAE. Dyax and
Genzyme hold a 50.01% and 49.99% interest in the LLC, respectively. Research and development
expenses incurred by each party related to the HAE program are billed to and reimbursed by the LLC.
The Company presents this reimbursement as a reduction in research and development expenses because
it includes funding that the Company provided to the LLC. The Company has evaluated this agreement to
determine if the related joint venture qualifies as a variable interest entity under FASB Interpretation
No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46R). Genzyme and Dyax fund the operations of
the LLC on a monthly basis and therefore under Paragraph 5a of FIN 46R, the joint venture qualifies as a
variable interest entity because its total equity investment at risk is not sufficient to finance its activities
without additional subordinated financial support. The Company has a financial interest in the LLC.
However, based on its analysis of the agreement, the Company believes that its exposure to the expected
losses of the LLC are slightly less than Genzyme’s and therefore is not the primary beneficiary of the LLC
under Paragraph 17 of FIN 46R. Accordingly, the Company has not consolidated the LLC. The Company
has accounted for its interest in the LLC using the equity method of accounting. Dyax’s 50.01% share of
the joint venture’s loss is recorded as an Equity Loss in Joint Venture (Dyax-Genzyme LI.C).

Research and Development: Research and development costs include all direct costs, including
salaries and benefits for research and development personnel, outside consultants, costs of clinical trials,
sponsored research, clinical trials insurance, other outside costs, depreciation and facility costs related to
the development of drug candidates. These costs are partially offset by the reimbursement of expenses by
the LL.C. These costs have been charged to research and development expense as incurred. Prepaid
research and development on the consolidated balance sheets represents external drug manufacturing
costs, and research and development service costs that have been paid for in absence of the related product
being received or the services being performed.

Income Taxes: The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes as
set forth in SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS No. 109). Under this method, deferred tax
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Dyax Corp. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using the current statutory tax rates.

Translation of Foreign Currencies:  Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are
translated at period end exchange rates. Amounts included in the statements of operations are translated
at the average exchange rate for the period. The resulting currency translation adjustments are made
directly to a separate component of stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. For the year
ending December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 losses from transactions in foreign currencies were $66,000,
$50,000 and $27,000, respectively, which are included in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Share-Based Compensation: Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS 123 (Revised 2004) “Share-Based Payments” (SFAS 123R) which required it to recognize the
expense related to the fair value of stock-based compensation awards in the consolidated statement of
operations. The Company elected to follow the modified prospective transition method allowed by
SFAS 123R, and therefore, only applied the provisions of SFAS 123R to awards modified or granted after
January 1, 2006. In addition, for awards which were unvested as of January 1, 2006 it will recognize
compensation expense in the consolidated statement of operations over the remaining vesting period. Prior
to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method
prescribed in APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The Company has elected to
adopt the alternative transition method provided in FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 123R-3,
“Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards”.

The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the
additional paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool”) related to the tax effects of stock-based compensation, and
for determining the impact on the APIC pool and consolidated statements of cash flows of the tax effects
of stock-based compensation that are outstanding upon adoption of FAS 123R.

Net Loss Per Share: The Company accounts for and discloses earnings per share (EPS) under
SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share (SFAS No. 128). Under SFAS No. 128, the Company is required to
present two EPS amounts, basic and diluted. Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Diluted net loss per share does not differ from
basic net loss per share since potential common shares from the exercise of stock options are anti-dilutive
for all periods presented and, therefore, are excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share.
Stock options, which are potentially dilutive, totaling 5,860,432, 4,949,927 and 3,845,785, were outstanding
at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss): The Company accounts for comprehensive income (loss) under
SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income. The statement established standards for reporting and
displaying comprehensive income and its components in a full set of general purpose financial statements.
The statement required that all components of comprehensive income be reported in a financial statement
that is displayed with the same prominence as other financial statements.

Business Segments: The Company discloses business segments under SFAS No. 131, Disclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (SFAS No. 131). The statement established
standards for reporting information about operating segments in annual financial statements of public
enterprises and in interim financial reports issued to sharcholders. It also established standards for related
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disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers. The Company operates as
one business segment in two geographic areas.

Recent Pronouncements: In March 20085, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued
FASB Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” which is an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” The
interpretation requires that a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation be
recognized if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. The interpretation is effective for
years ending after December 15, 2005. The interpretation did not have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In May 2005, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections”, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 “Accounting Changes” and FASB Statement No. 3,
“Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements” (FAS 154). FAS 154 provides guidance
on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. It established, unless
impracticable, retrospective application as the required method for reporting a change in accounting
principle in the absence of explicit transition requirements specific to the newly adopted accounting
principle. FAS 154 also provides guidance for determining whether retrospective application of a change in
accounting principle is impracticable and for reporting a change when retrospective application is
impracticable. The provisions of this Statement are effective for accounting changes and corrections of
errors made in fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2005.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes”, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for
uncertainties in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. The Interpretation
requires that we determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon
examination by the appropriate taxing authority. If a tax position meets the more likely than not
recognition criteria, FIN 48 requires the tax position be measured at the largest amount of benefit greater
than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. This accounting standard is effective for
the Company the fiscal periods beginning January 1, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact, if any, that FIN 48 will have on its financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108) “Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements”. SAB 108 addresses how the effects of prior year uncorrected misstatements should be
considered when quantifying misstatements in current year financial statements. SAB 108 requires
companies to quantify misstatements using a balance sheet and income statement approach and to
evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying an error that is material in light of relevant
quantitative and qualitative factors. When the effect of initial adoption is material, companies will record
the effect as a cumulative effect adjustment to beginning of year retained earnings. The provisions of
SAB 108 are effective for annual statements covering the first fiscal year after November 15, 2006. The
adoption of SAB 108 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.
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In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Statement
No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. This statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that permit or require fair
value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 become effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The effect, if any, on the Company’s financial position and results of operations has
not been finalized.

3. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

December 31,
2006 2005

(In thousands)
Laboratory eQUIPIMENt. . .. ..ovvere ittt erene e eneinanenerarens $ 10,284 $ 9,497
Furniture and office equipment. ................. .. ... ..., 1,160 1,235
Software and computers ... e 3,838 3,167
Leasehold improvements .......... ..ot 10,407 10,380
07 T AP 25,689 24,279
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization.................... (16,729) (14,119)

§ 8960 § 10,160

There was $7.0 million and $8.9 million of assets under capital leases, which includes laboratory and
office equipment, with related accumulated amortization of $4.1 million and $6.2 million, at December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively. Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation and
amortization of fixed assets on the consolidated statements of cash flow.

4, Intangible Assets

On QOctober 16, 2002, the Company entered into a cross-licensing agreement with XOMA Ireland
Limited under which the Company received a license to use XOMA's patents and bacterial expression
technology to discover antibody products using phage display. The Company also received a license from
XOMA to produce antibodies under the XCMA patents. In exchange for the rights to XOMA’s
technology, the Company agreed to pay a technology license fee of $3.5 million due over six instaliments
through December 15, 2003, and to pay a 0.5% royalty on net sales of any antibody product
commercialized by the Company or any development partner. This fee was capitalized and is being
amortized ratably over 7 years, management’s estimate of the period that the capitalized license wil
generate revenues. The Company also granted XOMA a license to its phage display patents and agreed to
provide XOMA one of the Company’s antibody phage display libraries. The technology license fee due to
XOMA was fully paid in 2003.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the gross carrying amount of the intangible assets, consisting of
the licensed patent technology, was $3.5 million and the related accumulated amortization was $2.1 million
and $1.6 million, respectively.
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Estimated four year future amortization expense for other intangible assets as of December 31, 2006
are as follows:

(In thousands)
2007 e e ... $502
2008 . e e 502
2000 e e 419
2000 .. i e e 2
5. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:
December 31
2006 2005
(In thousands)
Accounts payable . .........oiiiiii i e $1,094 $ 698
Accrued external research and development and contract manufacturing. ... 3,237 1,597
Accrued employee compensation and related taxes ....................... 2,845 2,509
Otheraccrued liabilities .. .......ooiiriiiii i i i i 1,639 1,473
Accruedlegal. . ... .. o i e 473 709

6. Long-term Obligations

Long-term obligations consist of the following:

December 31,

2006 2005
(In thousands)
Obligations under royalty interest assignment agreement ............... $30,727 § —
Obligations under capital lease arrangements ... ~..................... 2,500 2,797
Obligation under leaschold improvement arrangements ................ 1,601 1,792
Total long-term obligations .........coviiiiiiiiianiiineiiaennan., 34,828 4,589
Less: Current POrtION . .. ouuuiruteinieuntonervnreraerreeanneraneanenn (1,618) (1,770)
Long-termobligations .. ........ ..o it i $33,210 $ 2,819

Obligations under royalty interest assignment agreement:

On August 23, 2006, the Company entered into a Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement with Paul
Royalty Fund Holdings II, LP (Paul Royalty), an affiliate of Paul Capital Partners, pursuant to which Dyax
received a $30.0 million upfront cash payment in exchange for granting Paul Royalty the right to receive a
specified percentage of the net milestones, royalties and other license fees receivable by Dyax under its
phage display Licensing and Funded Research Program, (LFRP}. Dyax also has an option to receive an
additional $5.0 million payment from Paul Royalty in the event that the LFRP receipts achieve specified
levels by the end of 2008. In conjunction with this transaction, Dyax reimbursed Paul Royalty $500,000 for
its costs.
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Under the terms of the agreement, Paul Royalty is entitled to 70% of the first $15.0 million of annual
net LFRP receipts, 20% of the next $5.0 million of annual net LFRP receipts and 1% of annual net LFRP
receipts above $20.0 million. These percentages will increase on a pro rata basis if Dyax is eligible to and
exercises its option for the additional $5.0 million payment. The agreement also provides for annual
guaranteed minimum payments to Paul Royalty, which start at $1.75 million through 2007, increasing to
$3.5 million in 2008 and 2009, $6.0 million for years 2010 through 2013 and $7.0 million for years 2014
through 2017. Paul Royalty’s rights to receive a portion of LFRP receipts will continue for up to 12 years,
depending upon the performance of the LFRP. Upon termination of the agreement, all rights to LFRP
receipts will revert to Dyax.

In the event of (i) a change of control of Dyax, (ii) a bankruptcy of Dyax, (iii) a transfer by Dyax of a
majority of its assets that has a material effect on either the net presént value of the projected LFRP
receipts or Dyax’s ability to pay the guarantees minimum payments, (iv) a transfer by Dyax of any part of
the assets supporting the LFRP program other than in the ordinary course of business, or (v) any breach of
certain material covenants and representations in the agreement, Paul Royalty has the right to require
Dyax to repurchase from Paul Royalty its royalty interest at a price in cash which equals the greater of
(a) two hundred percent of the cumulative payments made by Paul Royalty under the agreement less the
cumulative payments previously received by Paul Royalty from the LFRP or (b) the amount which will
provide Paul Royalty, when taken together with the royalties previously paid, a specified rate of return of
25%.

In the event of breaches of certain other representations or covenants or the occurrence of certain
other events that have a material adverse effect on projected revenues under the LFRP, Paul Royalty has
the right to require Dyax to repurchase from Paul Royalty its royalty interest at lower prices. If such an
event occurs before the end of 2010, the price will be the greater of (a) 110% of the cumulative payments
made by Paul Royalty under the agreement less the cumulative payments previously received by Paul
Royalty from the LFRP or (b) the amount which will provide Paul Royalty, when taken together with the
receipts previously paid over to Paul Royalty, a 10% rate of return. If such an event occurs after 2010, the
price will be the greater of (a) 150% of the cumulative payments made by Paul Royalty under the
agreement less the cumulative payments previously received by Paul Royalty from the LFRP or (b) the
amount which will provide Paul Royalty, when taken together with the receipts previously paid to Paul
Royalty, a 15% rate of return. Alternatively with respect to events that have a material adverse effect, Dyax
can avoid the requirement of repurchasing Paul Royalty’s entire interest in the LFRP by making annual
payments to Paul Royalty equal to the difference between the actual receipts and the projected LFRP
receipts. Dyax’s right to make these alternative payments expires if (a) in any two consecutive calendar
years (excluding 2007), the total alternative payments equal or exceed 50% of Paul Royalty’s percentage
of the projected LFRP receipts in each of those years, (b) in any three consecutive calendar years
(excluding 2007), the total alternative payments equal or exceed 33%of Paul Royalty’s percentage of the
projected LFRP receipts in each of those years or (c) if there are certain other material failures in the
LFRP. : :

In addition, Dyax has the right, but not the obligation, to repurchase the Paul Royalty royalty interest
at a price in cash which will provide Paul Royalty, when taken together with the royalties previously paid,
with the greater of (i) 175% of the payments made by Paul Royalty under the agreement until August 23,
2008 or 200% of the payments made by Paul Royalty under the agreement thereafter or (ii) an amount
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sufficient to provide a specified rate of return of 25%. The agreement also contains certain customary
representations, warranties and indemnities.

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Dyax has entered into security and lock-box agreements ‘
granting Paul Royalty a security interest in and to substantially all assets related to the LFRP in order to |
secure performance under the agreement and receipt of its agreed share of LFRP receipts. ‘

The upfront cash payment of $30.0 million, less the $500,000 in cost reimbursements paid to Paul
Royalty was recorded as a debt instrument in long-term obligations on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet. Based upon estimated future payments expected under this agreement, the Company
determined the interest expense by using the effective interest method. The best estimate of future
payments was based upon returning to Paul Royalty an internal rate of return of 25% through net LFRP
receipts, which approximates $113.4 million in total payments to Paul Royalty. During the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006, the Company made payments totaling $1.5 million related to this obligation to
Paul Royalty. Due to the application of the effective interest method and the total expected payments, the
Company recorded interest expense of $2.7 million of which no amount was allocated to the principal
amount. The debt balance at December 31, 2006 was $30.7 million.

The Company capitalized $257,000 of debt issuance costs related to the agreement which are being
amortized over the term of the related debt using the effective interest method. At December 31, 2006, the
unamortized debt issuance costs were $249,000 and are included in other assets on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet.

Obligations under capital lease arrangement:

During 2001, Dyax S.A., the Company’s research subsidiary located in Belgium, signed a capital lease
for the purchase of qualified fixed assets. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
Dyax S.A. sold to and leased back from the lender a total of $61,000, $25,000, and $431,000, respectively, of
laboratory and office equipment. No gain or loss was recorded as part of these transactions. Interest
pursuant to this capital lease ranges between 4.38% and 11.18%. Principal and interest are payable
quarterly over 60 months. Dyax S.A. was required to provide cash collateral totaling $66,000 and $108,000
at December 31, 2006 and 2005, which is included in restricted cash on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there was $343,000 and $621,000 (included in
obligations under capital lease arrangements) outstanding under the loan, which is included in long-term
obligations on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

During 2001, the Company signed a capital lease and debt agreement for the purchase of qualified
fixed assets and leasehold improvements, Interest pursuant to this agreement ranges between 7.95% and
10.76%. Principal and interest are payable ratably over 24 months to 42 months. Capital lease obligations
are collateralized by the assets under lease. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004,
the Company sold to and leased back from the lender $1.1 million, of leasehold improvements, laboratory,
production and office equipment. During August 2003, the Company refinanced $1.3 million of the
outstanding capital leases under the agreement. No gain or loss was recorded as part of these transactions.
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there was $1.9 million and $2.2 million (included in obligations under
capital lease arrangements) outstanding related to capital leases, which is included in long-term obligations
on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. During 2004, the Company paid off its debt relating to
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leasehold improvements and as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 there was $0 (included in obligations
under promissory notes) outstanding related to the leasehold improvements debt agreement.

During 2005, Dyax S.A. signed a capital lease for the purchase of qualified fixed assets. During the
year ended December 31, 2005 Dyax S.A. sold to and leased back from the lender a total of $31,000 of
laboratory and office equipment. No gain or loss was recorded as part of this transaction. Interest pursuant
to this capital lease is 7.17%. Principle and interest are payable quarterly over 36 months. As of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 there was $17,000 and $24,000, respectively, (included in obligations under
capital lease arrangements) outstanding under the loan, which is included in long-term obligations on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

During 2006, the Company signed a capital lease for the purchase of a fixed asset for a total of
$340,000. Interest pursuant to this lease is 0%. As of December 31, 2006, there was $217,000 outstanding
related to the capital leases, which is included in long-term obligations on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets.

Obligation under leasehold improvement arrangements:

In June 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to initially lease approximately 67,000 square
feet of laboratory and office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Under the terms of the agreement, the
landlord loaned the Company approximately $2.4 million to be used towards the cost of leasehold
improvements. The loan bears interest at a rate of 12.00% and is payable in 98 equal monthly installments
through February 2012. As of December 31, 2006, and 2003, there was $1.6 million and $1.8 million
outstanding under the loan, which is included in long-term obligations on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets.

Minimum future payments under the Company’s long-term obligations as of December 31, 2006 are
as follows:

(In thousands)
2007 e e e e $ 7228
2008, e e e e i 8,266
2009, . o e e 6,243
2000, e e e e 11,232
703 11,584
Thereafter .. ..o i it e 71,761
Total future Minimum Payments. .. ....oviieirie i ieiaeasserieans 116,314
Less: amount representing interest. .. .......c.oiiiieriniiinianesn, 81,486
Present value of future minimum payments.................coveuns 34,828
Less: current POTtiof. «.vvvv vt v viraninnri st iararsnnnananans (1,618)
Long-term obligations. . . ......ovuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i $ 33210
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In June of 2001, the Company signed a ten-year lease with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology
(MIT) for office space in the building known as 300 Technology Square in Cambridge, Massachusetts.
This building, which was sold by MIT to ARE-Tech Square, LLC in June of 2006, serves as corporate
headquarters and main research facility. As part of the lease agreement, the Company received a
$2.3 million leasehold improvement incentive in 2002. The leasehold improvement incentive was recorded
as deferred rent and is being amortized as a reduction to rent expense over the lease term. The Company
currently leases approx1mately 67,000 square feet and is obligated to lease apprommately 24,000 square
feet of additional space on November 1, 2007, which we expect to sublease to the two tenants currently
occupying such space. Under the terms being finalized with these tenants, both subleases will be due to
expire on October 31, 2009. The Company has the option to extend the lease for two additional five-year
terms. The Company has provided the lessor with a Letter of Credit in the amount of $4.3 million, which
may be reduced after the fifth year of the lease term. The cash collateral is included in restricted cash on
the consolidated balance sheets. Dyax S.A. maintains 10,000 square feet of leased laboratory and office
space in Liege, Belgium to support research efforts.

Minimum future lease payments under the Company’s non-cancelable operating leases as of
December 31, 2006 are as follows:

' (In thousands)
200 .o et e $ 4432
1 5,473
2009 . e e e 5,466
2000 . s 5,466
72 {3 [ 5,466
Thereafter. ... oo 5,388
0] 7: 1 PR $31,691

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was approximately $4.6 million,
$3.8 million and $3.6 million, respectively. Rent expense for December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was net of
sublease payments of $614,000, $806,000 and $1.2 million respectwcly

8. Litigation

Asof December 31, 2006, the Company was not engaged in any active court proceedings. The
Company makes provisions for claims specifically identified for which it believes the likelihood of an
unfavorable outcome is probable and reasonably estimable. The Company records at least the minimum
estimated liability related to claims where there is a range of loss and the loss is considered probable. As
additional information becomes available, the Company assesses the potential liability related to its
pending claims and revises its estimates. Future revisions in the estimates of the potential liability could
materially impact the results of operations and financial position. The Company maintains insurance
coverage that limits the exposure for any single claim as well as total amounts incurred per policy year, and
it believes that its insurance coverage is adequate. The Company makes every effort to use the best
information available in determining the level of liability reserves.
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Preferred Stock:  As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were a total of 1,000,000 shares of
$0.01 par value preferred stock authorized with 950,000 undesignated and 50,000 shares of previously
undesignated preferred stock designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.

Common Stock:  In January 2004, the Company sold 6,000,000 shares of common stock (including
780,000 shares pursuant to the exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option), at a price of
$7.93 per share in a registered underwritten public offering, which resulted in aggregate proceeds of
approximately $47.6 million, not including underwriter discount of $2.6 million and expenses of
approximately $215,000.

At the May 20, 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the shareholders approved an amendment to
Dyax’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common
stock by 75,000,000 shares from 50,000,000 tc 125,000,000 shares.

In May 2005, the Company sold 6,315,000 shares of common stock at a price of $4.00 per share in a
registered direct offering, which resulted in aggregate proceeds of approximately $23.5 million, net of
expenses of approximately $200,000.

In March 2006, the Company sold 5,500,000 shares of its common stock at a price of $5.65 per share in
an underwritten public offering, which resulted in net proceeds to the Company of approximately
$30.1 miilion.

Effect of Adoption of SFAS 123R, Share-Based Payment

Prior to December 31, 2005, the Company’s employee stock compensation plans were accounted
for in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (APB 25) and related interpretations. Under this method, no compensation expense was
recognized as long as the exercise price equaled or exceeded the market price of the underlying stock on
the date of the grant. The Company elected the disclosure-only alternative permitted under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards {(SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(SFAS 123) as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatlon——Transmon and
Disclosure and Amendment to FASB Statement No. 1237,

On December 28, 2005, the Company approved an amendment to accelerate the vesting of
approximately 714,000 unvested, “out-of-the-money” stock options granted to current employees of the
Company including executive officers. Only those stock options which had an exercise price greater than
$6.00 per share were accelerated under this amendment. The closing price of Dyax’s common stock on
December 27, 2005, the day before the date the Company approved the acceleration of vesting of out-of-
the-money options, was $4.92. The purpose of the acceleration was to enable the Company to avoid
recognizing compensation expense associated with these options in its consolidated statements of
operations for future periods following the adoption of SFAS 123R, which Dyax adopted effective
January 1, 2006. The unaudited, pre-tax charge, estimated by Dyax to be avoided as a result of the
acceleration was approximately $7.2 million over the course of the original vesting periods, which on
average covered approximately 2.5 years from the effective date of the acceleration. The unaudited
amount of the pre-tax charge that was avoided is estimated to be $2.4 million in 2006, $2.4 million in 2007,
$2.3 million in 2008 and $100,600 in 2009.
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As of January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective method,
which requires measurement of compensation cost for all stock awards at fair value on date of grant and
recognition of compensation over the service period for awards expected to vest. The fair value of stock
options was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, which is consistent with the valuation
techniques previously utilized by the Company for options in footnote disclosures required under SFAS
123. Such value is recognized as expense over the service period, net of estimated forfeitures and adjusted
for actual forfeitures. The estimation of stock options that will ultimately vest requires significant
judgment. The Company considers many factors when estimating expected forfeitures, including historical
experience. Actual results and future changes in estimates may differ substantially from the Company’s
current estimates. Prior periods have not been restated to incorporate the stock-based compensation
charge. The effect of adopting SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006 caused our net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2006 to be $2.3 million greater than had we continued to account for stock-based employee
compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2006
would have been $1.13 had we not adopted SFAS 123R, compared to reported basic and diluted net loss
per share of $1.18. The adoption of SFAS 123R had no impact on cash flows from operations or financing.
No tax benefits were assumed due to the valuation allowances established against the deferred tax assets.
{See Footnote 11 “Income Taxes”).

The following table reflects compensation expense recorded during the year ended December 31,
2006 in accordance with SFAS 123R (in thousands):

Year Ended

December 31, 2006
StOCK OPHONS. . oottt ettt e $2,168
Employee stock purchase plan ...l 114
$2,282
Amount included in research and development expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. .. . $1,249
Amount included in general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. . .. $1,033

Valuation Assumptions for Stock Options and Employee Stock Purchase Plans

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, 1,436,575, 2,351,750, and 1,252,753 stock
options were granted, respectively. The fair value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Expected Option Term (inyears) ............c.coiiiiiiiiniinonnn. 6 6 6
Risk-free interest rate .. ... ... . . i e 476% 4.04% 3.75%
Expected dividend yield. . ... ... ... .. o 0 0 0
Volatility factor . ... ... e e "~ 88.48% 174.94% 108.67%
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The fair value of shares issued under the employee stock purchase plan was estimated on the
commencement date of each offering period using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Expected Option Term (in Years) .........ooovnuiiiiniiieniariienees 0.5 0.5 05
Risk-free IMtereSt FALE . ...ty e et ie i iiianir et aataannrar e aaiins 367% 337% 1.36%
Expected dividend yield. ...........cooiiiiiiii 0 0 0
Volatility factor. ... .ot s 90.20% 143.31% 121.41%

Expected volatilities are based on historical volatilities of our common stock; the expected life
represents the weighted average period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding giving
consideration to vesting schedules and our historical exercise patterns; and the risk-free rate is based on
the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected life
of the option.

Fair Value Disclosures—Prior to SFAS 123R Adoption

The following table provides supplemental information for the years ended December 31,2005 and
2004 as if stock-based compensation had been computed under SFAS 123 (in thousands, except per share
data):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31,  December 31,

2005 2004

Net 1058 aS TEPOTEEA . .o .o v vvineetiin et e e iaiianes $(30,944)  $(33,114)
Non-cash stock-based employee compensation included in net loss as

TEPOTEEA ...ttt ittt r e 24 312
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined using a

fair value-based method forallawards...........oooviiniiniannns (8,563) (10,390)

Pro fOrma Met 0SS, .. v vvvvrs e et irarai s $(39,483)  §(43,692)

Basic and diluted net loss per share asreported. . ..............ovvnts $ (0.87) $ (1.06)

Pro forma basic and diluted netloss pershare ........... ..ot $ (1.11) § (140)

No tax benefits were provided in the above table due to the valuation allowances established against
the deferred tax assets. (See Footnote 11 “Income Taxes”).

Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s 1995 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), as amended to date, is an equity plan under
which equity awards, including awards of restricted stock and incentive and nonqualified stock options to
purchase shares of common stock to employees and consultants of the Company, may be granted by action
of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Although in certain circumstances option
‘awards may be granted below fair market value, options are generally granted at the current fair market
value on the date of grant, generally vest ratably over a 48 month period, and expire within ten years from
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date of grant. The Plan is intended to attract and retain employees and to provide an incentive for them to
assist the Company to achieve long-range performance goals and to enable them to participate in the long-
term growth of the Company. At December 31, 2006, a total of 7,432,306 shares were reserved under this
plan.
Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:

Weighted-Avg.  Aggregate

: Remaining Intrinsic
Number of  Weighted-Avg. Contractual Value {in
Options Exercise Price Life thousands)
Outstanding as of December 31,2005 ........... 4,958,927 $6.70 7.38
Granted at fair marketvalve. .. ................. 1,436,575 312
Exercised ...........oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieen (73,117) 1.57
Forfeited. ......oovrri ittty (185,743) 3.98
Bxpited .. ..o s (276,210) 9.13
QOutstanding as of December 31,2006 ........... 5,860,432 5.86 7.07 $1,310
Exercisable as of December 31,2006 ............ 3,759,715 $7.08 5.99 $1,214

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value, based on the
Company’s common stock closing price of $3.03 as of December 31, 2006, which would have been received
by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options and sold the underlying common stock
as of that date. The total number of in-the-money options exercisable as of December 31, 2006 was
1,116,580.

The weighted average grant date fair value of options, as determined under SFAS 123R and SFAS
123, granted during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2.37, $3.48 and $11.03 per
share, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 was approximately $137,000, $325,000 and $4.8 million, respectively. The total cash received
from employees as a result of employee stock option exercises during the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 was approximately $115,000, $266,000 and $1.9 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2006 future compensation cost related to non-vested stock options is
approximately $6.0 million and will be recognized over an estimated weighted average period of
approximately 1.51 years.
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The following table summarizes non-vested stock option activity for the year ended December 31,
2006: : -

Non-vested
Number of
Options

Non-vested balance at December 31, 2005 1,564,002

Granted at fairmarket value . . ...t iin it ittt 1,436,575
R = I (714,117)
B 20T 110, S S PR NS (185,743)

Non-vested balance at December 31,2006, ....... ..o 2,100,717

The total fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2.2 million.

The Company settles employee stock option exercises with newly issued shares of common stock.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”), as amended in May 2002,
allows employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a discount from fair market value.
Under this plan, eligible employees may purchase shares during six-month offering periods commencing
on January 1 and July 1 of each year at a price per share of 85% of the lower of the fair market value price
per share on the first or last day of each six-month offering period. Participating employees may elect to
have up to 10% of their base pay withheld and applied toward the purchase of such shares. The rights of
participating employees under this plan terminate upon voluntary withdrawal from the plan at any time or
upon termination of employment. The compensation expense in connection with the plan for the year
ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $15,000. There were 98,621 and 46,789 shares purchased
under the employee stock purchase plan during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
At December 31, 2006, a total of 63,830 shares were reserved and available for issnance under this plan.

10. Employee Savings and Retirement Plans

The Company has an employee savings and retirement plan (the “Retirement Plan”), qualified under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, covering substantially all of the Company’s U.S. employees.
Employees may elect to contribute a portion of their pretax compensation to the Retirement Plan-up to
the annual maximum allowed under the Retirement Plan. In 2001, the Company began matching 50% of
employee contributions up to 6% of eligible pay. Employees are 100% vested in company matching
contributions immediately. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s
contributions amounted to $332,000, $276,000 and $232,000, respectively.

11. Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognized based on temporary differences between
the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities using future expected enacted rates. A
valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some or ali of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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The provision for income taxes for continuing operations was at rates different from the U.S. federal
statutory income tax rate for the following reasons:

2006 2005 2004
Statutory federal income taxes. ........oevviviiaiiir i, 34.00% 34.00% 34.00%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ........................0... 567% 5.671% 6.71%
Research and development taxcredits .. ..................co0oeeeL, 872% 15.04% 13.49%
L ) 15 0.16% 0.18% (2.19)%
True up for reduction in NOL and Research Credit carryforwards ... . ... (176)% 9.87% (4.74)%
Valuation allowance. ...........ooviiiii it (40.79)% (64.76)% (41.27)%
Effective income faxrate. . ........vvvtit i isnnn i nraeaneanennns —% —% —%

The principal components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively are as follows:

2006 2005
(in Thousands)

Deferred Tax Asset:

Allowance for doubtful accounts. . ..........coviveiiiinienr et 3 32 3 42
Depreciation and amortization . ..........c..ooii i, 1,794 1,533
ACCTUEH EXPEIISES . . o v\t et vt vt e i it e e et e, 148 140
Other. . e (190) 25
Stock based compensation ......... ... il 912 —
Deferred TEVEMUE . .. ...t ii ettt e ia s iiennneeaeerannns 2,929 4,048
Research credit carryforwards. . ... iii it 25,618 19,731
Net operating loss carryforwards. .. .......covvi i iniiiiniinnnn., 69,215 54,375
Total gross deferred taxasset..........coviiiri it iiinnnrnnenan, 100,458 79,894
Valuation allowance. . . ......oeerniirreeeirire e ieneiienerinrnes (100,458)  (79.,894)
Net deferred taK ASS8E .o ovvet ittt e it reeanenneneenans, $ — —

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had federal net operating loss (NOL) and research and
experimentation credit carryforwards of approximately $179.1 million and $23.3 million, respectively,
which may be available to offset future federal income tax liabilities which begin to expire in 2007, The
Company has recorded a deferred tax asset of approximately $2.1 million and $2.2 million at December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, reflecting the benefit of deductions from the exercise of stock options. This
deferred asset has been fully reserved until it is more likely than not that the benefit from the exercise of
stock options will be realized. The benefit from the $2.1 million deferred tax asset at December 31, 2006
will be recorded as a credit to additional paid-in capital when realized. As required by SFAS No. 109,
management of the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the
realizability of its deferred tax assets, which are comprised principally of NOL and research and
experimentation credit carryforwards.
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Management has determined at this time that it is more likely than not that the Company will not
recognize the benefits of federal and state deferred tax assets and, as a result, a valuation allowance of
approximately $100.5 million and $79.9 million has been established at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, ownership changes may have limited the amount
of net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credit carryforwards which may be
utilized annually to offset future taxable income and taxes payable. Subsequent ownership changes could
further affect the limitation in future years.

The cumulative unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries are immaterial for all years presented.

12. Investment in Joint Venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) and Other Related Party Transactions

The Company had a collaboration agreement with Genzyme for the development and
commercialization of DX-88 for hereditary angioedema (HAE). Under this collaboration, the Company
and Genzyme formed a joint venture, known as Dyax-Genzyme LLC, through which they jointly owned the
rights to DX-88 for the treatment of HAE. Dyax and Genzyme were each responsible for approximately
50% of ongoing costs incurred in connection with the development and commercialization of DX-88 for
HAE and each would have been entitled to receive approximately 50% of any profits realized as a result.
In addition, the Company was entitled to receive potential milestone payments from Genzyme in
connection with the development of DX-88. The Company received a $3.0 million milestone for dosing the
first patient in the EDEMAD3 trial for HAE in December 2005. The Company recognized the $3.0 million
milestone as revenue in the fourth quarter of 2005 given that the milestone was considered to be at risk
and substantive.

On February 20, 2007, the Company and Genzyme reached a mutual agreement to terminate this
collaboration for the development and commercialization of DX-88 for the treatment of HAE. Pursuant to
the termination agreement, Genzyme made a $17.0 million cash payment to the Dyax-Genzyme LLC.
Furthermore, Genzyme assigned to Dyax all of its interests in the LLC, thereby transferring all the rights
to the LLC’s assets to Dyax, including the $17.0 million cash payment. As a result Dyax now owns all of the
rights to DX-88 worldwide including the right to develop and commercialize DX-88 in HAE. In exchange,
Dyax issued to Genzyme 4.4 million shares of its common stock. Genzyme also agreed to provide us with
transition services for a period following the termination of our agreement. This transaction will be
accounted for as a purchase by Dyax of the remaining 49.99% portion of the L1.C in exchange for
4.4 million shares of the Company’s common stock. ‘

In May 2002, the Company and Genzyme executed a senior secured promissory note under which
Genzyme agreed to loan the Company up to $7.0 million. This note was secured by a continuing security
interest in certain tangible and intangible personal property arising out of the DX-88 program and the
Company’s rights to revenues from licenses of its fundamental phage display patent portfolio. The note
was also subject to certain financial covenants, under which the Company was required to maintain at least
$20.0 million in cash, cash equivalents or short-term investments based on the Company’s quarterly
consolidated financial statements and at least one continued listing standard for the NASDAQ National
Market. In October 2002, the Company received the $7.0 million under this Genzyme note, which bears
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interest at the prime rate (8.25% at December 31, 2006) plus 2%. Interest is payable quarterly. The
principal and all unpaid interest were due on the maturity date of May 31, 2007.

On August 22, 2006, the Company and Genzyme amended and restated the senior secured promissory
note, extending the term of the note from May 2007 to May 2010. In connection with this amendment, the
financial covenants under the note were eliminated and all of the existing collateral for the note was
released and replaced with a $7.2 million letter of credit. The collateral released pursuant to this
amendment included a certain tangible and intangible personal property arising out of the DX-88 program
and the Company’s rights to revenues from licenses of its fundamental phage display patent portfolio. As
of December 31, 2006, the Company had posted the $7.2 million letter of credit and it is included in
restricted cash on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. At December 31, 2006 and December 31,
2005, there was $7.0 million outstanding under the note. At December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2003,
the Company owed $61,000 and $54,000, respectively, of interest on this note, which is included in accounts
payable and accrued expenses on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets due to the current nature of
this liability.

Before termination of the collaboration on February 20, 2007, research and development expenses
incurred by each party related to the HAE program were billed to and reimbursed by Dyax-Genzyme LLC.
The Company and Genzyme are each required to fund 50% of the monthly expenses of Dyax-Genzyme
LLC, except as set forth in the Agreement Regarding Validation Campaign described below. The
Company has accounted for its interest in Dyax-Genzyme LLC using the equity method of accounting.
Under this method, the reimbursement of expenses to Dyax is recorded as a reduction to research and
development expenses because it includes funding that the Company provided to Dyax-Genzyme LLC.
Dyax’s 50.01% share of Dyax-Genzyme LLC loss is recorded as an Equity Loss in Joint Venture
(Dyax-Genzyme LLC) in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. At
December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s investment in the joint venture was $258,000 and $782,000,
respectively, which is recorded as an Investment in Joint Venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) in the
consolidated balance sheets.

In August 2006, Dyax, Genzyme and Dyax-Genzyme LLC entered into an Agreement Regarding
Validation Campaign, effective as of July 1, 2006. The agreement provided that Dyax would assume
responsibility for the first $14.5 million of manufacturing costs for a series of consecutive manufacturing
batches, known as the validation campaign, which would validate the manufacturing process of DX-88 for
regulatory purposes and be used for further clinical studies. This arrangement ensured us an adequate
supply of DX-88 drug substance for programs outside of the Dyax-Genzyme LLC, specifically for our
program developing DX-88 for on-pump CTS procedures. The validation campaign began in the fourth
quarter of 2006. This arrangement ended in conniection with the termination of the collaboration on
February 20, 2007. Co

The Company has evaluated its collaboration to determine if the related joint venture qualified as a
variable interest entity under Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46R). Genzyme and Dyax fund the operations of Dyax-Genzyme LLC on
a monthly basis and therefore under Paragraph 5a of FIN 46R, the joint venture qualifies as a variable
interest entity because its total equity investment at risk is not sufficient to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support. The Company has a financial interest in Dyax-Genzyme L1.C.
However, based on its analysis of the agreement, the Company believes that its exposure to the expected
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losses of Dyax-Genzyme LLC were less than Genzyme’s and therefore Dyax was not the primary
beneficiary of Dyax-Genzyme LLC under Paragraph 17 of FIN 46R. Accordingly, the Company has not
consolidated Dyax-Genzyme LLC.

Summary financial information for Dyax-Genzyme LLC is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005
(In thousands)
Research and development. .........ooviiiiieiiniiiiiininiii s $19,328 $23,111
Selling and marketing. ... ....ooveuiiin i 1,110 624
General and adminiStrative. ... ..o iieiiieeeneernrsisntrtretrannarsorsns 266 167
INEEEEST ATICOMIE - o oo e it etevtaearr e eacaesaesssiareesananaresnasonsnncsns (4) (2)
I OB + v e st e et et e s e ee et st aassransannnssnaseessoansanas e $20,700 $23,900
CUTTEIE ASSEES « v oo er et e te s aee e s aansnenntnnssncsasananesssssnsnnantns $ 1,967 $ 3,442
INOT-CUTTENT ASSEES - - o e v e iiiereveveararaonnnssassunsaserasassssssnases 514 615
Current Habilities .. ....vtttiiiirir et raannrsosnsasesoasannavansnanans {1,965) (2,493)
Non-current Habilities . . ...vvirtrr ittt iiiiacestiiisrarrasasannsssasns — —
Nt ASSEES « o v vt s eeeeesan e iaeesesanseenrtosasonsesonnnenssbasanensss $ 516 $ 1,564
Amount due to Dyax from Dyax-Genzyme LLC (included in current
liabilities @bOVE) ...\ vveiiin i e $ 1,428 $ 1,508
Amount due from Dyax to Dyax-Genzyme LLC (included in current
ASSELS ADOVE) .+ o v e eein ettt ettt a e e $ 966 $ 1,721

The Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer also serves as an outside director of Genzyme
Corporation and was a consultant to Genzyme until 2001. Two of our other directors are former directors
of Genzyme and another was an officer of Genzyme and then senior advisor to Genzyme’s Chief Executive
Officer.

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, Genzyme owned approximately 1.3% and 1.5%, respectively of the
Company's common stock outstanding.

On February 23, 2007, in connection with the termination, Dyax issued Genzyme 4.4 million shares of
the Company’s common stock, which brings Genzyme’s aggregate ownership to 10.3%.

During 1996, the Company signed two patent license agreements with Genzyme consistent with our
standard license terms. During 2006, Genzyme terminated one of its patent license agreements with Dyax.
The company recorded $4,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and $25,000 for each of the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 in connection with the maintenance fee on the terminated agreement.
The Company recorded license revenues of $25,000, for each year ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, in connection with the maintenance fee on the ongoing agreement. As of December 31, 2006 and
2005, there were $25,000 and $0 respectively, of outstanding accounts receivable due from Genzyme
related to the patent license agreement.

During 2004, the Company signed a library license agreement with Genzyme consistent with its
standard license terms. The Company received $1.3 million from Genzyme and recorded license revenues
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of $225,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and $275,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 in connection with the technology access fees on this agreement. As of December 31,
2006 and 2005, there were no outstanding accounts receivable due from Genzyme related to the library
license agreement.

13. Business Segments

The Company discloses business segments under SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information,” which established standards for reporting information about
operating segments in annual financial statements of public business enterprises. It also establishes
standards for related disclosures about products and service, geographic areas and major customers, The
Company has reevaluated its business activities that are regularly reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer
for which discrete financial information is available. As a result of this evaluation, the Company
determined that it has one segment with operations in two geographic locations. As of December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, the Company had approximately $663,000, $1.2 million and $2.0 million, respectively, of
long-lived assets located in Europe, with the remainder held in the United States. For the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company did not have any external revenues outside the United
States.

14. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is calculated as follows:

Unrealized Foreign Currency  Accumulated Other

Gain {Loss) on Translation Comprehensive
Investments Adjustment Income
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31,2003...........ccovvnnntn $ — $540 $ 540
Changefor2004 ..........c..ciiiiiiiiiiininn, (8D _@n (114)
Balance at December 31,2004, .................... (87) 513 426
Changefor2005 ..............ooiiiii it _ 45 _(50) 5
Balance at December31,2005................o L (42) 463 421
Change for2006 ..., _ 30 _(66) 16
Balance at December 31,2006...........cconvunnt. $ 8 $397 $ 405

15. License Agreements

On December 31, 1997, the Company and Cambridge Antibody Technology Limited (CAT) entered
into agreements under which each party was granted a license to certain intellectual property owned or
controlled by the other party in the field of phage display. This cross-licensing arrangement was further
amended and expanded by two separate amendment agreements executed by and between the Company
and CAT on Janvary 3, 2003 and September 18, 2003, respectively, and then fully amended and restated on
June 21, 2006. Under the terms of the amended and restated agreement, CAT has granted the Company
worldwide licenses for research and certain other purposes under all of CAT’s antibody phage display
patents (the CAT patents). The Company has also received options for licenses to develop therapeutic and
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diagnostic antibody products under the CAT patents. CAT will receive milestone and royalty payments in
connection with antibody products advanced into clinical trials by the Company, its collaborators or its
customers, which will be recorded as cost of revenues within research and development expenses when
incurred. CAT also has rights to share the Company’s revenues from certain other applications of antibody
phage display technology. Additionally, CAT is not required to pay the Company royalties related to the
Company’s Ladner patents on antibody products developed by CAT.

See also Footnote 12 “Investment in Joint Venture (Dyax-Genzyme LLC) and Other Related Party
Transactions”.
16. Unaudited Quarterly Operating Results

The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005:

First Second Third Fourth
Year ended December 31, 2006 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands, except per share}
REVEIMUE ..ot ivrnreeeennanansassarssnsenasansnnnns $ 2674 $3424 $ 3514 § 3,164
Loss from operations . ..........c.oiinieiieiiiinaaines $(10,310) $(5,170) $(11,298) $(18,993)
INELIOSS « - v e e ee e e e e e e e e e e e nees $ (9,997) $(8,658) $(11,482) $(20,186)
Basic and diluted net loss per share:
NEEEOSS -+ e v e e et e e et e e e e tn e aea e $ (0.26) $ (0.20) $ (026) $ (0.46)
First Second Third Fourth
Year ended December 31, 2005 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands, except per share)
BEVEIILE &« oo v vt e e e e sene e st esnsenesennenrananessnsenens $3707 $6,693 §$ 2157 § 7,302
LosSs from Operations .. .....vvvveevrirneraernnaeeenaresns $(8,458) $(8,067) $(9,212) $(5,828)
NEELOSS -+« v v e et ee e et e e e e e e e e e e e $(8,447) $(7,925) $(8,963) $(5,609)
Basic and diluted net loss per share:
NELIOSS « v v v e eee e e e e e e et e et aananens $ (027) $ (0.23) $ (0.24) § (0.15)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our
principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the
end of the period covered by this annual report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting of the Company, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the
framework in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. Qur management’s assessment of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report which is included herein.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANYAND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Portions of the response to this item are incorporated herein by reference from the discussion
responsive thereto under the captions “Election of Directors—Nominees for Director”,
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance”, “Executive Officers” and “Election of
Directors—Board and Committee Matters” in the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement relating to the
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2007 Proxy Statement”).

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “code of ethics”) that applies to all of
our directors, officers and employees. The code of ethics is filed as an exhibit to this Report. In addition, if
we make any substantive amendments to the code of ethics or grant any waiver, including any implicit
waiver, from a provision of the code to any of our executive officers or directors, we will disclose the nature
of such amendment or waiver as required by applicable law.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion responsive thereto
under the following captions in the 2007 Proxy Statement: “Election of Directors—Director
Compensation,” “Executive Compensation” and “Election of Directors~——Compensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference in part from the discussion responsive
thereto under the caption “Share Ownership” in the 2007 Proxy Statement.

The following table provides information about the securities authorized for issuance under the
Company’s equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2006: -

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
Number of securities remaining available for
to be issued Weighted-average future tssuance under
upon exercise of exercise price of equity compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

(@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders(1).............. 5,860,432 $5.86 1,585,681
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders: —
Totals:.....ooovvvivieinninnneinen 5,860,432(2)

1,585,681(3)

bl
LA
o

(1) Consists of the Amended and Restated 1995 Equity Incentive Plan and the 1998 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

(2) Does not include purchase rights currently accruing under the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
because the purchase price (and therefore the number of shares to be purchased) will not be
determined until the end of the purchase period, which is June 30, 2007.

71




(3) Includes 209,240 shares issuable under the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, of which up to 13,859
are issuable in connection with the current offering period which ends on June 30, 2007. The
remaining shares consist of 1,571,822 under the 1995 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan.
The plan may be amended, suspended, or terminated by the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors at any time, subject to any required stockholder approval.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion responsive thereto
under the caption “Election of Directors—Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the
2007 Proxy Statement.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The response to this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion responsive thereto
under the captions “Election of Directors—Board and Committee Matters” and “Information Concerning
QOur Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the 2007 Proxy Statement.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements are included under Part II, Item 8 of this Report.
2. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULE
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the years ended December 2006, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands)
Balance at Balance at
Beginning of End of
Period Additions  Deductions Period
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
1 3 $105 $— $25 $ 80
21 2 $ 75 $30 $— $105
2004 . e e e £ 75 $— $— $ 75
Balance at Balance at
Beginning of End of
Period Additions Deductions Period
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance:
2006, ... e e $79.894 $25,653 $5,089 $100,458
2005 . . e $59,820 $20,783 $ 709 $ 79,804
2004, e e $43,419 $18,257 $1,856 $ 59,820
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3. EXHIBITS
The exhibits are listed below under Part IV, Item 15(b) of this Report.

(b) EXHIBITS
Exhibit No, Description
21 Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2003 by and among Pyrosequencing AB, Dyax Corp.

31

32

33

41

4.2

10.1(a)

10.1(b)

10.1(c)

10.1(d)

10.2

and Biotage, LLC. Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 000-24537) filed on November 7, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended
June 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company. Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended September 30,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Designations Designating the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of
the Company. Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 000-24537) filed on June 27, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate. Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37394) and incorporated herein by reference.

Rights Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2001 between American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, as Rights Agent, and the Company. Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-24537) filed on June 27, 2001 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Amended and Restated 1995 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through May 19, 2005.
Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

(File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended June 30, 2005 and incorporated herein

by reference.

Form of the Company’s Incentive Stock Option Certificate under the Company’s Amended
and Restated 1995 Equity Incentive Plan for all U.S. employees, including its executive
officers. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

(File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 and incorporated herein

by reference.

Form of the Company’s Nonstatutory Stock Option Certificate under the Company’s
Amended and Restated 1995 Equity Incentive Plan for its U.S. employees, including its
executive officers. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Form of the Company’s Nonstatutory Stock Option Certificate under the Company’s
Amended and Restated 1995 Equity Incentive Plan for its non-employee directors. Filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Filed as Appendix B to the Company’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A (File No. 000-24537) filed on April 15, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.3*

10.4*

10.5%

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

109

10.10

10.11

10.12 %

10.13(a)

10.13(b) +

Form of Change of Control Agreement between the Cormnpany and Clive R. Wood, Ph.D.
and Ivana Magovcevic-Liebisch, Ph.D., .D. Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-24537) for the year ended December 31, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Employment Letter Agreement, dated as of September 1, 1999, between Stephen S. Galliker
and the Company. Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-37394) and incorporated herein by reference.

Employment Letter Agreement dated as of June 27, 2003 between Clive R. Wood, Ph.D.
and the Company. Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 and incorparated herein by
reference.

Employment Letter Agreement between Dyax Corp. and Thomas R. Beck, M.D., effective
as of June 1, 2005. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 000-24537) filed on June 6, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between certain directors and executive officers
of the Company and the Company. Fiied as Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-37394) and incorporated herein by reference.

Severance Letter Agreement between Dyax Corp. and Ivana Magovcevic-Liebisch, Ph.D.
J.D. dated as of November 16, 2006. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K (File No. 000-24537) filed on November 17, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference,

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2001,
between holders of the Company’s capital stock named therein and the Company. Filed as
Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-24537) for the
year ended December 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

Lease, dated as of June 13, 2001, between the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and
the Company. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Master Lease Agreement and related documents between the Company and General
Electric Capital Corporation dated as of May 1, 2001. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended March 31, 2002
and incorporated herein by reference.

License Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2001, between Debiopharm S.A. and the
Company. Filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K

(File No. 000-24537) for the year ended December 31, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Coliaboration and License Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2000, between Bracco
Holding, B.V. and Bracco International, B.V. and the Company. Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to the Collaboration and License Agreement, by and between Bracco
Imaging S.p.A. and the Company, effective as of December 31, 2003. Filed as Exhibit 10.11
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-24537) for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.

80




Exhibit No.

Description

10.13(c)

10.14(a)

10.14(b)

10.14(c)

10.15(a)

10.15(b)

10.16(a)

10.16(b)

10.16(c)

1017 §

10.18(a)

10.18(b) 1

Second Amendment to the Collaboration and License Agreement, by and between Bracco
Imaging S.p.A. and the Company, effective as of January 3, 2005. Filed as Exhibit 10.23 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. (00-24537) for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement between Genzyme Corporation and the
Company dated as of May 31, 2002. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement between Genzyme
Corporation and the Company, dated as of September 30, 2003. Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-24537) for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement between Genzyme
Corporation and the Company, executed by Dyax on September 29, 2005. Filed as

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.

Senior Secured Promissory Note between Genzyme Corporation and the Company dated as
of May 31, 2002. Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amended and Restated Senior Secured Promissory Note between Genzyme Corporation
and the Company dated as of August 23, 2006. Filed herewith.

Security Agreement between Genzyme Corporation and the Company dated as of May 31,
2002. Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

(File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference.

First Amendment to Security Agreement between Genzyme Corporation and the Company
dated as of October 15, 2003. Filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-X (File No. 000-24537) for the year ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Agreement Regarding Senior Secured Promissory Note dated as of August 23, 2006. Filed
herewith.

Agreement Regarding Validation Campaign by and between Dyax Corp., Genzyme
Corporation and Dyax-Genzyme LLC, effective as of July 1, 2006 (executed on August 23,
2006). Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K

(File No. 000-24537) filed on August 25, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.

License Agreement between XOMA Ireland Limited and the Company dated as of
October 16, 2002. Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
(File No. 000-24537} for the year ended December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Amended and Restated License Agreement between XOMA Ireland Limited and the
Company dated as of October 27, 2006. Filed herewith.
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.19(a) ¥

10.19(b) +

10.19(c)

10.20

10.21(a)

10.21(b)

10.22*
141
211
23.1
311

312

321
99.1

Amendment Agreement between Cambridge Antibody Technology Limited and the
Company dated as of January 6, 2003. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Second Amendment Agreement between Cambridge Antibody Technology Limited and the
Company dated as of September 18, 2003. Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-24537) filed on December 29, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.

Amended and Restated License Agreement between the Company and Cambridge
Antibody Technology Limited dated as of June 21, 2006. Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended
June 30, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference. ’

Royalty Interest Assignment Agreement by and among Dyax Corp. and Paul Royalty Fund
Holdings II dated as of August 23, 2006. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-24537) filed on August 29, 2006 and incorporated herein
by reference.

Non-Employee Director Compensation. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24537) for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding modification of director compensation, incorporated by reference
from Item 1.01 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-24537) filed on May 23, 2006.

Executive Compensation Summary. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form B-K (File No. 000-24537) filed on February 21, 2007 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Company. Fited as Exhibit 14.1 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 000-24537) for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.

Subsidiaries of the Company. Filed herewith.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm. Filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to §240.13a-14 or §240.15d-14 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to §240.13a-14 or §240.15d-14 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Filed herewith.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. Filed herewith,
Dyax-Genzyme LLC Financial Statements. Filed herewith.

*

Indicates a contract with management.

T This Exhibit has been filed separately with the Commission pursuant to an application for confidential
treatment. The confidential portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and are marked by an asterisk.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, this thirteenth day of March, 2007.

DYAX CORP.
By: fs/ Henry E. Blair
Henry E. Blair
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Company in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Henry E. Blair Chief Executive Officer, and
Henry E. Blair Chairman of the Board of Directors March 13, 2007

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s{ Stephen S. Galliker Executive Vice President, Finance and
Stephen S. Galliker Administration and Chief Financial Officer March 13, 2007
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

/s/ Constantine E. Anagnostopoulos
Constantine E. Anagnostopoulos Director March 13, 2007

/s/ Susan B. Bayh
Susan B. Bayh Director March 13, 2007

/s/ James W. Fordyce
James W. Fordyce Director March 13, 2007

fs/ Thomas L. Kempner
Thomas L. Kempner Director March 13, 2007

/s/ Henry R. Lewis
Henry R. Lewis Director March 13, 2007

/s/ David J. McLachlan

David J. McLachlan Director March 13, 2007
/s/ Mary Ann Gray
Mary Ann Gray Director March 13, 2007
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Executive Officers
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Henry E. Blair
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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;44.

lvana Magovéevic-Liebisch, Ph.D., J.D.
General Counsel and Executive Vice President,
Corperate Communications

Thomas R. Beck, M.D.
President and Chief Operating Officer

Clive R. Wood, Ph.D.
Executive Vice President, Discovery Research
and Chief Scientific Officer

Stephen S. Galliker, CPA
Executive Vice President, Finance and
Admirastration and Chief Financial Officer

DIRECTORS

Henry E. Blair
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Dyax Corp.

Constantine E. Anagnostopoulos, Ph.D.
Chairman, Kereos, Inc.

Susan B. Bayh, J.D.
Former Commissioner of the International
Joint Commission with Canada

James W. Fordyce
Managing Partner, MEDNA Partners LLC

Mary Ann Gray, Ph.D.
Founder and President, Gray Strategic
Advisors, LLC

Thomas L. Kempner
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Loeb Partners Corporation

Henry R. Lewis, Ph.D.
Former Director, Genzyme Corporation
Director, Pericor Sciences

David J. McLachlan
Former EVP and Chief Financlal Officer,
Genzyme Corporation

TRANSFER AGENT
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane, New York, NY 10038

LEGAL COUNSEL
Edwards Angell Palmer & Dodge LLP
111 Huntington Avenue, Boston, MA 02189

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
ACCOUNTING FIRM
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

125 High Street, Boston, MA 02110

STOCK LISTING

Common Stock has been traded on the Nasdag
Stock Market under the symbol DYAX since our
initial public offering in August 14, 2000.

FORM 10-K

Additional copies of Dyax's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year 2006, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Cormmission, are
available without charge upon request from:
Dyax Corp.

300 Technology Square

Cambridge, MA 02139

2004 2005 2006 ATTN: Investor Relations

High Low High Low High Low
Q1 $14.54 $7.56 $7.53 $3.15 $6.38 $4.82
Q2 $15.65 $9.20 $5.60 $3.04 $5.87 $2.63
Q3 $11.97 $6.30 $6.82 $4.57 $3.63 $2.63
Q4 39.80 $5.46 $5.79 $3.88 $3.65 $2.85

The following table gives the quarterly high and
low sales prices of our common stock for the
last three years,

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Dyax's 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
will be held at 2:00 p.m. ET on Thursday,
May 17. 2007 at Dyax Corp., 300 Technology
Square, 8th Floor, Cambridge, MA.

SAFE HARBOR

This annual report contains forward-iocking statements regarding Dyax Corp., including statements
regarcing its revenues, results of operations, financial position, rasearch and develcpment expenditures
and programs, clinical trials and collaborations. Statements that are not historical facts are based on
Dyax's current expectations, beliefs, assumptions, estimates, forecasts and projections for Dyax and the
industry and markets in which Dyax competes. Such statements are not guarantees of future performance
and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which are difficult to predict. Therefare, actual
outcomes and results may differ materially from factors which may affect future revenues, operating
results, financial position, research and development programs, clinical trials and priorities and contractual
obligations of its collaborators in the development, clinical trials, manufaciure, marketing, sales and dis-
tribution of biopharmaceuticals developed by Dyax or its collaborators; the risk that biopharmaceuticals
developed by Dvax or its collaborators may not show therapeutic effect or an acceptable safety profile
in clinical trials or could take a significantly longer time to gain regulatory approval than Dyax expects or
may never gain approval; Dyax's ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for its
products and technologies: the development of technologies or products superior to Dyax's technologies
or products; and olher risk factors described or referred to in Dyax’s most recent Form 10-K and other
periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchanga Commission. Dyax cautions investors not to
place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements contained in this annual report. These statements
speak only as of the date of this annual report, and Dyax undertakes no obligation to update or revise
these statements, except as may be required by law.

EDEMA2, EDEMAZ, Dyax and the Dyax logo are registered trademarks of Dyax Corp. EDEMA4 is a
servica mark for Dyax Corp.

Design and concept: Hull Greative Group, Inc., | www.huficreative.com
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